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Unless the context requires otherwise, all references in this report to “we,” “our.
subsidiaries.

us,” the “Company” and “NovaBay” refer to NovaBay Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and its

NovaBay™, Aganocide™, AgaNase™ and NeutroPhase™ are our trademarks. All other trademarks and trade names appearing in this report are the property of their
respective owners.
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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This report contains forward-looking statements that are based on our management’s beliefs and assumptions and on information currently available to our
management. These forward-looking statements include but are not limited to statements regarding our product candidates, market opportunities, competition, strategies,
anticipated trends and challenges in our business and the markets in which we operate, and anticipated expenses and capital requirements. In some cases, you can identify
forward-looking statements by terms such as “anticipates,” “believes,” “could,” “estimates,” “expects,” “intends,” “may,” “plans,” “potential,” “predicts,” “projects,”
“should,” “will,” “would” and similar expressions intended to identify forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks,
uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different from any future results, performances or achievements
expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements. We discuss many of these risks in this report in greater detail under the heading “Risk Factors” in Item 14 of this
report. Given these uncertainties, you should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. You should read this report and the documents that we reference in
this report and have filed as exhibits to the report completely and with the understanding that our actual future results may be materially different from what we expect. Also,
forward-looking statements represent our management’s beliefs and assumptions only as of the date of this report. Except as required by law, we assume no obligation to
update these forward-looking statements publicly, or to update the reasons actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements,
even if new information becomes available in the future.

»

PART1

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Overview

We are a clinical stage biopharmaceutical company focused on developing innovative product candidates for the treatment or prevention of a wide range of infections in
hospital and non-hospital environments. Many of these infections have become increasingly difficult to treat because of the rapid rise in drug resistance. We have discovered and
are developing a class of non-antibiotic anti-infective compounds, which we have named Aganocide compounds. These compounds are based upon small molecules that are
naturally generated by white blood cells when defending the body against invading pathogens. We believe that our Aganocide compounds could forma platformon which to
create a variety of products to address differing needs in the treatment and prevention of bacterial and viral infections. In laboratory testing, our Aganocide compounds have
demonstrated the ability to destroy all bacteria against which they have been tested. Furthermore, because of their mechanismof action, we believe that bacteria are unlikely to
develop resistance to our Aganocide compounds.

We were incorporated under the laws of the State of California on January 19, 2000 as NovaCal Pharmaceuticals, Inc. We had no operations until July 1, 2002, on which date
we acquired all of the operating assets of NovaCal Pharmaceuticals, LLC, a California limited liability company. In February 2007, we changed our name from NovaCal
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. to NovaBay Pharmaceuticals, Inc. In August 2007, we formed two subsidiariess—NovaBay Pharmaceuticals Canada, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary
incorporated under the laws of British Columbia (Canada), which may conduct research and development in Canada, and DermaBay, Inc., a wholly-owned U.S. subsidiary, which
will explore and pursue dermatological opportunities.

Our Target Indications and Product Candidates

To optimize the commercial opportunities of our Aganocide compounds, we have developed a two-pronged clinical development strategy. Our first approach is to create
and retain technology in indications focused on hospital-associated infections, an area that we believe presents a strategic opportunity for NovaBay. Our second approach is to
partner out the Aganocide compounds for use in non-hospital applications.
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In-House Programs
Pre-Surgical Nasal Preparation

Staphylococcus aureus is a major cause of surgical site infection (“SSI”). SSIis a source of significant concern because of the risk to the patient and because of the
resulting increase in the cost of post-surgical treatment. In particular, if the strain of S. aureus causing the SSIis an antibiotic-resistant variant known as methicillin-resistant S.
aureus (“MRSA”), the treatment options become extremely limited and increasingly problematic. It has been shown that surgical patients that carry S. aureus in their nasal
passages are at a significantly higher risk of developing SSIs. Conventional body washing with an antiseptic preparation does not deal with nasal passages, which are a major area
of'the body for S. aureus colonization. We have formulated NVC-422, our lead Aganocide compound, as a nasal spray and are developing it for the decolonization of S. aureus
(including MRSA) fromthe nasal passages. Studies show that when combined with an antiseptic body wash, nasal decolonization leads to a significant reduction in SSIs. Our
formulation of NVC-422 for nasal applications is trademarked as AgaNase and is currently in Phase II clinical trials.

Catheter Associated Urinary Tract Infections

Urinary tract catheters have become a routine part of the management of patients in intensive care and long-term care settings with an estimated five million patients
undergoing catheterization each year. Catheter associated urinary tract infections (“CAUTI”) are the major source of hospital-acquired infections, accounting for more than 40% of
all hospital infections, or 800,000 infections per year. These infections generally prolong hospitalization, require intensive antibiotic therapy and greatly increase the cost of
treatment. A contributing factor in CAUTIs is the formation of bacterial biofilm within the catheter. This biofilm provides an on-going reservoir of bacteria that can cause infection.
We are developing a formulation of NVC-422 to destroy bacteria in the bladder as well as bacteria that have formed biofilm within the catheter. We are currently conducting Phase I
clinical trials to establish the maximumsafe dose for our CAUTI formulation.

Partnering Programs
Wound Care

Wound infections are a major problembecause they prevent the wounds fromhealing and can cause serious bloodstream infections. We have developed NVC-101, a
proprietary solution of hypochlorous acid which we have trademarked as NeutroPhase, to address this challenge. We have received clearance fromthe U.S. Food and Drug
Administration (“FDA”) for the marketing of this product as a wound cleanser and debriding agent. We are currently working with our partner, an affiliate of Kinetic Concepts, Inc.

(“KCI), to optimize its use with their V.A.C.® System wound care device.

Eye, Ear, Sinus and Contact Lens Solution

We are currently working with Alcon Manufacturing Ltd. (“Alcon”), an affiliate of Alcon, Inc., to develop NVC-422 for the treatment of eye, ear and sinus infections as well
as for use in contact lens solutions.

Dermatology

We are focused on developing products that will potentially eliminate the need to use antibiotic-based products in the dermatology market. In laboratory testing, we have
shown that NVC-422 kills P. Acne and other dermal bacteria. We are currently in advanced preclinical development of a variety of formulations for use in the treatment of skin
infections. If preclinical studies confirm our initial findings, we plan to bring these formulations into proof of concept clinical development in order to enhance their value as we
explore partnering opportunities.

Our Technology and Research

We have developed our lead compounds by understanding the nature of the molecules that are produced by our white blood cells to kill pathogens such as bacteria,
viruses and fungi. Our white blood cells produce small,
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highly active molecules that are extremely efficient in killing these pathogens once their entry into the body has been detected by our defense systems. However, these molecules
are not readily usable as pharmaceutical products because our body produces them “on demand” and the molecules are not naturally stable. We have discovered ways to stabilize
one of these naturally occurring molecules, which we call NVC-101, or NeutroPhase. Through the modification of another of these natural molecules, we have created NVC-422,
which is our lead Aganocide compound. NVC422 is a stable analog of naturally occurring N-chlorotaurine (“NCT”). We believe NVC-422 is actually safer and more potent than the
NCT molecule. In addition, we have made significant discoveries over the past year that have enabled us to understand why the naturally generated molecules cannot be kept
stable and used as drugs. Based on this improved understanding, we have created and expect to create additional antimicrobial compounds that have different characteristics than
NVC-422, such as ability to penetrate different tissues and speed at which they kill pathogens.

In 2002, the World Health Organization predicted that within ten years we will be entering into a post-antibiotic era—meaning there will be infections for which there will be
no effective antibiotic treatments. By using nature’s blueprint for the development of new anti-infective products, we start with the advantage that the natural molecules do not
allow pathogens to develop resistance. Extensive laboratory studies appear to confirmthat the Aganocide compounds should inherit this advantage. The ability of our Aganocide
compounds to be effective without developing resistance is critical in a situation where bacteria are continuing to develop ever more sophisticated mechanisms for protecting
themselves fromantibiotics.

Additionally, we are continuing our work to expand our understanding of the activity of the Aganocide compounds against bacteria in biofilm. Just as bacteria are found
everywhere, we now understand that biofilmis a natural, ever present defense mechanism of bacteria. Biofilmis a cocoon-like shield that forms around a colony of bacteria. Once
the biofilmis formed, bacteria go into dormancy. Dormant bacteria reproduce once every few days, while an active bacteria reproduces every 30 to 60 minutes. Antibiotics are
generally only effective against fast reproducing bacteria. In controlled laboratory studies, our Aganocide compounds were found to be highly effective at killing bacteria in
biofilm. We believe their activity in biofilmis a critical element of their success, particularly in the prevention of catheter associated urinary tract infections.

Alcon Collaboration and License Agreement

In August 2006, we entered into a collaboration and license agreement with Alcon to license to Alcon the exclusive rights to develop, manufacture and commercialize
products incorporating the Aganocide compounds for application in connection with the eye, ear and sinus and for use in contact lens solution. Under the terms of the agreement,
Alcon agreed to pay an up-front, non-refundable, non-creditable technology access fee of $10.0 million upon the effective date of the agreement. In addition to the technology
access fee, we are entitled to receive semi-annual payments from Alcon to support on-going research and development activities over the four year funding term of the agreement.
The research and development support payments include amounts to fund a specified number of personnel engaged in collaboration activities and to reimburse for qualified
equipment, materials and contract study costs. As product candidates are developed and proceed through clinical trials and approval, we will receive milestone payments. If the
products are commercialized, we will also receive royalties on any sales of products containing the Aganocide compounds.

KCI License Agreement

In June 2007, we entered into a license agreement with KCI, under which we granted KCI the exclusive rights to develop, manufacture and commercialize NeutroPhase, as
well as other products containing hypochlorous acid as the principal active ingredient, worldwide for use in wound care in humans, other than products or uses intended for the
eye, ear or nose. Under the terms of the agreement, KCI paid to us a non-refundable technology access fee of $200,000. We are also entitled to receive reimbursements for qualified
consulting, materials and contract study costs. In addition, we are entitled to receive payments of up to $1.25 million if certain milestones are met. If products covered by the license
are commercially launched, we will also receive royalty payments based on net revenues fromsales by KCI of such products.
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Research and Development

As of December 31, 2007, we had 28 employees dedicated to research and development. Our research and development expenses consist primarily of personnel-related
expenses, laboratory supplies and services provided within our research, development and clinical groups. We expense our research and development expenses as they are
incurred. Research and development expenses for 2005, 2006 and 2007 were $2.0 million, $4.1 million and $7.4 million, respectively. All of our research and development employees
are engaged in drug research and development activities, including those related to the Alcon agreement described above. We expect to incur significant research and development
expenses for the foreseeable future.

Intellectual Property

We rely on a combination of patent, trademark, copyright and trade secret laws in the United States and other jurisdictions, as well as confidentiality procedures and
contractual provisions, to protect our proprietary technology. We also enter into confidentiality and invention assignment agreements with our employees and consultants and
confidentiality agreements with other third parties, and we rigorously control access to our proprietary technology.

We have registered the Aganocide trademark in the European Community and Japan and have a trademark application allowed in the United States. We have allowed
trademark applications in the United States for NeutroPhase, NovaBay and the NovaBay design, and a pending application for AgaNase. We have registered the NovaBay,
AgaNase and NeutroPhase trademarks in Australia and have applications for these same trademarks pending in a number of other foreign countries.

We have one issued patent, one allowed patent application and eight pending applications in the United States. We also have four pending international applications filed
under the Patent Cooperation Treaty, and one issued patent in Mexico, one issued patent in China, one allowed patent in Israel and 46 pending foreign national applications in
Europe, Argentina, Australia, Brazil, Canada, China, Hong-Kong, Israel, India, Japan, South Korea, Mexico, Singapore, New Zealand and Taiwan.

The issued U.S. patent provides coverage for a method of treating bums or promoting wound healing, tissue repair or tissue regeneration using a specific range of
formulations of NVC-101. This patent was issued in July 30, 2002 and will expire in 2020. The allowed U.S. patent application claims a method of disinfecting open wounds and
burns, promoting wound healing and providing ocular disinfection using a specific range of formulations of NVC-101. NovaBay must pay an issue fee on or before March 27, 2008,
in order for this application to issue as a U.S. patent. If NovaBay fails to timely pay this fee, no patent will issue. The subject matter of our patents and patent applications cover the
following three key areas: methods relating to the manufacture and use of NVC-101, composition of matter of the Aganocide compounds and their compositions, and methods of
treatment utilizing the Aganocide compounds. The U.S. patent application covering the Aganocide compounds will, if granted, expire in 2024, with additional compounds covered
by further patent applications that, if granted, would expire in 2025 and 2026.

Competition

The market for drugs and medical devices designed to treat or prevent bacterial infections is highly competitive. If developed, our products would compete against a wide
variety of existing products, products and technologies that are currently in development, and products and technologies that could be developed and reach the market before or
after any products that we develop may be introduced. In particular, we would be competing against existing antibiotics that are sold by many major pharmaceutical companies, or
generic equivalents that are being distributed, typically at low prices. NeutroPhase, if launched for use in wound management, will be competing against multiple products with
similar indications for use. However, we believe there is currently no dominant product in this indication.
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Our potential competitors include large and small pharmaceuticals and medical device companies, such as Pfizer, Inc., Johnson & Johnson, Abbot Grp. Plc., GlaxoSmithKline
Plc, Sanofi-Aventis SA, Smith & Nephew Plc, and Novartis AG. Some of these competitors may have far greater resources and experience in the area than we do and may develop
and patent processes or products earlier than we are able to, develop and commercialize products that are less expensive or more efficient than any products that we may develop,
obtain regulatory approvals for competing products more rapidly than we are able to, and improve upon existing technological approaches or develop new or different approaches
that render any technology or products we develop obsolete or uncompetitive.

We believe the principal competitive factors for products in our target markets include their effectiveness in killing bacteria, including bacteria in biofilm, time to kill bacteria,
safety, side effects and cost effectiveness. We believe that our compounds may, if approved by the regulatory authorities, have significant advantages over existing compounds
and compounds in development of which we are aware, because our Aganocide and NVC-101 compounds could be used to prevent infections or to treat infections where speed of
action, action against bacteria in biofilm, action in topical indications or action against multi-drug resistant bacteria is important.

Manufacturing and Supply

We do not currently operate manufacturing facilities for clinical or commercial production, as we rely on and leverage the manufacturing and distribution infrastructure of
third parties. We have no plans to establish our own manufacturing facilities in the future. Third party vendors supply us with the Active Pharmaceutical Ingredient (“API”) of
NVC-422 and the finished clinical trials materials for NVC-101, which are manufactured in compliance with the FDA’s “Current Good Manufacturing Practice”, or CGMP,
regulations. We also intend to work with third parties for future clinical trial materials and commercial supplies of NVC-422.

The Alcon agreement provides for the manufacture by Alcon of finished dosage forms of products incorporating Aganocide compounds for sale under our label in those
markets where we have retained marketing rights.

Sales and Marketing

Our lead product candidate, NVC-422, as well as many of the product candidates we expect to develop in the future, are intended to address a variety of different market
segments, some of which are large, primary care markets. We do not currently have, nor do we intend in the near termto create, a commercialization organization capable of
marketing, selling and distributing our targeted product candidates to large, primary care markets. This applies to markets in both the United States and elsewhere. Rather, we
intend to establish commercialization partnerships with pharmaceutical, biotechnology or other leading organizations with the experience and resources to bring our products to
market. In some cases, we may enter into agreements with these organizations during the development stage of a product candidate to further benefit fromtheir clinical
development, regulatory, market research, pre-marketing and other expertise, as is the case with Alcon. As appropriate, we may establish a specialty sales force with expertise in
marketing and selling any future approved products to specialty physicians for specific target indications. We may also establish other complementary capabilities related to
marketing and selling targeted medicines, particularly where those capabilities may not currently exist at other organizations.

Government Regulation

The testing, manufacturing, labeling, advertising, promotion, distribution, export and marketing of our product candidates are subject to extensive regulation by the FDA
and comparable regulatory authorities in state and local jurisdictions in the U.S. and in other countries. Because our programs involve product candidates that are considered as
medical devices and others that are drugs, we intend to submit applications to regulatory agencies for approval or clearance of both medical devices and pharmaceutical product
candidates.
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U.S. Government Regulation

In the United States, the FDA regulates drugs and medical devices under the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act and the agency’s implementing regulations. If we fail to
comply with the applicable United States requirements at any time during the product development process, clinical testing, and the approval process or after approval, we may
become subject to administrative or judicial sanctions. These sanctions could include the FDA’s refusal to approve pending applications, license suspension or revocation,
withdrawal of an approval, warning letters, adverse publicity, product recalls, product seizures, total or partial suspension of production or distribution, injunctions, fines, civil
penalties or criminal prosecution. Any agency enforcement action could have a material adverse effect on us.

Our products may be classified by the FDA as a drug or a medical device depending upon the indications for use or claims. We believe the use of NVC-101 as a solution for
cleansing and debriding wounds would be considered as a medical device. Similarly, NVC-422 may be classified as a medical device depending on the indication for use. For
example, we believe if the indication is for bladder lavage, it would be classified as a medical device, whereas we believe it would be considered a drug when it is indicated for the
prevention of urinary tract infection. In addition, the determination as to whether a particular indication is considered a drug or a device is based in part upon prior precedent.

Drug Approval Process
The process required by the FDA before a drug may be marketed in the United States generally involves satisfactorily completing each of the following:

preclinical laboratory tests, animal studies and formulation studies all performed in accordance with the FDA’s Good Laboratory Practice regulations;

submission to the FDA of an Investigational Drug (“IND”) application for human clinical testing, which must become effective before human clinical trials may begin;

performance of adequate and well-controlled clinical trials to establish the safety and efficacy of the product candidate for each proposed indication;

submission to the FDA ofa New Drug Application (“NDA”);

satisfactory completion of an FDA inspection of the manufacturing facility or facilities, including those of third-parties, at which the product is produced to assess
compliance with strictly enforced current GMP regulations; and

FDA review and approval of the NDA before any commercial marketing, sale or shipment of the product.

Medical Devices

We expect some of our products to be regulated as medical devices. Unless an exception applies, each medical device we wish to commercialize in the United States will
require either prior 510(k) clearance or premarket approval fromthe FDA. The FDA classifies medical devices into one of three classes. Devices deemed to pose lower risks are
placed in either Class I or II, which requires the manufacturer to submit to the FDA a premarket notification requesting permission to commercially distribute the device. This
process is generally known as 510(k) clearance. Some low risk devices are exempt fromthis requirement. Devices deemed by the FDA to pose the greatest risk, such as life-
sustaining, life-supporting or implantable devices, or devices deemed not substantially equivalent to a previously cleared 510(k) device, are placed in Class I, requiring premarket
approval.
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Continuing Food and Drug Administration Regulation of Medical Devices

After the FDA permits a device to enter commercial distribution, numerous regulatory requirements apply. These include:

the FDA’s Quality Systems Regulations (“QSRs”), which require manufacturers to follow stringent design, testing, production, control, labeling, packaging, storage,
shipping, documentation and other quality assurance procedures during all aspects of the manufacturing process;

labeling regulations which impose restrictions on labeling and promotional activities, and FDA prohibitions against the promotion of products for uncleared,
unapproved, or “off-label” uses;

post-market surveillance requirements which apply when necessary to protect the public health or to provide additional safety and effectiveness data for the device;

the FDA Medical Device Reporting regulations, which require that manufacturers report to the FDA if their device may have caused or contributed to a death or
serious injury or malfunctioned in a way that would likely cause or contribute to a death or serious injury if it were to recur; and

notices of correction or removal, and recall regulations.

In addition, we will be required to register our facility and list our products with the FDA, and we will be subject to unannounced inspections by the FDA and the Food and
Drug Branch of the California Department of Health Services to determine compliance with the QSRs and other regulations, and these inspections may include the manufacturing
facilities of our subcontractors.

International Regulation

In addition to being subject to the laws and regulations in the United States, we will be subject to a variety of laws and regulations in those other countries in which we seek
to study and commercialize products. European and Canadian regulatory requirements and approval processes are similar in principle to those in the United States. Whether or not
we obtain FDA approval for a product, we must obtain approval of a product by the comparable regulatory authorities of the European Union, European countries, Canada and
other countries before we can commence clinical trials or marketing of the product in those respective countries. The approval process may be longer or shorter than that required
for FDA approval. The requirements governing pricing, reimbursement, clinical trials, and to a lesser extent, product licensing vary from country to country.

Third Party Reimbursement and Pricing Controls

In the United States and elsewhere, sales of pharmaceutical products depend in significant part on the availability of reimbursement to the consumer fromthird party payors,
such as government and private insurance plans. Third party payors are increasingly challenging the prices charged for medical products and services. It will be time consuming
and expensive for us to go through the process of seeking reimbursement from Medicare and private payors. Aganocide products from which we may receive revenue in the future
may not be considered cost-effective, and reimbursement may not be available or sufficient to allow these products to be sold on a competitive and profitable basis.

Anti-Kickback and False Claims Laws

In the United States, we are subject to various federal and state laws pertaining to healthcare “fraud and abuse,” including anti-kickback and false claims laws. The federal
Anti-Kickback Law makes it illegal for any person, including a prescription drug manufacturer (or a party acting on its behalf) to knowingly and willfully solicit, offer, receive or pay
any remuneration, directly or indirectly, in exchange for, or to induce, the referral of business, including the purchase, order or prescription of a particular drug or device, for which
payment may be made under federal healthcare programs such as Medicare and Medicaid. Violations of the law are punishable by
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up to five years in prison, criminal fines, administrative civil money penalties, and exclusion from participation in federal healthcare programs. In addition, many states have adopted
laws similar to the federal Anti-Kickback Law. Some of these state prohibitions apply to referral of patients for healthcare services reimbursed by any source, not only the Medicare
and Medicaid programs. Due to the breadth of these laws, it is possible that our future sales and marketing practices or our future relationships with physicians might be
challenged under anti-kickback laws, which could harmus.

False claims laws prohibit anyone from knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, for payment to third party payors (including Medicare and Medicaid) claims for
reimbursed items or services, including drugs, that are false or fraudulent, claims for items or services not provided as claimed, or claims for medically unnecessary items or
services. Our future activities relating to the reporting of wholesaler or estimated retail prices for our products, the reporting of Medicaid rebate information and other information
affecting federal, state and third party reimbursement of our products, and the sale and marketing of our products, will be subject to scrutiny under these laws. In addition,
pharmaceutical companies have been prosecuted under the federal False Claims Act in connection with their off-label promotion of drugs. Suits filed under the False Claims Act,
known as “qui tam” actions, can be brought by any individual on behalf of the government and such individuals (known as “relators” or, more commonly, as “whistleblowers”)
may share in the amounts paid by the entity to the government in fines or settlement.

Employees

As of December 31, 2007, we had 35 full-time employees, including 16 with doctoral degrees. Of our full time workforce, 28 employees were engaged in research and
development, and 7 in finance and administration. None of our employees is represented by labor unions or covered by collective bargaining agreements. We consider our
relationship with our employees to be good.

Available Information

Our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to
Sections 13(a) and 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, are available free of charge on our corporate website, located at www.novabaypharma.com, as soon
as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”).

ITEM 1A. RISKFACTORS

Our business is subject to a number of risks, some of which are discussed below. Other risks are presented elsewhere in this report and in the information incorporated by
reference into this report. You should consider carefully the following risks in addition to the other information contained in this report and our other filings with the SEC,
including our subsequent reports on Forms 10-Q and 8-K, before deciding to buy, sell or hold our common stock. The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only
ones facing our company. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently believe are not important may also impair our business operations.
Ifany of the following risks actually occur, our business, financial condition or results of operations could be materially adversely affected, the value of our common stock
could decline and you may lose all or part of your investment.

‘We are an early stage company with a history of losses. We expect to incur net losses for the foreseeable future and we may never achieve or maintain profitability.

We have incurred net losses since our inception. For the years ended December 31, 20035, 2006 and 2007 we had net losses of approximately $3.5 million, $5.3 million and $5.4
million, respectively. Through December 31, 2007, we had an accumulated deficit of approximately $18.5 million. To date, we have been, and expect to
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remain for the foreseeable future, mostly in a research and development stage. Since our inception, we have not generated revenue, except for modest revenue in 2006 and 2007
relating to two research and development collaboration and license agreements. We have incurred substantial research and development expenses, which were approximately $2.0
million, $4.1 million and $7.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007, respectively. We expect to continue to make, for at least the next several years, significant
expenditures for the development of products that incorporate our Aganocide compounds, as well as continued research into the biological activities of our Aganocide
compounds, which expenditures are accounted for as research and development expenses. We do not expect any of our current product candidates to be commercialized within the
next several years, if at all, except as may be commercialized under our agreement with KCI, pursuant to which we granted themthe exclusive rights to develop, manufacture and
commercialize NVC-101, as well as other products containing hypochlorous acid as the principal active ingredient, worldwide for use in wound care in humans, other than products
oruses intended for the eye, ear or nose. We expect to continue to incur substantial losses for the foreseeable future, and we may never become profitable. We anticipate that our
expenses will increase substantially in the foreseeable future as we:

conduct pre-clinical studies and clinical trials for our product candidates in different indications;

conduct pre-clinical studies and clinical trials for our product candidates in different indications;

develop, formulate, manufacture and commercialize our product candidates either independently or with partners;

pursue, acquire or in-license additional compounds, products or technologies, or expand the use of our technology;

maintain, defend and expand the scope of our intellectual property; and

hire additional qualified personnel.

We will need to generate significant revenues to achieve and maintain profitability. If we cannot successfully develop, obtain regulatory approval for and commercialize our
product candidates, either independently or with partners, we will not be able to generate such revenues or achieve or maintain profitability in the future. Our failure to achieve and
subsequently maintain profitability could have a material adverse impact on the market price of our common stock.

Our limited operating history may make it difficult for you to evaluate our business and to assess our future viability.

Our operations to date have been limited to organizing and staffing our company, developing our technology, researching and developing our compounds, and conducting
preclinical studies and early-stage clinical trials of our compounds. We have not demonstrated the ability to succeed in achieving clinical endpoints, obtain regulatory approvals,
formulate and manufacture products on a commercial scale or conduct sales and marketing activities. Consequently, any predictions you make about our future success or viability
are unlikely to be as accurate as they could be if we had a longer operating history.

‘We have very limited data on the use of our products in humans and will need to perform costly and time consuming clinical trials in order to bring our products to market.

Most of the data that we have on our products is fromin-vitro (laboratory) studies or in-vivo animal studies. We will need to conduct Phase I, Il and IIT human clinical trials
to confirmsuch results in order to obtain approval fromthe FDA of our compounds. Often, positive in-vitro or in-vivo animal studies are not followed by positive results in human
clinical trials, and we may not be able to demonstrate that our products are safe and effective for indicated uses in humans. In addition, for each indication, we estimate that it will
take between three and five years to conduct the necessary clinical trials and will cost between $15 million and $30 million.
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‘We currently do not have any marketable products, and if we are unable to develop and obtain regulatory approval for products that we develop, we may never generate product
revenues.

To date, our revenues have been derived solely fromtwo research and development collaboration and license agreements. We have never generated revenues fromsales of
products and we cannot guarantee that we will ever have marketable drugs or other products. Satisfaction of all regulatory requirements applicable to our product candidates
typically takes many years, is dependent upon the type, complexity, novelty and classification of the product candidates, and requires the expenditure of substantial resources for
research and development and testing. Before proceeding with clinical trials, we will conduct pre-clinical studies, which may, or may not be, valid predictors of potential outcomes
in humans. If pre-clinical studies are favorable, we will then begin clinical trials. We must demonstrate that our product candidates satisfy rigorous standards of safety and efficacy
before we can submit for and gain approval fromthe FDA and other regulatory authorities in the United States and in other countries. In addition, to compete effectively, our
products will need to be easy to use, cost-effective and economical to manufacture on a commercial scale. We may not achieve any of these objectives. We cannot be certain that
the clinical development of any of our current product candidates or any other product that we may develop in the future will be successful, that they will receive the regulatory
approvals required to commercialize them, or that any of our other in-licensing efforts or pre-clinical testing will yield a product suitable for entry into clinical trials. Our commercial
revenues fromsales of products will be derived fromsales of products that we do not expect to be commercially available for at least the next several years, if at all.

We have limited experience in developing drugs and medical devices, and we may be unable to commercialize any of the products we develop.

Development and commercialization of drugs and medical devices involves a lengthy and complex process. We have limited experience in developing products and have
never received regulatory approval for, nor commercialized, any of our product candidates. In addition, no one has ever developed or commercialized a product based on our
Aganocide compounds, and we cannot assure you that it is possible to develop, obtain regulatory approval for or commercialize any products based on these compounds or that
we will be successful in doing so.

Before we can develop and commercialize any new products, we will need to expend significant resources to:

undertake and complete clinical trials to demonstrate the efficacy and safety of our product candidates;

maintain and expand our intellectual property rights;

obtain marketing and other approvals fromthe FDA and other regulatory agencies; and

select collaborative partners with suitable manufacturing and commercial capabilities.

The process of developing new products takes several years. Our product development efforts may fail for many reasons, including:

the failure of our product candidates to demonstrate safety and efficacy;

the high cost of clinical trials and our lack of financial and other resources; and

our inability to partner with firms with sufficient resources to assist us in conducting clinical trials.

Success in early clinical trials often is not replicated in later studies, and few research and development projects result in commercial products. At any point, we may
abandon development of a product candidate or we may be required to expend considerable resources repeating clinical trials, which would eliminate or adversely impact the timing
for revenues fromthose product candidates. If a clinical study fails to demonstrate the safety and effectiveness of our product candidates, we may abandon the development of the
product or product feature that was the subject of the clinical trial, which could harm our business.
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Even if we develop products for commercial use, these products may not be accepted by the medical and pharmaceutical marketplaces or be capable of being offered at
prices that will enable us to become profitable. We cannot assure you that our products will be approved by regulatory authorities or ultimately prove to be useful for commercial
markets, meet applicable regulatory standards, or be successfully marketed.

The price of our common stock may fluctuate substantially, which may result in losses to our shareholders.

The stock prices of many companies in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industry have generally experienced wide fluctuations, which are often unrelated to the
operating performance of those companies. The market price of our common stock is likely to be volatile and could fluctuate in response to, among other things:

the results of preclinical or clinical trials relating to our product candidates;

the announcement of new products by us or our competitors;

announcement of partnering arrangements by us or our competitors;

quarterly variations in our or our competitors’ results of operations;

announcements by us related to litigation;

changes in our earnings estimates, investors’ perceptions, recommendations by securities analysts or our failure to achieve analysts’ eaming estimates;

developments in our industry; and

general market conditions and other factors unrelated to our operating performance or the operating performance of our competitors.

The volume of trading of our common stock may be low, leaving our common stock open to risk of high volatility.

The number of shares of our common stock being traded may be very low. Any shareholder wishing to sell his/her stock may cause a significant fluctuation in the price of
our stock. In addition, low trading volume of a stock increases the possibility that, despite rules against such activity, the price of the stock may be manipulated by persons acting
in their own self-interest. We may not have adequate market makers and market making activity to prevent manipulation.

Future sales of shares by our shareholders could cause the market price of our common stock to drop significantly, even if our business is doing well.

As of the closing of our initial public offering, we had 21,254,474 shares of common stock outstanding, of which the 5,000,000 shares we sold in the offering may be resold in
the public market immediately. Of the remaining shares, 13,282,199 shares are or will become available for sale in the public market during the sixmonths after the closing of the
initial public offering, subject in some cases to compliance with the volume and other limitations of Rule 144 and in other cases subject to compliance with applicable Canadian
requirements. Thereafter, 2,972,275 additional shares held by certain of our officers and directors will become eligible for sale in the public market over the nine to 24 month period
after the closing of the initial public offering, as the shares are released fromlock-up agreements with the underwriters and applicable Canadian escrow requirements.

In addition, at any time and without public notice, we and the underwriters may release, at our respective discretions, all or some of the securities subject to our respective
lock-up agreements, subject to applicable regulatory requirements. As restrictions on resale end, the market price of our stock could drop significantly if the holders of those shares
sell themor are perceived by the market as intending to sell them. These declines in our stock price could occur even if our business is otherwise doing well.
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‘We must implement additional and expensive finance and accounting systems, procedures and controls in order to grow our business and organization and to satisfy new
reporting requirements, which will increase our costs and require additional management resources.

We completed our initial public offering, or IPO, in October 2007. As a public reporting company, we are required to comply with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and the
related rules and regulations of the SEC and Canadian securities regulatory authorities, including expanded disclosure and accelerated reporting requirements and more complex
accounting rules. We are also required to comply with marketplace rules and the heightened corporate governance standards of the Toronto Stock Exchange, or TSX, and the
American Stock Exchange, or AMEX. Compliance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, which will be required by 2009, and other requirements of the SEC, Canadian
securities regulatory authorities, AMEX and the TSX will increase our costs and require additional management resources. We recently have begun upgrading our finance and
accounting systems, procedures and controls and will need to continue to implement additional finance and accounting systems, procedures and controls as we grow our business
and organization and to satisfy reporting requirements. If we are unable to complete the required Section 404 assessment as to the adequacy of our internal control over financial
reporting, if we fail to maintain or implement adequate controls, or if our independent registered public accounting firmis unable to provide us with an unqualified report as to the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of the date of the first Annual Report on Form 10-K for which compliance is required, our ability to obtain additional
financing could be impaired. In addition, investors could lose confidence in the reliability of our internal control over financial reporting and in the accuracy of our periodic reports
filed with the SEC and with Canadian securities regulatory authorities. A lack of investor confidence in the reliability and accuracy of our public reporting could cause our stock
price to decline.

If we do not maintain our current research collaboration with Alcon and KCI and enter into additional collaborations, a portion of our funding may decrease and inhibit our
ability to develop new products.

We have entered into a collaborative arrangement with Alcon, and we rely on Alcon for joint intellectual property creation and for substantially all of our near-term
revenues. Under the agreement, we licensed to Alcon the exclusive rights (except for certain retained marketing rights) to develop, manufacture and commercialize products
incorporating the Aganocide compounds for application in connection with the eye, ear and sinus and for use in contact lens solutions. We have also entered into a license
agreement with KCI pursuant to which we granted to themthe exclusive rights to develop, manufacture and commercialize our NVC-101 compound worldwide for use in wound care
in humans (other than products or uses intended for the eye, ear or nose). We cannot assure you that our collaboration with Alcon or KCI or any other collaborative arrangement
will be successful, or that we will receive the full amount of research funding, milestone payments or royalties, or that any commercially valuable intellectual property will be
created, fromthese arrangements. If Alcon or KCI were to breach or terminate its agreement with us or otherwise fail to conduct its collaborative activities successfully and in a
timely manner, the research contemplated by our collaboration with them could be delayed or terminated and our costs of performing studies may increase. We plan on entering
into additional collaborations and licensing arrangements. We may not be able to negotiate additional collaborations on acceptable terms, if at all, and these collaborations may not
be successful. Our current and future success depends in part on our ability to enter into successful collaboration arrangements and maintain the collaboration arrangement we
currently have. If we are unable to enter into, maintain or extend successful collaborations, our business may be harmed.

We do not have our own manufacturing capacity, and we plan to rely on partnering arrangements or third-party manufacturers for the manufacture of our potential products.

We do not currently operate manufacturing facilities for clinical or commercial production of our product candidates. We have no experience in drug formulation or
manufacturing, and we lack the resources and the capabilities to manufacture any of our product candidates on a clinical or commercial scale. As a result, we expect to partner with
third parties to manufacture our products or rely on contract manufacturers to supply, store and distribute product supplies for our clinical trials. Any performance failure on the
part of our commercial
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partners or future manufacturers could delay clinical development or regulatory approval of our product candidates or commercialization of our products, producing additional
losses and reducing the potential for product revenues.

Our products, if developed and commercialized, will require precise, high quality manufacturing. The failure to achieve and maintain high manufacturing standards, including
the incidence of manufacturing errors, could result in patient injury or death, product recalls or withdrawals, delays or failures in product testing or delivery, cost overruns or other
problens that could seriously harmour business. Contract manufacturers and partners often encounter difficulties involving production yields, quality control and quality
assurance, as well as shortages of qualified personnel. These manufacturers and partners are subject to ongoing periodic unannounced inspection by the FDA and corresponding
state agencies to ensure strict compliance with current Good Manufacturing Practice and other applicable government regulations and corresponding foreign standards; however,
we do not have control over third-party compliance with these regulations and standards. If any of our manufacturers or partners fails to maintain compliance, the production of our
products could be interrupted, resulting in delays, additional costs and potentially lost revenues.

In addition, if the FDA or other regulatory agencies approve any of our product candidates for commercial sale, we will need to manufacture themin larger quantities.
Significant scale-up of manufacturing will require validation studies, which the FDA must review and approve. If we are unable to successfully increase the manufacturing capacity
for a product, the regulatory approval or commercial launch of any drugs may be delayed or there may be a shortage in supply and our business may be harmed as a result.

We may acquire other businesses or form joint ventures or in-license compounds that could disrupt our business, harm our operating results, dilute your ownershipinterest in
us, or cause us to incur debt or significant expense.

As part of our business strategy, we may pursue acquisitions of complementary businesses and assets, and enter into technology or pharmaceutical compound licensing
arrangements. We also may pursue strategic alliances that leverage our core technology and industry experience to enhance our ability to commercialize our product candidates
and expand our product offerings or distribution. We have no experience with respect to acquiring other companies and limited experience with respect to the formation of
commercial partnering agreements, strategic alliances, joint ventures or in-licensing of compounds. If we make any acquisitions, we may not be able to integrate these acquisitions
successfully into our existing business, and we could assume unknown or contingent liabilities. If we in-license any additional compounds, we may fail to develop the product
candidates, and spend significant resources before determining whether a compound we have in-licensed will produce revenues. Any future acquisitions or in-licensing by us also
could result in significant write-offs or the incurrence of debt and contingent liabilities, any of which could harm our operating results. Integration of an acquired company also may
require management resources that otherwise would be available for ongoing development of our existing business. We may not identify or complete these transactions in a timely
manner, on a cost-effective basis, or at all, and we may not realize the anticipated benefits of any acquisition, technology license, strategic alliance or joint venture.

To finance any acquisitions, we may choose to issue shares of our common stock as consideration, which would dilute your interest in us. If the price of our common stock
is low or volatile, we may not be able to acquire other companies for stock. Alternatively, it may be necessary for us to raise additional funds for acquisitions by incurring
indebtedness. Additional funds may not be available on terms that are favorable to us, or at all.

‘We may be unable to raise additional capital on acceptable terms in the future which may in turn limit our ability to develop and commercialize products and technologies.

We expect our capital outlays and operating expenditures to substantially increase over at least the next several years as we expand our product pipeline and increase
research and development efforts and clinical and
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regulatory activities. Conducting clinical trials is very expensive, and we expect that we will need to raise additional capital, through future private or public equity offerings,
strategic alliances or debt financing, before we achieve commercialization of any of our Aganocide compounds. In addition, we may require even more significant capital outlays
and operating expenditures if we do not partner with a third party to develop and commercialize our products.

Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including:

the scope, rate of progress and cost of our pre-clinical studies and clinical trials and other research and development activities;

future clinical trial results;

the terms and timing of any collaborative, licensing and other arrangements that we may establish;

the cost and timing of regulatory approvals;

the cost of establishing clinical and commercial supplies of our product candidates and any products that we may develop;

the effect of competing technological and market developments;

the cost of filing, prosecuting, defending and enforcing any patent claims and other intellectual property rights; and

the extent to which we acquire or invest in businesses, products and technologies, although we currently have no commitments or agreements relating to any of
these types of transactions.

We do not currently have any commitments for future external funding. Additional financing may not be available on favorable terms, or at all. Even if we succeed in selling
additional securities to raise funds, our existing shareholders” ownership percentage would be diluted and new investors may demand rights, preferences or privileges senior to
those of existing shareholders. If we raise additional capital through strategic alliance and licensing arrangements, we may have to trade our rights to our technology, intellectual
property or products to others on terms that may not be favorable to us. If we raise additional capital through debt financing, the financing may involve covenants that restrict our
business activities.

In addition, it is often the case that the cost of pharmaceutical development can be significantly greater than initially anticipated. This may be due to any ofa large number
of possible reasons, some of which could have been anticipated, while others may be caused by unpredictable circumstances. A significant increase in our costs would cause the
amount of financing that would be required to enable us to achieve our goals to be likewise increased.

If we determine that we need to raise additional funds and we are not successful in doing so, we may be unable to complete the clinical development of some or all of our
product candidates or to seek or obtain FDA approval of our product candidates. Such events could force us to discontinue product development, enter into a relationship with a
strategic partner earlier than currently intended, reduce sales and marketing efforts or forego attractive business opportunities.

Our directors, executive officers and principal shareholders have significant voting power and may take actions that may not be in the best interests of our other shareholders.

As of December 31, 2007, our officers and directors collectively controlled approximately 18.1% of our outstanding common stock (and approximately 22.7% of our common
stock when including options held by them which were exercisable as of or within 60 days of December 31, 2007). Furthermore, as of December 31, 2007, our largest shareholder, a
family trust established and controlled by Dr. Ramin Najafi, our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, beneficially owned 14.7% of our outstanding common stock. As a result,
Dr. Najafi can
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significantly influence the management and affairs of our company and most matters requiring shareholder approval, including the election of directors and approval of significant
corporate transactions. This concentration of ownership may have the effect of delaying or preventing a change in control and might adversely affect the market price of our
common stock. This concentration of ownership may not be in the best interests of our other shareholders.

‘We depend on skilled and experienced personnel to operate our business effectively. If we are unable to recruit, hire and retain these employees, our ability to manage and
expand our business will be harmed, which would impair our future revenue and profitability.

Our success largely depends on the skills, experience and efforts of our officers, especially our Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Vice President of Research
and Development, Vice President of Clinical Research and Development, Senior Vice President of Corporate and Business Development, and other key employees. The efforts of
each of these persons is critical to us as we continue to develop our technologies and as we attempt to transition into a company with commercial products. Any of our officers and
other key employees may terminate their employment at any time. The loss of any of our senior management team members could weaken our management expertise and harm our
ability to compete effectively, develop our technologies and implement our business strategies.

Our ability to retain our skilled labor force and our success in attracting and hiring new skilled employees will be a critical factor in determining whether we will be successful
in the future. Our research and development programs and collaborations depend on our ability to attract and retain highly skilled scientists and technicians. We may not be able to
attract or retain qualified scientists and technicians in the future due to the intense competition for qualified personnel among life science businesses, particularly in the San
Francisco Bay Area. We also face competition fromuniversities and public and private research institutions in recruiting and retaining highly qualified scientific personnel. We
have also encountered difficulties in recruiting qualified personnel fromoutside the San Francisco Bay Area, due to the high housing costs in the area.

If we fail to manage our growth effectively, we may be unable to execute our business plan.

Our future growth, if any, may cause a significant strain on our management, and our operational, financial and other resources. Our ability to manage our growth effectively
will require us to implement and improve our operational, financial and management information systems and to expand, train, manage and motivate our employees. These demands
may require the hiring of additional management personnel and the development of additional expertise by management. Any increase in resources devoted to research and
product development without a corresponding increase in our operational, financial and management information systems could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition, and results of operations.

It may be difficult to recruit and retain independent members for our Board of Directors.

The burdens being placed on the members of a board of directors by applicable laws and regulations are making it increasingly difficult to recruit qualified candidates to be
members of'a board of directors of a public company. These same burdens may make it increasingly difficult to retain members of our Board of Directors. If we are unable to
maintain a Board of Directors in which our shareholders have confidence, this could have an adverse impact on shareholder confidence and on the price of our stock.

If our facilities become inoperable, we will be unable to perform our research and development activities, fulfill the requirements under our collaboration agreement and
continue developing products and, as a result, our business will be harmed.

We do not have redundant laboratory facilities. We perform substantially all of our research, development and testing in our laboratory located in Emeryville, California.
Emeryville is situated on or near active
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earthquake fault lines. Our facility and the equipment we use to perform our research, development and testing would be costly to replace and could require substantial lead time to
repair or replace. The facility may be harmed or rendered inoperable by natural or man-made disasters, including earthquakes, flooding and power outages, which may render it
difficult or impossible for us to performour research, development and testing for some period of time. The inability to performour research and development activities may result
in the loss of partners or harm our reputation, and we may be unable to regain those partnerships in the future. Our insurance coverage for damage to our property and the
disruption of our business may not be sufficient to cover all of our potential losses, including the loss of time as well as the costs of lost opportunities, and may not continue to be
available to us on acceptable terns, or at all.

Obtaining regulatory approval in the United States does not ensure we will obtain regulatory approval in other countries.

We will aimto obtain regulatory approval in the United States as well as in other countries. To obtain regulatory approval to market our proposed products outside of the
United States, we and any collaborator must comply with numerous and varying regulatory requirements in other countries regarding safety and efficacy. Approval procedures
vary among countries and can involve additional product testing and additional administrative review periods. The time required to obtain approval in other countries might differ
significantly fromthat required to obtain FDA approval. The regulatory approval process in other countries include all of the risk associated with FDA approval as well as
additional, presently unanticipated risks. Regulatory approval in one country does not ensure regulatory approval in another, but a failure or delay in obtaining regulatory approval
in one country may negatively impact the regulatory process in others. Failure to obtain regulatory approval in other countries or any delay or setback in obtaining such approval
could have the same adverse effects associated with regulatory approval in the United States, including the risk that our product candidates may not be approved for all indications
requested and that such approval may be subject to limitations on the indicated uses for which the product may be marketed. In addition, failure to comply with applicable
regulatory requirements in other countries can result in, among other things, warning letters, fines, injunctions, civil penalties, recall or seizure of products, total or partial
suspension of production, refusal of the government to renew marketing applications and criminal prosecution.

If we are unable to design, conduct and complete clinical trials successfully, we will not be able to obtain regulatory approval for our products.

In order to obtain FDA approval for some of our product candidates, we must submit to the FDA a New Drug Application, or NDA, demonstrating that the product
candidate is safe and effective for its intended use. This demonstration requires significant research and animal tests, which are referred to as preclinical studies, as well as human
tests, which are referred to as clinical trials.

Any clinical trials we conduct or that are conducted by our partners may not demonstrate the safety or efficacy of our product candidates. Success in pre-clinical testing
and early clinical trials does not ensure that later clinical trials will be successful. Results of later clinical trials may not replicate the results of prior clinical trials and pre-clinical
testing. Even if the results of one or more of our clinical trials are positive, we may have to commit substantial time and additional resources to conducting further preclinical studies
or clinical trials before we can submit NDAs or obtain FDA approvals for our product candidates, and positive results of a clinical trial may not be replicated in subsequent trials.

Clinical trials are very expensive and difficult to design and implement. The clinical trial process is also time-consuming. Furthermore, if participating patients in clinical
studies suffer drug-related adverse reactions during the course of such trials, or if we or the FDA believe that participating patients are being exposed to unacceptable health risks,
we will have to suspend or terminate our clinical trials. Failure can occur at any stage of the trials, and we could encounter problems that cause us to abandon clinical trials or to
repeat clinical studies.
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In addition, the completion of clinical trials can be delayed by numerous factors, including:

delays in identifying and agreeing on acceptable terms with prospective clinical trial sites;

slower than expected rates of patient recruitment and enrollment;

increases in time required to complete monitoring of patients during or after participation in a trial; and

unexpected need for additional patient-related data.

Any ofthese delays, if significant, could impact the timing, approval and commercialization of our product candidates and could significantly increase our overall costs of
drug development.

Even if our clinical trials are completed as planned, their results may not support our expectations or intended marketing claims. The clinical trials process may fail to
demonstrate that our products are safe and effective for indicated uses. Such failure would cause us to abandon a product candidate for some indications and could delay
development of other product candidates.

Government agencies may establish usage guidelines that directly apply to our proposed products or change legislation or regulations to which we are subject.

Government usage guidelines typically address matters such as usage and dose, among other factors. Application of these guidelines could limit the use of products that
we may develop. In addition there can be no assurance that government regulations applicable to our proposed products or the interpretation thereof will not change and thereby
prevent the marketing of some or all of our products for a period of time or permanently. The FDA’s policies may change and additional government regulations may be enacted
that could prevent or delay regulatory approval of our product candidates. We cannot predict the likelihood, nature or extent of adverse government regulation that may arise from
future legislation or administrative action, either in the United States or in other countries.

Our product candidates may be classified as a drug or a medical device, depending on the indication of use and prior precedent, and a change in the classification may have an
adverse impact on our revenues or our ability to obtain necessary regulatory approvals.

Several potential indications for our product candidates may be regulated under the medical device regulations of the FDA administered by the Center for Devices and
Radiological Health or by the Center for Drug Evaluation and Research and the same physical product may be regulated by one such agency for one indication and the other
agency for another indication. Our products may be classified by the FDA as a drug or a medical device depending upon the indications for use or claims. For example, for NVC-
422, if the indication is for bladder lavage, we believe it would be classified as a medical device, whereas we believe it would be considered a drug when it is indicated for the
prevention of urinary tract infection. Similarly, the use of NVC-101 as a solution for cleansing and debriding wounds would be considered as a medical device. In addition, the
determination as to whether a particular indication is considered a drug or a device is based in part upon prior precedent. A reclassification by the FDA of an indication froma
device to a drug indication during our development for that indication could have a significant adverse impact due to the more rigorous approval process required for drugs, as
compared to medical devices. Such a change in classification can significantly increase development costs and prolong the time for development and approval, thus delaying
revenues. A reclassification of an indication after approval froma drug to a device could result in a change in classification for reimbursement. In many cases, reimbursement for
devices is significantly lower than for drugs and there could be a significant negative impact on our revenues.

Conducting clinical trials of our product candidates may expose us to expensive liability claims, and we may not be able to maintain liability insurance on reasonable terms or at
all.

The risk of clinical trial liability is inherent in the testing of pharmaceutical and medical device products. If we cannot successfully defend ourselves against any clinical trial
claims, we may incur substantial liabilities or
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be required to limit or terminate testing of one or more of our product candidates. Our inability to obtain sufficient clinical trial insurance at an acceptable cost to protect us against
potential clinical trial claims could prevent or inhibit the commercialization of our product candidates. Our current clinical trial insurance covers individual and aggregate claims up
to $3 million. This insurance may not cover all claims and we may not be able to obtain additional insurance coverage at a reasonable cost, if at all, in the future. In addition, if our
agreements with any future corporate collaborators entitle us to indemnification against product lability losses and clinical trial Liability, such indemmnification may not be available
or adequate should any claimarise.

If product liability laws uits are brought against us, they could result in costly litigation and significant liabilities.

The product candidates we are developing or attempting to develop will, in most cases, undergo extensive clinical testing and will require regulated approval fromthe
applicable regulatory authorities prior to sale. However, despite all reasonable efforts to ensure safety, it is possible that we or our collaborators will sell products which are
defective, to which patients react in an unexpected manner, or which are alleged to have side effects. The manufacture and sale of such products may expose us to potential
liability, and the industries in which our products are likely to be sold have been subject to significant product liability litigation. Any claims, with or without merit, could result in
costly litigation, reduced sales, significant liabilities and diversion of our management’s time and attention and could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition,
business and results of operations.

Ifa product liability claimis brought against us, we may be required to pay legal and other expenses to defend the claimand, if the claimis successful, damage awards may
not be covered, in whole or in part, by our insurance. We may not have sufficient capital resources to pay a judgment, in which case our creditors could levy against our assets.
We may also be obligated to indemnify our collaborators and make payments to other parties with respect to product liability damages and claims. Defending any product lability
claims, or indemnifying others against those claims, could require us to expend significant financial and managerial resources.

If we receive regulatory approval for drug products that we develop, we and our collaborators will also be subject to ongoing FDA obligations and continued regulatory review,
such as continued safety reporting requirements, and we and our collaborators may also be subject to additional FDA post-marketing obligations or new regulations, all of which
may result in significant expense and which may limit our ability to commercialize our potential drug products.

Any regulatory approvals that we receive for drug products that we develop may also be subject to limitations on the indicated uses for which the drug may be marketed or
contain requirements for potentially costly post-marketing follow-up studies. The FDA may require us to commit to perform lengthy Phase IV post-approval studies (as further
described below), for which we would have to expend additional resources, which could have an adverse effect on our operating results and financial condition. In addition, if the
FDA approves any of our drug product candidates, the labeling, packaging, adverse event reporting, storage, advertising, promotion and record keeping for the drug will be
subject to extensive regulatory requirements. The subsequent discovery of previously unknown problems with the drugs, including adverse events of unanticipated severity or
frequency, may result in restrictions on the marketing of the drugs or the withdrawal of the drugs fromthe market. If we are not able to maintain regulatory compliance, we may be
subject to fines, suspension or withdrawal of regulatory approvals, product recalls, seizure of products, operating restrictions and criminal prosecution. Any of these events could
prevent us frommarketing any products we may develop and our business could suffer.
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Failure to obtain sufficient quantities of products and substances necessary for research and development, pre-clinical trials, human clinical trials and product
commercialization that are of acceptable quality at reasonable prices or at all could constrain our product development and have a material adverse effect on our business.

We have relied and will continue to rely on contract manufacturers for the foreseeable future to produce quantities of products and substances necessary for research and
development, pre-clinical trials, human clinical trials and product commercialization. It will be important to us that such products and substances can be manufactured at a cost and
in quantities necessary to make them commercially viable. At this point in time, we have not attempted to identify, and do not know whether there will be, any third party
manufacturers which will be able to meet our needs with respect to timing, quantity and quality for commercial production. In addition, if we are unable to contract for a sufficient
supply or required products and substances on acceptable terms, or if we should encounter delays or difficulties in our relationships with manufacturers, our research and
development, pre-clinical and clinical testing would be delayed, thereby delaying the submission of product candidates for regulatory approval or the market introduction and
subsequent sales of products. Any such delay may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

If we use biological and hazardous materials in a manner that causes injury, we could be liable for damages. Compliance with environmental regulations can be expensive, and
noncompliance with these regulations may result in adverse publicity and potentially significant monetary damages and fines.

Our activities currently require the controlled use of potentially harmful biological materials and other hazardous materials and chemicals and may in the future require the
use of radioactive compounds. We cannot eliminate the risk of accidental contamination or injury to employees or third parties fromthe use, storage, handling or disposal of these
materials. In the event of contamination or injury, we could be held liable for any resulting damages, and any liability could exceed our resources or any applicable insurance
coverage we may have. Additionally, we are subject, on an ongoing basis, to U.S. federal, state and local laws and regulations governing the use, storage, handling and disposal of
these materials and specified waste products. The cost of compliance with these laws and regulations might be significant and could negatively affect our operating results. In
addition, if more stringent laws and regulations are adopted in the future, the costs of compliance with these new laws and regulations could be substantial or could impose
significant changes in our testing and production process.

Because our clinical development activities rely heavily on sensitive and personal information, an area which is highly regulated by privacy laws, we may not be able to generate,
maintain or access essential patient samples or data to continue our research and development efforts in the future on reasonable terms and conditions, which may adversely
affect our business.

As aresult of our clinical development, we will have access to very sensitive data regarding the patients enrolled in our clinical trials. This data will contain information that
is personal in nature. The maintenance of this data is subject to certain privacy-related laws, which impose upon us administrative and financial burdens, and litigation risks. For
instance, the rules promulgated by the Department of Health and Human Services under the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act, or HIPAA, creates national
standards to protect patients’ medical records and other personal information in the United States. These rules require that healthcare providers and other covered entities obtain
written authorizations frompatients prior to disclosing protected health care information of the patient to companies like NovaBay. If the patient fails to execute an authorization or
the authorization fails to contain all required provisions, then we will not be allowed access to the patient’s information and our research efforts can be substantially delayed.
Furthermore, use of protected health information that is provided to us pursuant to a valid patient authorization is subject to the limits set forth in the authorization (i.c., for use in
research and in submissions to regulatory authorities for product approvals). As such, we are required to implement policies, procedures and reasonable and appropriate security
measures to protect individually identifiable health information we receive fromcovered entities, and to ensure such
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information is used only as authorized by the patient. Any violations of these rules by us could subject us to civil and criminal penalties and adverse publicity, and could harm our
ability to initiate and complete clinical studies required to support regulatory applications for our proposed products. In addition, HIPAA does not replace federal, state, or other
laws that may grant individuals even greater privacy protections. We can provide no assurance that future legislation will not prevent us from generating or maintaining personal
data or that patients will consent to the use of their personal information, either of which may prevent us fromundertaking or publishing essential research. These burdens or risks
may prove too great for us to reasonably bear, and may adversely affect our ability to function profitably in the future.

‘We may be subject to fines, penalties, injunctions and other sanctions if we are deemed to be promoting the use of our products for non-FDA-approved, or off-label, uses.

Our business and future growth depend on the development, use and ultimate sale of products that are subject to FDA regulation, clearance and approval. Under the U.S.
Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act and other laws, we are prohibited from promoting our products for off-label uses. This means that we may not make claims about the safety
or effectiveness of our products and may not proactively discuss or provide information on the use of our products, except as allowed by the FDA.

There is a risk that the FDA or other federal or state law enforcement authorities could determine that the nature and scope of our sales and marketing activities may
constitute the promotion of our products for a non-FDA-approved use in violation of applicable law. We also face the risk that the FDA or other regulatory authorities might
pursue enforcement based on past activities that we have discontinued or changed, including sales activities, arrangements with institutions and doctors, educational and training
programs and other activities.

Government investigations concerning the promotion of off-label uses and related issues are typically expensive, disruptive and burdensome and generate negative
publicity. If our promotional activities are found to be in violation of applicable law or if we agree to a settlement in connection with an enforcement action, we would likely face
significant fines and penalties and would likely be required to substantially change our sales, promotion, grant and educational activities. In addition, were any enforcement actions
against us or our senior officers to arise, we could be excluded fromparticipation in U.S. government healthcare programs such as Medicare and Medicaid.

If we are unable to protect our intellectual property, our competitors could develop and market products similar to ours that may reduce demand for our products.

Our success, competitive position and potential future revenues will depend in significant part on our ability to protect our intellectual property. We rely on the patent,
trademark, copyright and trade secret laws of the United States and other countries, as well as confidentiality and nondisclosure agreements, to protect our intellectual property
rights. We apply for patents covering our technologies as we deemappropriate. We have registered the Aganocide trademark in the European Community and Japan and have a
trademark application allowed in the United States. We have allowed trademark applications in the United States for NeutroPhase, NovaBay and the NovaBay design, and a
pending application for AgaNase. We have registered the NovaBay, AgaNase and NeutroPhase trademarks in Australia and have applications for these same trademarks pending
in a number of other foreign countries.

We have one issued patent, one allowed patent application and eight pending applications in the United States. We also have four pending international applications filed
under the Patent Cooperation Treaty, or PCT, and one issued patent in Mexico, one issued patent in China, one allowed patent in Israel and 46 pending foreign national
applications in Europe, Argentina, Australia, Brazil, Canada, China, Hong-Kong, Israel, India, Japan, South Korea, Mexico, Singapore, New Zealand and Taiwan. The subject matter
of our patents and patent
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applications cover the following three key areas: methods relating to the manufacture and use of NVC-101, composition of matter of the Aganocide compounds and their
compositions, and methods of treatment utilizing the Aganocide compounds. The issued U.S. patent expires in 2020 and provides coverage for a method of treating bumns or
promoting wound healing, tissue repair or tissue regeneration using a specific range of formulations of NVC-101. The allowed U.S. patent application claims a method of
disinfecting open wounds and bumns, promoting wound healing and providing ocular disinfection using a specific range of formulations of NVC-101. NovaBay must pay an issue
fee on or before March 27, 2008, in order for this application to issue as a U.S. patent. If NovaBay fails to timely pay this fee, no patent will issue.

We cannot assure you that patents will issue fromany of our applications or, for those patents that do issue, that the claims will be sufficiently broad to protect our
proprietary rights, or that it will be economically possible to pursue sufficient numbers of patents to afford significant protection. In addition, we cannot assure you that any
patents issued to us or licensed or assigned to us by third parties will not be challenged, invalidated, found unenforceable or circumvented, or that the rights granted thereunder
will provide competitive advantages to us. If we or our collaborators or licensors fail to file, prosecute or maintain certain patents, our competitors could market products that
contain features and clinical benefits similar to those of any products we develop, and demand for our products could decline as a result. Further, although we have taken steps to
protect our intellectual property and proprietary technology, we cannot assure you that third parties will not be able to design around our patents or, if they do infringe upon our
technology, that we will be successful in or have sufficient resources to pursue a claimof infringement against those third parties. Any pursuit of an infringement claimby us may
involve substantial expense and diversion of management attention.

We also rely on trade secrets and proprietary know-how that we seek to protect by confidentiality agreements with our employees, consultants and collaborators. We
cannot assure you that these agreements will be enforceable, will not be breached, that we will have adequate remedies for any breach, or that our trade secrets and proprietary
know-how will not otherwise become known or be independently discovered by competitors.

In particular, we operate in the State of California and the laws of the State prevent us fromimposing a delay before an employee who may have access to trade secrets and
proprietary know-how can commence employment with a competing company. Although we may be able to pursue legal action against competitive companies improperly using our
proprietary information, we may not be aware of any use of our trade secrets and proprietary know-how until after significant damage has been done to our company.

Furthermore, the laws of foreign countries may not protect our intellectual property rights to the same extent as the laws of the United States. If our intellectual property
does not provide significant protection against foreign or domestic competition, our competitors, including generic manufacturers, could compete more directly with us, which
could result in a decrease in our market share. All of these factors may harm our competitive position.

If we are unable to protect the intellectual property and market exclusivity of Aganocide compounds and products, thereby enabling other parties to commercialize competing
products, our ability to generate revenues from the sale of our products may be limited or diminished.

We have filed a patent application with claims directed to the NVC-422 Aganocide compounds and claims directed to the method of using the Aganocide compounds with
the United States Patent and Trademark Office, or USPTO, and related international patent applications in Argentina, Australia, Brazil, Canada, China, the European Patent Office,
Hong Kong, Israel, India, Japan, South Korea, Mexico, New Zealand, Singapore and Taiwan. We cannot assure you that any national or regional patents will eventually be issued
fromthe U.S. or international patent applications. Should we be unable to obtain patents with sufficiently broad scope to protect our proprietary rights, the interest of potential
partners for the development and commercialization of our Aganocide products would be greatly diminished or eliminated.
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Ifno such patents are issued or if they are issued but are later found invalid or unenforceable or are not of sufficient scope, or after such patents expire in a given
jurisdiction, our competitors may produce generic products and make themavailable at a cost that is cheaper than the price at which we, or our commercial partners, would offer to
sell any Aganocide products we develop.

We have also filed two patent applications claiming various derivatives and analogs of NVC-422 Aganocide compounds and their method of use with the USPTO as well as
two corresponding PCT applications. If our efforts to protect the intellectual property and market position of the NVC-422 Aganocide products and their methods of use do not
succeed, our ability to generate revenues fromthe sale of any such products may be limited or diminished.

However, we do not have any composition of matter patent directed to the NVC-101 composition. If a potential competitor introduces a similar method of using NVC-101
with a similar composition that does not fall within the scope of the method of treatment claims, then we or a potential marketing partner would be unable to rely on the allowed
claims to protect its market position for the method of using the NVC-101 composition, and any revenues arising fromsuch protection would be adversely impacted.

We may be subject to damages resulting from claims that we or our employees have wrongfully used or disclosed alleged trade secrets of their former employers.

Some of our employees may have been previously employed at universities or other biotechnology or pharmaceutical companies, including our competitors or potential
competitors. Although no claims against us are currently pending, we may be subject to claims that these employees or we have inadvertently or otherwise used or disclosed trade
secrets or other proprietary information of their former employers. Litigation may be necessary to defend against these claims. Even if we are successful in defending against these
claims, litigation could result in substantial costs and be a distraction to management. If we fail in defending such claims, in addition to paying money damages, we may lose
valuable intellectual property rights or personnel. A loss ofkey research personnel or their work product could hamper or prevent our ability to commercialize product candidates,
which could severely harm our business.

The pharmaceutical and biopharmaceutical industries are characterized by patent litigation and any litigation or claim against us may cause us to incur substantial costs, and
could place a significant strain on our financial resources, divert the attention of management from our business and harm our reputation.

There has been substantial litigation in the pharmaceutical and biopharmaceutical industries with respect to the manufacture, use and sale of new products that are the
subject of conflicting patent rights. For the most part, these lawsuits relate to the validity, enforceability and infiingement of patents. Generic companies are encouraged to
challenge the patents of pharmaceutical products in the United States because a successful challenger can obtain nine months of exclusivity as a generic product under the
Waxman-Hatch Act. We expect that we will rely upon patents, trade secrets, know-how, continuing technological innovations and licensing opportunities to develop and maintain
our competitive position and we may initiate claims to defend our intellectual property rights as a result. Other parties may have issued patents or be issued patents that may
prevent the sale of our products or know-how or require us to license such patents and pay significant fees or royalties in order to produce our products. In addition, future patents
may issue to third parties which our technology may infringe. Because patent applications can take many years to issue, there may be applications now pending of which we are
unaware that may later result in issued patents that our products may infringe.

Intellectual property litigation, regardless of outcome, is expensive and time-consuming, could divert management’s attention fromour business and have a material
negative effect on our business, operating results or financial condition. If such a dispute were to be resolved against us, we may be required to pay substantial damages, including
treble damages and attomeys fees if we were to be found to have willfully infringed a third party’s patent, to the party claiming infringement, develop non-infringing technology,
stop selling any products
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we develop, cease using technology that contains the allegedly infringing intellectual property or enter into royalty or license agreements that may not be available on acceptable
or commercially practical terms, if at all. Our failure to develop non-infringing technologies or license the proprietary rights on a timely basis could harm our business. Modification
of'any products we develop or development of new products thereafter could require us to conduct additional clinical trials and to revise our filings with the FDA and other
regulatory bodies, which would be time-consuming and expensive. In addition, parties making infringement claims may be able to obtain an injunction that would prevent us from
selling any products we develop, which could harm our business.

If bacteria develop resistance to Aganocide compounds, our revenues could be significantly reduced.

Based on our understanding of the hypothesis of the mechanismof action of our Aganocide compounds, we do not expect bacteria to be able to develop resistance to
Aganocide compounds. However, we cannot assure you that one or more strains of bacteria will not develop resistance to our compounds, either because our hypothesis of the
mechanismof action is incorrect or because a strain of bacteria undergoes some unforeseen genetic mutation that permits it to survive. Since we expect lack of resistance to be a
major factor in the commercialization of our product candidates, the discovery of such resistance would have a major adverse impact on the acceptability and sales of our products.

If physicians and patients do not accept and use our products, we will not achieve sufficient product revenues and our business will suffer.

Even if the FDA approves any product candidates that we develop, physicians and patients may not accept and use them. Acceptance and use of our products may depend
on a number of factors including:

perceptions by members of the healthcare community, including physicians, about the safety and effectiveness of our products;

published studies demonstrating the cost-effectiveness of our products relative to competing products;

availability of reimbursement for our products from government or healthcare payers; and

effectiveness of marketing and distribution efforts by us and our licensees and distributors, if any.

The failure of any of our products to find market acceptance would harm our business and could require us to seek additional financing.

If we are unable to develop our own sales, marketing and distribution capabilities, or if we are not successful in contracting with third parties for these services on favorable
terms, or at all, revenues from any products we develop could be disappointing.

We currently have no intemal sales, marketing or distribution capabilities. In order to commercialize any product candidates approved by the FDA, we will either have to
develop such capabilities internally or collaborate with third parties who can performthese services for us. If we decide to commercialize any products we develop, we may not be
able to hire the necessary experienced personnel and build sales, marketing and distribution operations which are capable of successfully launching new products and generating
sufficient product revenues. In addition, establishing such operations will take time and involve significant expense.

If we decide to enter into co-promotion or other licensing arrangements with third parties, we may be unable to identify acceptable partners because the number of potential
partners is limited and because of competition fromothers for similar alliances with potential partners. Even if we are able to identify one or more acceptable partners, we may not be
able to enter into any partnering arrangements on favorable terms, or at all. If we enter into any partnering arrangements, our revenues are likely to be lower than if we marketed and
sold our products ourselves.

In addition, any revenues we receive would depend upon our partners’ efforts which may not be adequate due to lack of attention or resource commitments, management
turnover, change of strategic focus, further
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business combinations or other factors outside of our control. Depending upon the terms of our agreements, the remedies we have against an under-performing partner may be
limited. If we were to terminate the relationship, it may be difficult or impossible to find a replacement partner on acceptable terms, or at all.

If we cannot compete successfully for market share against other companies, we may not achieve sufficient product revenues and our business will suffer.

The market for our product candidates is characterized by intense competition and rapid technological advances. If our product candidates receive FDA approval, they will
compete with a number of existing and future drugs, devices and therapies developed, manufactured and marketed by others. Existing or future competing products may provide
greater therapeutic convenience or clinical or other benefits for a specific indication than our products, or may offer comparable performance at a lower cost. If our products are
unable to capture and maintain market share, we may not achieve sufficient product revenues and our business will suffer.

We will compete for market share against fully integrated pharmaceutical companies or other companies that develop products independently or collaborate with larger
pharmaceutical companies, academic institutions, government agencies and other public and private research organizations. In addition, many of these competitors, either alone or
together with their collaborative partners, have substantially greater capital resources, larger research and development staffs and facilities, and greater financial resources than we
do, as well as significantly greater experience in:

developing drugs and devices;

conducting preclinical testing and human clinical trials;

obtaining FDA and other regulatory approvals of product candidates;

formulating and manufacturing products; and

launching, marketing, distributing and selling products.

Our competitors may:

develop and patent processes or products earlier than we will;

develop and commercialize products that are less expensive or more efficient than any products that we may develop;

obtain regulatory approvals for competing products more rapidly than we will; and

improve upon existing technological approaches or develop new or different approaches that render any technology or products we develop obsolete or
uncompetitive.

We cannot assure you that our competitors will not succeed in developing technologies and products that are more effective than any developed by us or that would render
our technologies and any products we develop obsolete. If we are unable to compete successfully against current or future competitors, we may be unable to obtain market
acceptance for any product candidates that we create, which could prevent us from generating revenues or achieving profitability and could cause the market price of our common
stock to decline.

Our ability to generate revenues from any products we develop will be diminished if we fail to obtain acceptable prices or an adequate level of reimbursement for our products
from healthcare payers.

Our ability to commercialize our product candidates will depend, in part, on the extent to which health insurers, government authorities and other third-party payers will
reimburse the costs of products which may be developed by us or our partners. We expect that a portion of our economic return from partnering arrangements with pharmaceutical
companies and other collaborators will be derived fromroyalties, fees or other revenues linked to final sales of products that we or our partners develop. Newly-approved
pharmaceuticals and other
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products which are developed by us or our partners will not necessarily be reimbursed by third-party payers or may not be reimbursed at levels sufficient to generate significant
sales. Government and other third-party payers are increasingly attempting to contain health care costs by limiting both coverage and the level of reimbursement for new drugs or
medical devices. Cost control initiatives such as these could adversely affect our or our collaborators’ ability to commercialize products. In addition, real or anticipated cost control
initiatives for final products may reduce the willingness of pharmaceutical companies or other potential partners to collaborate with us on the development of new products.

Significant uncertainty exists as to the reimbursement status of newly-approved healthcare products. Healthcare payers, including Medicare, health maintenance
organizations and managed care organizations, are challenging the prices charged for medical products or are seeking pharmacoeconomic data to justify formulary acceptance and
reimbursement practices. We currently have not generated pharmacoeconomic data on any of our product candidates. Government and other healthcare payers increasingly are
attempting to contain healthcare costs by limiting both coverage and the level of reimbursement for drugs and medical devices, and by refusing, in some cases, to provide coverage
for uses of approved products for disease indications for which the FDA has or has not granted labeling approval. Adequate third-party insurance coverage may not be available
to patients for any products we discover and develop, alone or with collaborators. If government and other healthcare payers do not provide adequate coverage and reimbursement
levels for our products, market acceptance of our product candidates could be limited.

A significant terrorist attack or threat of such attack may adversely impact our ability to obtain financing.

A major terrorist attack, the threat of such attack or other unforeseen events beyond our control, may occur at a time when we need to raise additional financing. Closure or
severe perturbation of the financial markets as a result of such events may make such financing impossible or unattractive and our plans may be seriously disrupted. As a
consequence, the progress of the company towards revenues or profits could be significantly impaired.

Our amended and restated articles of incorporation and bylaws and California law, contain provisions that could dis courage a third party from making a takeover offer that is
beneficial to our shareholders.

Anti-takeover provisions of our amended and restated articles of incorporation, amended and restated bylaws and California law may have the effect of deterring or delaying
attempts by our shareholders to remove or replace management, engage in proxy contests and effect changes in control. The provisions of our charter documents include:

a classified board so that only one of the three classes of directors on our Board of Directors is elected each year;

elimination of cumulative voting in the election of directors;

procedures for advance notification of shareholder nominations and proposals;

the ability of our Board of Directors to amend our bylaws without shareholder approval; and

the ability of our Board of Directors to issue up to 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock without shareholder approval upon the terms and conditions and with the
rights, privileges and preferences as our Board of Directors may determine.

In addition, as a California corporation, we are subject to California law, which includes provisions that may have the effect of deterring hostile takeovers or delaying or
preventing changes in control or management of our company. Provisions of the California Corporations Code could make it more difficult for a third party to acquire a majority of
our outstanding voting stock by discouraging a hostile bid, or delaying, preventing or deterring a merger, acquisition or tender offer in which our shareholders could receive a
premium for their shares, or effect a proxy contest for control of NovaBay or other changes in our management.
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‘We have not paid dividends in the past and do not expect to pay dividends in the future, and any return on inves tment may be limited to the value of our stock.

We have never paid cash dividends on our common stock and do not anticipate paying cash dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future. The payment of
dividends on our common stock will depend on our earnings, financial condition and other business and economic factors affecting us at such time as our Board of Directors may
consider relevant. If we do not pay dividends, you will experience a return on your investment in our shares only if our stock price appreciates. We cannot assure you that you will
receive a return on your investment when you do sell your shares or that you will not lose the entire amount of your investment.

‘We may be considered a “foreign investment entity” which may have adverse Canadian tax consequences for our Canadian investors.

Although we believe that we are not currently a “foreign investment entity” within the meaning of the FIE Tax Proposals (as defined in “Material Canadian Federal Income
Tax Considerations—Foreign Investment Entity Status”), no assurances can be given in this regard or as to our status in the future. If we become a “foreign investment entity”
within the meaning of the FIE Tax Proposals, there may be certain adverse taxconsequences for our Canadian investors.

Because we are a California corporation and the majority of our directors and officers are resident in the United States, it may be difficult for investors in Canada to enforce
against us certain civil liabilities and judgments based solely upon the securities laws of Canada.

We are organized under the laws of California and our principal executive offices are located in California. A majority of the directors and officers and the experts named in
this report reside principally in the United States and all or a substantial portion of their assets and all or a substantial portion of our assets are located in the United States.
Consequently, it may be difficult for shareholders to effect service of process within Canada upon us or our directors, officers or experts who are residents of the United States.
Furthermore, it may not be possible to enforce against us or such directors, officers or experts, in the United States, judgments obtained in Canadian courts, including judgments
based upon the civil liability provisions of applicable Canadian securities law.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
Not applicable.
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our principal executive offices and our research and development and administrative operations are located in Emeryville, California. In total, we lease approximately 19,000
square feet of office space in the facility pursuant to leases with expiration dates ranging from October 2009 to May 2013. We may seek to expand our facilities to meet our
operational requirements within the next twelve months.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are currently not a party to, nor is our property the subject matter of, any pending or, to our knowledge, contemplated material legal proceedings. Fromtime to time, we
may become party to litigation and subject to claims arising in the ordinary course of our business.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

In October 2007, our stockholders approved by written consent an amendment to our articles of incorporation and bylaws, to become effective after our initial public
offering, to set the size of our Board at no less than nine and no more than eleven, with the exact number of directors within such range to be fixed at nine directors. The amendment
was approved by the holders of 13,801,636 shares, or 85%, of our then outstanding common stock and preferred stock, voting together as a single class on an as-converted basis.
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PART I

ITEMS5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES
Market Information

Since October 25, 2007, our common stock has been listed on the American Stock Exchange and the Toronto Stock Exchange under the symbol “NBY.” Prior to such time,
there was no established public trading market for our common stock. The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the high and low sales prices for our common stock
as reported by the American Stock Exchange:

High Low

Fiscal Year 2007:

Quarter Ended December 31, 2007
$ 425 $ 3.50

On March 11, 2008, the last reported sale price of our common stock on the American Stock Exchange was $2.20.

Holders

As of March 11, 2008, there were approximately 442 holders of record of our common stock. This figure does not reflect persons or entities that hold their stock in nominee
or “street” name through various brokerage firms.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock. We currently intend to retain any future eamings to finance the growth and development of our
business. Therefore, we do not anticipate that we will declare or pay any cash dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future. Any future determination to pay cash
dividends will be at the discretion of our Board of Directors and will be dependent upon our financial condition, results of operations, capital requirements, restrictions under any
existing indebtedness and other factors the Board of Directors deems relevant.

Sales of Unregistered Securities

The following is a summary of our transactions during the year ended December 31, 2007, involving sales of our securities that were not registered under the Securities Act
0f 1933, as amended:

(1) In January and October 2007, prior to the filing of our registration statement on Form S-8, we granted options to purchase an aggregate of 398,125 shares of our common
stock to employees and consultants at exercise prices ranging from $2.28 to $4.00 per share. We also granted 452 shares of common stock to our independent directors in November
2007 pursuant to the Director Compensation Plan which were issued prior to the filing of the registration statement on Form S-8.

(2) In January 2007, we granted options to purchase an aggregate of 3,707 shares of our common stock outside of our 2005 Stock Option Plan at an exercise price of $2.28 per
share as compensation for services rendered to us in connection with a private placement of our preferred stock.

(3) In February 2007, we issued 35,000 shares of common stock to one of our consultants as compensation for services rendered to us.

(4) In October 2007, we issued warrants to purchase an aggregate of 350,000 shares of our common stock to the underwriters of our IPO as part of their compensation for
their services.
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The issuances of securities in the transactions described in paragraph 1 above were effected without registration under the Securities Act in reliance on Section 4(2) thereof
or Rule 701 thereunder as transactions pursuant to compensatory benefit plans and contracts relating to compensation. The issuances of securities in the transactions described in
paragraphs 2 and 4 above were effected without registration under the Securities Act in reliance on Section 4(2) thereof or Rule 506 of Regulation D thereunder based on the status
of each investor as an accredited investor as defined under the Securities Act. The issuance of securities in the transaction described in paragraph 3 above was effected without
registration under the Securities Act in reliance on Rule 903 of Regulation S thereunder as an offer and sale of securities that occurred outside the United States. The sale of
securities was made in an offshore transaction, did not involve any directed selling efforts within the United States, and involved only purchasers who were outside the United
States and were non-U.S. Persons. In addition, such securities were also exempt fromregistration under the Securities Act in reliance on Section 4(2) thereof and Rule 506 of
Regulation D thereunder based on the status of such investor as an accredited investor as defined under the Securities Act.

Use of Proceeds from Sales of Registered Securities

On October 31, 2007, we completed the initial public offering of our common stock, pursuant to which we sold 5,000,000 shares of our common stock at the initial public
offering price of $4.00 per share. The shares of common stock sold in the offering were registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, on a registration statement on Form
S-1 (File. No. 333-140714) that was declared effective by the SEC on October 24, 2007.

The aggregate purchase price of the shares sold by us in the offering was $20 million. We paid to the underwriters underwriting discounts and commissions totaling $1.4
million in connection with the offering. In addition, we incurred additional expenses of approximately $1.5 million in connection with the offering. After deducting the underwriting
discounts and commissions and offering expenses, the estimated net proceeds to us fromthe offering were approximately $17.1 million.

We expect to use the proceeds fromour initial public offering for research and development, working capital and other general purposes. Pending such use, the net
proceeds fromthe offering have been invested in various interest-bearing money market accounts and marketable securities. None of the net proceeds fromthe offering were paid
directly or indirectly to any of our directors or officers (or their associates) or persons owning 10% or more of any class of our equity securities or to any other affiliate, other than
in the form of wages or salaries, fees and bonuses paid out in the ordinary course of business. We will retain broad discretion over the use of the net proceeds received fromour
initial public offering. The timing and amount of our actual expenditures may vary significantly depending on a number of factors, including the successful early clinical
development of our lead product candidates, cash flows from operations and the anticipated growth of our business.

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchaser

We did not repurchase any of our outstanding equity securities during the most recent quarter covered by this report.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected financial information as of and for the dates and periods indicated have been derived fromour audited consolidated financial statements. The
information set forth below is not necessarily indicative of results of future operations, and should be read in conjunction with “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operation” in Part I, Item 7 of this report and our consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this report.

Statements of Operations Data:

Revenue

Operating expenses:

Research and development

General and administrative

Total operating expenses

Other income (expense), net

Net loss before income taxes

Provision for income taxes

Net loss

Net loss per share:

Basic and diluted

Shares used in per share calculations:

Basic and diluted

Balance Sheet Data:

Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments

Working capital

Total assets

Capital lease obligation—current and non-current

Equipment loan—current and non-current

Deferred revenue—current and non-current

Convertible notes payable

Convertible preferred stock

Year Ended December 31,

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007
(in thousands, except per share data)
$ — — $ — $ 1533 § 5913
270 1,481 1,952 4,087 7421
683 1,345 1,617 2972 4368
953 2,826 3,569 7,059 11,789
(24) 2 106 240 488
977) (2,804) (3,463) (5,286) (5,388)
— — — — 12
$ (977  $(Q8M)  $ (3463)  $ (5286 (5,400)
$024) $ (06 $ 7)) S (092 S (0.60)
4,044 4378 4852 5,715 8,974
December 31,
2003 2004 2005 2006 2007
(in thousands)
$1,14 S 4047 S 3212 $11,086  $ 22353
631 3,908 2,985 7,926 18,194
1315 4359 3,562 11,866 23922
30 20 — — 86
_ _ — — 716
_ _ — 9,167 7,517
405 — _ _ _
65 164 175 192 =



Common stock and additional paid-in capital
2,258 9,127 10,869 14,683 32,797

Total stockholders’ equity
802 4,093 3,252 1,813 14,320
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ITEM7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations should be read together with our consolidated financial statements and related notes
included in Part 1V, Item 15 of this report. This discussion contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. As a result of many factors, such as those set
forth under the section entitled “Risk Factors” in Item 14 and elsewhere in this report, our actual results may differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking
statements.

Overview

We are a clinical stage biopharmaceutical company focused on developing innovative product candidates for the treatment or prevention of a wide range of infections in
hospital and non-hospital environments. Many of these infections have become increasingly difficult to treat because of the rapid rise in drug resistance. We have discovered and
are developing a class of non-antibiotic anti-infective compounds, which we have named Aganocide compounds. These compounds are based upon small molecules that are
naturally generated by white blood cells when defending the body against invading pathogens. We believe that our Aganocide compounds could forma platformon which to
create a variety of products to address differing needs in the treatment and prevention of bacterial and viral infections. In laboratory testing, our Aganocide compounds have
demonstrated the ability to destroy all bacteria against which they have been tested. Furthermore, because of their mechanism of action, we believe that bacteria are unlikely to
develop resistance to our Aganocide compounds.

In August 2006, we entered into a collaboration and license agreement with Alcon, to license to Alcon the exclusive rights to develop, manufacture and commercialize
products incorporating the Aganocide compounds for application in connection with the eye, ear and sinus and for use in contact lens solution. Under the terms of the agreement,
Alcon agreed to pay an up-front, non-refundable, non-creditable technology access fee of $10.0 million upon the effective date of the agreement. In addition to the technology
access fee, we are entitled to receive semi-annual payments from Alcon to support on-going research and development activities over the four year funding term of the agreement.
The research and development support payments include amounts to fund a specified number of personnel engaged in collaboration activities and to reimburse for qualified
equipment, materials and contract study costs. As product candidates are developed and proceed through clinical trials and approval, we will receive milestone payments. If the
products are commercialized, we will also receive royalties on any sales of products containing the Aganocide compounds. Alcon has the right to terminate the agreement in its
entirety upon nine months’ notice, or terminate portions of the agreement upon 135 days’ notice, subject to certain provisions. Both parties have the right to terminate the
agreement for breach upon 60 days’ notice.

Alcon is responsible for all of the costs that it incurs in developing the products using the Aganocide compounds. We have not achieved any milestones nor has any
product been commercialized to date. The achievement of the milestones and product commercialization is subject to many risks and uncertainties, including, but not limited to
Alcon’s ability to obtain regulatory approval fromthe FDA and Alcon’s ability to execute its clinical initiatives. Therefore, we cannot predict when, if ever, the milestones specified
in the Alcon agreement will be achieved or when we will receive royalties on sales of commercialized product.

In June 2007, we entered into a license agreement with KCI, under which we granted KCI the exclusive rights to develop, manufacture and commercialize NeutroPhase, as
well as other products containing hypochlorous acid as the principal active ingredient, worldwide for use in wound care in humans, other than products or uses intended for the
eye, ear or nose. Under the terms of the agreement, KCI paid to us a non-refundable technology access fee of $200,000. We are also entitled to receive reimbursements for qualified
consulting, materials and contract study costs. In addition, we are entitled to receive payments of up to $1.25 million if certain milestones are met. If products covered by the license
are commercially launched, we will also receive royalty payments based on net revenues fromsales by KCI of such products. KCI has the right to terminate the agreement without
penalty upon 60 days’ notice. We have the right to terminate the agreement if
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KCI has not commercially launched a product incorporating NVC-101, or any other product containing hypochlorous acid, within 18 months of the date of the agreement. Both
parties have the right to terminate the agreement for breach upon 60 days’ notice.

We cannot control whether or when KCI will launch any products incorporating NeutroPhase, or any other products containing hypochlorous acid as the principal active
ingredient, and therefore cannot predict whether or when we will receive royalties on sales of commercialized products.

To date, we have generated no revenue fromproduct sales, and we have financed our operations and internal growth primarily through the sale of our capital stock. We
have also recently begun to generate revenue under our agreements with Alcon and KCI. We are a development stage company and have incurred significant losses since
commencement of our operations in July 2002, as we have devoted substantially all of our resources to research and development. As of December 31, 2007, we had an accumulated
deficit of $18.5 million. Our accumulated deficit resulted fromresearch and development expenses and general and administrative expenses. We expect to continue to incur net
losses over the next several years as we continue our clinical and research and development activities and as we apply for patents and regulatory approvals.

Recent Events

In October 2007, we completed the initial public offering of our common stock in which we sold and issued 5,000,000 shares of our common stock, at an issue price of $4.00
per share. We raised a total of $20.0 million fromthe IPO, or approximately $17.1 million in net proceeds after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions of $1.4 million and
other offering costs of $1.5 million. Upon the closing of the IPO, all shares of convertible preferred stock outstanding automatically converted into 9,613,554 shares of common
stock. In connection with the closing of the IPO, we also issued warrants to the underwriters to purchase an aggregate of 350,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of
$4.00 per share. The warrants are exercisable on or after October 31, 2008 and expire on October 31, 2010.

In the third and fourth quarters of 2007, we completed two Phase I safety trials of NVC-422, our lead Aganocide compound, for use as a pre-surgical nasal preparation
(trademarked as AgaNase). The results fromthese studies indicate that AgaNase is safe and well tolerated.

In November 2007, we initiated Phase Il studies of AgaNase in healthy volunteers who carry S. aureus in their nasal passages. The purpose of these studies is to establish
the efficacy of AgaNase as a pre-surgical nasal preparation. We are conducting these studies to demonstrate that AgaNase can reduce the amount of S. aureus, MRSA in
particular, in the nasal passages. Used prior to surgery, we believe AgaNase should significantly reduce the number of patients who develop potentially life-threatening blood
borne infections. These studies are currently underway.

In December 2007, we filed an IND application with the FDA to initiate Phase I human clinical trials of NVC-422 for the prevention of catheter associated urinary tract
infections. In January 2008, NovaBay received clearance of the IND and the treatment phase of the study began in late February 2008.

In September 2007, we obtained approval fromthe FDA for the use of NeutroPhase in a variety of wound care applications and in February 2008 received a Notice of
Allowance on the related patent.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our financial statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States. The preparation of these financial statements
requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and labilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements as well as the reported revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. In
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preparing these financial statements, management has made its best estimates and judgments of certain amounts included in the financial statements giving due consideration to
materiality. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates and judgments related to revenue recognition, income taxes, intangible assets, long-termservice contracts and other
contingencies. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other factors that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which formthe
basis for making judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ fromthese estimates under
different assumptions or conditions.

While our significant accounting policies are more fully described in Note 2 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, included in Part IV, Item 15 of this report, we
believe that the following accounting policies are most critical to aid you in fully understanding and evaluating our reported financial results.

Revenue Recognition

License and collaboration revenue is primarily generated through agreements with strategic partners for the development and commercialization of our product candidates.
The terms of the agreements typically include non-refundable upfront fees, funding of research and development activities, payments based upon achievement of certain
milestones and royalties on net product sales. In accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Issue No. 00-21, “Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables”, we
analyze our multiple element arrangements to determine whether the elements can be separated. We perform our analysis at the inception of the arrangement and as each product or
service is delivered. If a product or service is not separable, the combined deliverables are accounted for as a single unit of accounting and recognized over the performance
obligation period. We recognize revenue in accordance with SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) No. 101, “Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements”, as amended by SAB
No. 104 (together, SAB 104). In accordance with SAB 104, revenue is recognized when the following criteria have been met: persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists; delivery
has occurred and risk of loss has passed; the seller’s price to the buyer is fixed or determinable; and collectibility is reasonably assured.

Assuming the elements meet the EITF No. 00-21 criteria for separation and the SAB 104 requirements for recognition, the revenue recognition methodology prescribed for
each unit of accounting is summarized below:

Upfiront Fees—We defer recognition of non-refundable upfront fees if we have continuing performance obligations without which the technology licensed has no utility to
the licensee. If we have continuing involvement through research and development services that are required because our know-how and expertise related to the technology is
proprietary to us, or can only be performed by us, then such up-front fees are deferred and recognized over the period of continuing involvement.

Funded Research and Development—Revenue fromresearch and development services is recognized during the period in which the services are performed and is based
upon the number of full-time-equivalent personnel working on the specific project at the agreed-upon rate. Reimbursements from collaborative partners for agreed upon direct costs
including direct materials and outsourced, or subcontracted, pre-clinical studies are classified as revenue in accordance with EITF Issue No. 99-19, “Reporting Revenue Gross as a
Principal versus Net as an Agent,” and recognized in the period the reimbursable expenses are incurred. Payments received in advance are recorded as deferred revenue until the
research and development services are performed or costs are incurred.

Milestones—Substantive milestone payments are considered to be performance bonuses that are recognized upon achievement of the milestone only if all of the following
conditions are met: the milestone payments are non-refundable; achievement of the milestone involves a degree of risk and was not reasonably assured at the inception of the
arrangement; substantive effort is involved in achieving the milestone; the amount of the milestone is reasonable in relation to the effort expended or the risk associated with
achievement of the milestone; and a reasonable amount of time passes between the up-front license payment and the first milestone
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payment as well as between each subsequent milestone payment. If any of these conditions are not met, the milestone payments are deferred and recognized as revenue over the
termof the arrangement as we complete our performance obligations.

Royalties—W e recognize royalty revenues from licensed products upon the sale of the related products.

Research and Development Costs

We charge research and development costs to expense as incurred. These costs include salaries and benefits for research and development personnel, costs associated
with clinical trials managed by contract research organizations, and other costs associated with research, development and regulatory activities. We use external service providers
to conduct clinical trials, to manufacture supplies of product candidates and to provide various other research and development-related products and services.

Patent Costs

We expense patent costs, including legal expenses, in the period in which they are incurred. Patent expenses are included as general and administrative expenses in our
statements of operations.

Stock-Based Compensation

On January 1, 2006, we adopted the fair value recognition provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 123R, “Share-Based Payment”. SFAS
No. 123R replaced SFAS No. 123 and superseded Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” and related interpretations.
Under the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123R, stock-based compensation expense is measured at the grant date for all stock-based awards to employees and
directors and is recognized as expense over the requisite service period, which is generally the vesting period. We were required to utilize the prospective application method
prescribed by SFAS No. 123R, under which prior periods are not revised for comparative purposes. Under the prospective application transition method, non-public entities that
previously used the minimum value method of SFAS No. 123 should continue to account for non-vested equity awards outstanding at the date of adoption of SFAS No. 123R in
the same manner as they had been accounted for prior to adoption. SFAS No. 123R specifically prohibits pro forma disclosures for those awards valued using the minimum value
method. The valuation and recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123R apply to new awards and to awards outstanding as of the adoption date that are subsequently modified. The
adoption of SFAS No. 123R had a material effect on our financial position and results of operations. See Note 10 for further information regarding stock-based compensation
expense and the assumptions used in estimating that expense.

Prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 123R, we valued our stock-based awards using the minimum value method and provided pro-forma information regarding stock-based
compensation and net income required by SFAS No. 123. We did not recognize stock-based compensation expense in our statements of operations for option grants to our
employees or directors for the periods prior to our adoption of SFAS No. 123R because the exercise price of options granted was generally equal to the fair market value of the
underlying common stock on the date of grant.

We account for stock compensation arrangements with non-employees in accordance with SFAS No. 123R and EITF Issue No. 96-18, “Accounting for Equity Instruments
That Are Issued to Other Than Employees for Acquiring, or in Conjunction with Selling, Goods or Services”, which require that such equity instruments are recorded at their fair
value on the measurement date. The measurement of stock-based compensation is subject to periodic adjustment as the underlying equity instruments vest. Non-employee stock-
based compensation charges are amortized over the vesting period on a straight-line basis. For stock options granted to non-employees, the fair value of the stock options is
estimated using a Black-Scholes-Merton valuation model.
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The adoption of SFAS No.123R had a material effect on our financial position and results of operations. See Note 10 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements,
included in Part IV, Item 15 of this report, for further information regarding stock-based compensation expense and the assumptions used in estimating that expense.

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes under the asset and liability method. Deferred taxassets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to
differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective taxbases and operating loss and tax credit carryforwards.
Deferred taxassets and liabilities are measured using enacted taxrates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be
recovered or settled. The effect on deferred taxassets and liabilities of a change in taxrates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date. A valuation
allowance is recognized if it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred taxasset will not be recognized.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements”. SFAS No. 157 establishes a framework for measuring the fair value of assets and labilities.
This framework is intended to provide increased consistency in how fair value determinations are made under various existing accounting standards which permit, or in some cases
require, estimates of fair market value. SFAS No. 157 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, and interim periods within those fiscal years. Earlier application
is encouraged, provided that the reporting entity has not yet issued financial statements for that fiscal year, including any financial statements for an interimperiod within that
fiscal year. We are currently assessing the impact of SFAS No. 157 on our consolidated financial position and results of operations.

In February, 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159 “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities. SFAS No. 159 permits entities to choose to measure
many financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value. Unrealized gains and losses on items for which the fair value option has been elected are reported in earnings. SFAS
No. 159 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. We are currently assessing the impact of SFAS No. 159 on our consolidated financial position and results of
operations.

In June 2007, the FASB issued EITF Issue No. 07-3, “Accounting for Nonrefundable Advance Payments for Goods or Services Received for Use in Future Research and
Development Activities”. EITF No. 07-3 requires that nonrefundable advance payments for goods or services that will be used or rendered for future research and development
activities be deferred and capitalized and recognized as an expense as the goods are delivered or the related services are performed. EITF No. 07-3 is effective, on a prospective
basis, for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2007. We are currently assessing the impact of EITF No. 07-3 on our consolidated financial position and results of operations.

Results of Operations
Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2007

License and Collaboration Revenue

Total license and collaboration revenue was $1.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2006, compared to $5.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2007. License and
collaboration revenue consisted of amounts earned under the license and collaboration agreements with Alcon and KCI for amortization of the upfront technology access fees and
amounts that have been or will be reimbursed for the funding of research and development activities performed during the period. The increase in revenue during 2007 as compared
to 2006 is attributable to the timing of the Alcon and KCI agreements, which were entered into in August 2006 and June 2007, respectively. The upfront technology access fee of
$10.0 million from Alcon will be amortized into
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revenue on a straight-line basis over the four year funding termof the agreement, through August 2010. The upfront technology access fee from KCI of $200,000 will be amortized
on a straight-line basis over 18 months through December 2008.

To the extent we earn milestone payments under the Alcon and KCI collaborations, we would expect revenues to increase. However, we cannot predict if and when we will
receive any milestones fromour collaborations.

Research and Development

Research and development expenses increased by 82% to $7.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2007 from $4.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2006. This
increase was due in part to an increase in salary and benefits expense of $1.5 million, as the average number of research and development personnel increased by 77% from 2006 to
2007, and included the hiring of several senior personnel. In connection with this increase in hiring, recruiting and relocation costs increased by $110,000 due to an increased
reliance on outside personnel recruitment firms and the funding of relocation benefits. Also, during the last three quarters of 2007, we conducted Phase I and Phase II clinical
studies for the pre-surgical nasal preparation indication, which caused our clinical expenses for the year ended December 31, 2007 to increase by $730,000 over the year ended
December 31, 2006. Additionally, increased efforts around the chemistry, manufacturing and controls related to NVC-422 resulted in an increase of $538,000 fromthe year ended
December 31, 2006 to the year ended December 31, 2007 as we produced more drug substance to support our internal research programs and Alcon collaboration requirements.
Costs for outside consultants increased by $245,000 during the year ended December 31, 2007 as a result of increased regulatory activity associated with the IND filings for the pre-
surgical nasal preparation and catheter associated urinary tract infection indications and the filing of the 510(k) application related to our NVC-101 compound, as well as due to
increased usage of manufacturing and formulation consultants in connection with the KCI agreement. The amortization of stock-based compensation increased by $121,000 from
2006 to 2007 as a result of an increased number of grants becoming subject to the SFAS No. 123R guidance.

We expect that research and development expenses will continue to increase substantially in 2008 and in subsequent years as we continue to increase our focus on
developing product candidates, both independently and in collaboration with Alcon. In particular, we are expecting to incur significant toxicology, clinical, chemistry and
manufacturing expenses during 2008 in connection with the pre-surgical nasal preparation and catheter associated urinary tract infections programs.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses increased by 47% to $4.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2007 from $3.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2006. This
increase was due in part to an increase in salary and benefits expense of $494,000 as the average number of general and administrative personnel grew by 27% from 2006 to 2007.
The increase in general and administrative expenses during the year ended December 31, 2007 was also attributable to the issuance of $360,000 in cash and stock to a consultant for
investor relations and financial advisory services and cash and stock payments of $114,000 made to our non-employee directors upon the closing of the IPO and for ongoing
director compensation. Rent expense increased by $209,000 during the year ended December 31, 2007 compared to the same period in the prior year because we leased additional
space in late 2006 and during the second and fourth quarters of 2007 to accommodate our increased personnel and expanded laboratory facilities. Accounting expenses increased
by $97,000 fromthe 2006 to the 2007 period as audit and taxactivities increased in preparation for becoming a public company.

We expect that general and administrative expenses will increase during 2008 and in subsequent years due to increasing public company expenses and business
development costs and our expanding operational infrastructure. In particular, we expect to incur increasing legal, accounting, investor relations, equity administration and
insurance costs in order to operate as a public company.
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Other Income, Net

Other income, net increased to $488,000 for the year ended December 31, 2007 from $240,000 for the year ended December 31, 2006. This increase was primarily attributable to
increased interest income eamed due to higher average cash balances as a result of the $10.0 million upfront cash amount received from Alcon in August 2006 and the $17.1 million
received upon the closing of the IPO in October 2007.

We expect that other income, net will vary based on fluctuations in our cash balances and borrowings under equipment loans and the interest rate paid on such balances
and borrowings.

Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2006

License and Collaboration Revenue

We recognized license and collaboration revenue of $1.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2006. License and collaboration revenue consisted of the current period
amortization of the upfront technology access fee and amounts received for the funding of research and development activities performed during the year in connection with our
collaboration and license agreement with Alcon.

Research and Development

Research and development expenses increased by 109% to $4.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 from $2.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2005. This
increase was due in part to an increase in salary and benefits expense of $685,000, as the number of research and development personnel more than doubled from December 31, 2005
to December 31, 2006. The increase in research and development expenses was also attributable to a $665,000 increase in toxicology and pharmacology expenses related to the
initiation of studies for NVC-422 during the year ended December 31, 2006. Additionally, an increase in expenses related to the NVC-101 clinical studies, which were concluded in
late 2006, contributed $384,000 to the increase in research and development expenses. Also, during the year ended December 31, 2006, laboratory supplies and services expenses
increased by $318,000, which was directly related to the increase in research and development personnel, which resulted in a higher level of laboratory activities. The increase in
research and development expenses for the year ended December 31, 2006 also included amortization of stock-based compensation expense of $85,000 in connection with the
adoption of SFAS No. 123R on January 1, 2006. No amounts were recognized for stock-based compensation during the year ended December 31, 2005.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses increased 84% to $3.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 from $1.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2005. This increase
was due in part to an increase in salary and benefits expense of $410,000, as the number of general and administrative personnel doubled from December 31, 2005 to December 31,
2006. The increase in general and administrative expenses was also attributable to a $272,000 increase in expenditures for audit and legal services, in large part due to the completion
of'a multi-year audit in the first quarter of 2006 and the current year audit at the end of 2006. No audit fees were recorded during 2005. Also, increased patent activity pertaining to
NVC-422 and its analogs contributed $130,000 to the increase in general and administrative expenses during the year ended December 31, 2006. This increase also included
amortization of stock-based compensation expense of $227,000 in connection with the adoption of SFAS No. 123R on January 1,2006. No amounts were recognized for stock-based
compensation during the year ended December 31, 2005. We also incurred additional expenses of $73,000 during the year ended December 31, 2006 to develop our website and
other communication capabilities. Rent expense increased by $47,000 during 2006 as we leased additional space to accommodate our increased number of personnel and expanded
laboratory facilities.
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Other Income, Net

Other income, net increased to $240,000 for the year ended December 31, 2006 from $106,000 for the year ended December 31, 2005. The increase was primarily due to
increased interest income eamed as a result of higher average cash balances due to the $10.0 million Alcon payment received in September 2006.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We have incurred cumulative net losses of $18.5 million since inception through December 31, 2007. We do not expect to generate significant revenue from product
candidates for several years. Since inception, we have funded our operations primarily through the private placement of our preferred stock. We raised total net proceeds of
$647,000 through the sale of our Series A Preferred Stock in 2002 and 2003, $3.0 million through the sale of our Series B Preferred Stock in 2003 and 2004, $5.4 million through the
sale of our Series C Preferred Stock in 2004 and 2005, and $3.6 million through the sale of our Series D Preferred Stock in 2005 and 2006. In October 2007, we completed our IPO in
which we raised a total of $20.0 million, or approximately $17.1 million in net cash proceeds after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions of $1.4 million and other
offering costs of $1.5 million.

In August 2006, we entered into a collaboration and license agreement with Alcon. Under the terms of this agreement, we received an up-front technology access fee of
$10.0 million in September 2006. Additionally, we are entitled to receive semi-annual payments each January and July over the four year term of the agreement to support on-going
research and development efforts. In both January and July 2007, we received a payment of $1.4 million to support the performance of research and development activities
throughout 2007. The Alcon agreement also provides for milestone payments upon the achievement of specified milestones in each field of use and royalty payments upon the sale
of commercialized products. The aggregate milestone payments payable in connection with the ophthalmic, otic and sinus fields are $19 million, $12 million and $39 million,
respectively. As of December 31, 2007, we have not achieved any milestone nor has any product been commercialized to date. The achievement of the milestones and product
commercialization is subject to many risks and uncertainties, including, but not limited to Alcon’s ability to obtain regulatory approval fromthe FDA and Alcon’s ability to execute
its clinical initiatives. Therefore, we cannot predict when, if ever, the milestones specified in the Alcon agreement will be achieved or when we will receive royalties on sales of
commercialized products.

In June 2007, we entered into a license agreement with KCI. Under the terms of the agreement, we received an upfront technology access fee of $200,000 in June 2007. In
addition, we are entitled to receive payments of up to $1.25 million if certain milestones are met. If products covered by the license are commercially launched, we will also receive
royalty payments based on net revenues fromsales by KCI of such products. As of December 31, 2007, we had not earned or received any milestone or royalty payments under the
KCI agreement. We cannot control whether or when KCI will launch any products incorporating NeutroPhase, or any other products containing hypochlorous acid as the principal
active ingredient, and therefore cannot predict whether or when we will receive royalties on sales of commercialized products.

During April 2007, we entered into a master security agreement to establish a $1.0 million equipment loan facility with a financial institution. The purpose of the loan is to
finance equipment purchases, principally in the build-out of our laboratory facilities. Borrowings under the loan are secured by eligible equipment purchased from January 2006
through April 2008 and will be repaid over 40 months at an interest rate equal to the greater of 5.94% over the three year Treasury rate in effect at the time of funding or 10.45%.
There are no loan covenants specified in the agreement. As of December 31, 2007, we had an outstanding equipment loan balance of $716,000 carrying a weighted-average interest
rate of 10.57%. The principal and interest due under the loan will be repaid in equal monthly installments through April 2011. As of December 31, 2007 there was $206,000 available
for borrowing under this equipment loan facility. In January 2008, we borrowed $203,000 under this equipment loan facility at an interest rate of 10.45%. Upon the close of this
funding, there was $3,000 available for borrowing under the equipment loan facility.
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In March 2008, we amended the Financial Advisory and Investor Relations Consulting Agreement dated February 13, 2007 with PM Holdings Ltd. Under the terms of the
original agreement, we agreed to pay PM Holdings $28,000 per month through February 2010 for financial and investor relations advisory services. The amendment to this
agreement eliminates the monthly cash payment obligation and instead provides for a one-time, upfront cash payment of $264,000 and the issuance of warrants to purchase 300,000
common shares at an exercise price of $4.00 per share. Under the amended agreement, no further cash or equity amounts are payable during the duration of the agreement through
February 2010. We expect to pay the upfront cash amount and issue the warrants during April 2008.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
As of December 31, 2007, we had cash, cash equivalents, and short-term investments of $22.4 million compared to $11.1 million at December 31, 2006.

Cash Provided by (Used in) Operating Activities

For the year ended December 31, 2007, cash used in operating activities of $6.3 million was primarily attributable to our net loss of $5.4 million, excluding the amounts
recognized for stock-based compensation and depreciation, which are non-cash expenses, and excluding the amounts recognized for the accretion of discount on short-term
investments, which is a non-cash revenue item. In addition, deferred revenue decreased by $1.7 million as a result of the ongoing amortization of the upfront technology access fee
received from Alcon in 2006. The cash related to this revenue item was received in 2006. Also, prepaid expenses and other assets increased by $193,000, reflecting amounts that
were paid during the period but had not yet been expensed. This amount was offset by an increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities of $397,000, in part due to the accrual
of annual bonuses of $572,000 which were expensed during the period but were not paid as of December 31, 2007.

For the year ended December 31, 2006, cash provided by operating activities of $4.7 million was attributable primarily to an increase in deferred revenue related to the $10.0
million upfront technology access fee received from Alcon and an increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities reflecting amounts that were expensed during the period but
not paid until after December 31, 2006. This amount was offset by our net loss of $5.3 million, excluding the amounts recognized for stock-based compensation and depreciation,
which are non-cash expenses.

Cash Used in Investing Activities

For the year ended December 31, 2007, cash used in investing activities of $5.7 million was attributable to purchases of short-terminvestments (net of maturities or sales) of
$5.0 million and purchases of property and equipment of $663,000.

For the year ended December 31, 2006, cash used in investing activities of $5.5 million was attributable to purchases of short-terminvestments (net of maturities or sales) of
$5.2 million and purchases of property and equipment of $362,000.

Cash Provided by Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities of $18.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2007 was primarily attributable to the net proceeds of $17.1 million received upon
the close of the IPO and $794,000 in proceeds fromborrowings under our equipment loan.

Net cash provided by financing activities of $3.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 was attributable to sales of preferred stock of $2.6 million and proceeds from
option and warrant exercises of $1.0 million, partially offset by $93,000 of costs incurred in preparation for our initial public offering.
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We believe our cash balance at December 31, 2007 is sufficient to fund our projected operating requirements through at least the next twelve months. However, we will need
to raise additional capital or incur indebtedness to continue to fund our operations in the future. Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including:

the scope, rate of progress and cost of our pre-clinical studies and clinical trials and other research and development activities;

future clinical trial results;

the terms and timing of any collaborative, licensing and other arrangements that we may establish;

the cost and timing of regulatory approvals;

the cost of establishing clinical and commercial supplies of our product candidates and any products that we may develop;

the effect of competing technological and market developments;

the cost of filing, prosecuting, defending and enforcing any patent claims and other intellectual property rights; and

the extent to which we acquire or invest in businesses, products and technologies, although we currently have no commitments or agreements relating to any of
these types of transactions.

We do not anticipate that we will generate significant product revenue for a number of years. Until we can generate a sufficient amount of product revenue, if ever, we
expect to finance future cash needs through public or private equity offerings, debt financings or corporate collaboration and licensing arrangements, as well as through interest
income eamed on cash balances and short-term investments. To the extent that we raise additional funds by issuing equity securities, our shareholders may experience dilution. In
addition, debt financing, if available, may involve restrictive covenants. To the extent that we raise additional funds through collaboration and licensing arrangements, it may be
necessary to relinquish some rights to our technologies or product candidates, or grant licenses on terms that are not favorable to us. If adequate funds are not available, we may
be required to delay, reduce the scope of or eliminate one or more of our research or development programs or to obtain funds through collaborations for some of our technologies
or product candidates that we would otherwise seek to develop on our own. Such collaborations may not be on favorable terms or they may require us to relinquish rights to our
technologies or product candidates.
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Quarterly Results of Operations

The following table presents unaudited quarterly results of operations for the eight quarters ended December 31, 2007. This information has been derived from our
unaudited financial statements and has been prepared by us on a basis consistent with our audited annual financial statements and includes all adjustments, consisting only of
normal recurring adjustments, which management considers necessary for a fair presentation of the information for the periods presented.

Three Months Ended
Mar. 31, June 30, Sept. 30, Dec. 31, Mar. 31, June 30, Sept. 30, Dec. 31,
2006 2006 2006 2006 2007 2007 2007 2007
(in thousands, except per share data)

Statement of Operations Data:

Revenue
$§ — $ — $ 208 $ 1325 $ 148 $ 1465 § 144 $§ 1521
Operating expenses:
Research and development
531 788 1,122 1,646 1,463 2,066 2,051 1,841
General and administrative
717 714 634 907 1,035 1,069 1,021 1,243
Total operating expenses
1,248 1,502 1,756 2,553 2,498 3,135 3,072 3,084
Other income, net
30 9 58 143 122 113 72 181
Net loss before income taxes
(1,218) (1,493) (1,490) (1,085) (893) (1,557) (1,556) (1,382)
Provision for income taxes
— — — — — — 12

Net loss
$(1,218) $(1493) $(1,490) $(1,085) $ (893) $(1,557) § (1,556) $ (1,394)

Net loss per share:

Basic and diluted
$ 024 $ (028 $ 0249 $ ©017) $ (0149 $ 024 $ (024 $ (009

Shares used in per share calculations:

Basic and diluted
5,066 5,258 6,234 6,281 6,416 6,500 6,564 16,332

Net Operating Losses and Tax Credit Carryforwards

As of December 31, 2007 we had net operating loss carryforwards for both federal and state income tax purposes of $10.1 million. If not utilized, the federal and state net
operating loss carryforwards will begin expiring at various dates between 2014 and 2027. Current federal and California tax laws include substantial restrictions on the utilization of
net operating loss carryforwards in the event of an ownership change of a corporation. Accordingly, our ability to utilize net operating loss carryforwards may be limited as a result
of'such ownership changes. Such a limitation could result in the expiration of carryforwards before they are utilized.

Inflation
We do not believe that inflation has had a material impact on our business and operating results during the periods presented, and we do not expect it to have a material

impact in the near future. There can be no assurances, however, that our business will not be affected by inflation.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have no off-balance sheet arrangements.



Table of Contents

Contractual Obligations

Our contractual cash commitments as of December 31, 2007 were as follows:

Payment Due By Period

Contractual Obligations: Less than More than
Total 1 year 1-3 years 3-5 years 5 years
(in thousands)

Operating leases

$3,121 $ 719 $ 1,334 $ 864 $ 14
Capital lease
97 45 52 — —
Equipment loan
837 284 518 35 —

Total
$4,055 $ 1,108 $ 1,904 $ 899 $ 144

Our commitments under the operating leases shown above consist of payments relating to sixleases for laboratory and office space in one office building in Emeryville,
California. These leases have a range of expiration dates beginning on October 31, 2009 and ending on May 31, 2013.

Our commitment under the capital lease shown above consists of the total payments due under one lease of laboratory equipment. This amount includes $11,000 of interest
payments over the remaining termof the lease.

Our commitment under the equipment loan shown above consists of the total payments due under the loan facility. This amount includes $121,000 of interest payments over
the remaining term of the loan.

ITEM7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Our concentration of credit risk consists principally of cash, cash equivalents, and short-term investments. Our exposure to market risk is limited primarily to interest income
sensitivity, which is affected by changes in interest rates, particularly because the majority of our investments are in short-term debt securities.

Our investment policy restricts our investments to high-quality investments and limits the amounts invested with any one issuer, industry, or geographic area. The goals of
our investment policy are as follows: preservation of capital; assurance of liquidity needs; best available return on invested capital; and minimization of capital taxation. Some of the
securities in which we invest may be subject to market risk. This means that a change in prevailing interest rates may cause the principal amount of the investment to fluctuate. For
example, if we hold a security that was issued with an interest rate fixed at the then-prevailing rate and the prevailing interest rate later rises, the principal amount of our investment
will probably decline. To minimize this risk, in accordance with our investment policy, we maintain our cash and cash equivalents in short-term marketable securities, including
money market mutual funds, Treasury bills, Treasury notes, commercial paper, and corporate and municipal bonds. The risk associated with fluctuating interest rates is limited to
our investment portfolio. Due to the short termnature of our investment portfolio, we believe we have minimal interest rate risk arising fromour investments. We do not use
derivative financial instruments in our investment portfolio.

To date, we have operated exclusively in the United States and have not had any material exposure to foreign currency rate fluctuations. We have recently formed a wholly-
owned subsidiary, which is incorporated under the laws of British Columbia (Canada), which may conduct research and development activities in Canada. To the extent we conduct
operations in Canada, fluctuations in the exchange rates of the U.S. and Canadian currencies may affect our operating results.

ITEM . FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The financial statements required by this Item 8 is set forth in Part IV, Item 15 of this report and is hereby incorporated into this Item 8 by reference. Our quarterly financial
information is set forth in Item 7 of this report and is hereby incorporated into this Item 8 by reference.
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ITEM9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM9A(T). CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

This annual report does not include a report of management’s assessment regarding internal control over financial reporting or an attestation report of our registered public
accounting firmdue to a transition period established by rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission for newly public companies.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As ofthe end of the period covered by this report, we carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to Rule 13a-15 and 15d-15 of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and
procedures were effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized
and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms and were effective in ensuring that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file
or submit under the Exchange Act was accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to
allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control systemare met.
Further, the design ofa control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Assessing
the costs and benefits of such controls and procedures necessarily involves the exercise of judgment by management. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no
evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, have been detected.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

During the fiscal quarter covered by this report, there were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting, identified by our Chief Executive Officer or our Chief
Financial Officer in connection with the evaluation of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures, that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

On March 12, 2008, we amended the Financial Advisory and Investor Relations Consulting Agreement dated February 13, 2007 with PM Holdings Ltd. Under the terms of
the original agreement, we agreed to pay PM Holdings $28,000 per month through February 2010 for financial and investor relations advisory services. The amendment to this
agreement eliminates the monthly cash payment obligation and instead provides for a one-time, upfront cash payment of $264,000 and the issuance of warrants to purchase 300,000
common shares at an exercise price of $4.00 per share. Under the amended agreement, no further cash or equity amounts are payable during the duration of the agreement through
February 2010. We expect to pay the upfront cash amount and issue the warrants during April 2008.
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PART III

ITEM10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Itemincorporated by reference to the definitive proxy statement to be filed relating to our 2008 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

ITEM11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
Itemincorporated by reference to the definitive proxy statement to be filed relating to our 2008 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND REL ATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Itemincorporated by reference to the definitive proxy statement to be filed relating to our 2008 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

ITEM13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
Itemincorporated by reference to the definitive proxy statement to be filed relating to our 2008 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES
Item incorporated by reference to the definitive proxy statement to be filed relating to our 2008 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) Documents filed as part of this report:

(1) Financial Statements. The following financial statements of NovaBay Pharmaceuticals, Inc. are included in a separate section of this Annual Report on Form 10-K

commencing on the pages referenced below:

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Consolidated Balance Sheets

Consolidated Statements of Operations

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(2) Financial Statement Schedules.
All'schedules have been omitted because they are not required or the required information is included in our consolidated financial statements and notes thereto.

(3) Exhibits.

The following exhibits are filed or furnished herewith or incorporated by reference to the location indicated below:

Exhibit Description
No.
3.1%* Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of registrant
Amended and Restated Bylaws of registrant
Specimen common stock certificate
4.1*
2002 Stock Option Plan, and forms of agreements thereto
10.1+*
2005 Stock Option Plan, and forms of agreements thereto
10.2+*
2007 Omnibus Incentive Plan, and forms of agreements thereto
10.3+*
Employment Agreement dated January 1, 2007 by and between the Registrant and Ramin (“Ron”) Najafi
10.4+*
Employment Agreement dated January 1, 2007 by and between the Registrant and John (“Jack”) O’Reilly
10.5+*
Employment Agreement dated January 1, 2007 by and between the Registrant and Behzad Khosrovi
10.6+*
Employment Agreement dated January 1, 2007 by and between the Registrant and Colin Scott
10.7+*
Stock Option Grant dated May 23, 2002 by and between the Registrant and John (“Jack”) O’Reilly
10.8+*
Stock Option Grant dated January 30, 2004 by and between the Registrant and Behzad Khosrovi
10.9+*
Office Lease dated June 3, 2004 by and between the Registrant and Emery Station Associates II, LLC, as amended
10.10*

F-2
F-3

F-4

F-5

F-7

F-8
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Exhibit Description.
No.
Collaboration and License Agreement dated August 29, 2006 by and between the Registrant and Alcon Manufacturing, Ltd.
10.119*
Financial Advisory and Investor Relations Consulting Agreement dated February 13, 2007 by and between the Registrant and PM Holdings Ltd.
10.12*
Director Compensation Plan
10.13*
Master Security Agreement dated April 23, 2007 by and between the Registrant and General Electric Capital Corporation
10.14*
License Agreement dated June 11, 2007 by and between us and KCI International VOF GP
10.15+*
Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant by and between the Registrant and the underwriters
10.16*
Formof Registration Rights Agreement by and between the Registrant and the underwriters
10.17*
Employment Agreement dated January 9, 2008 by and between the Registrant and Thomas J. Paulson
10.18+

Amendment #1 dated March 12, 2008 to Financial Advisory and Investor Relations Consulting Agreement dated February 13, 2007 by and between the
10.19 Registrant and PM Holdings Ltd.

Fifth Amendment dated November 20, 2007 to Office Lease dated June 3, 2004 by and between the Registrant and Emery Station Associates II, LLC, as amended

10.20

Consent of Davidson & Company LLP
23.1

Certification of the principal executive officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
31.1

Certification of the principal financial officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
312

Certification of the chief executive officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
32.1

Certification of the chief financial officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
322

*  Incorporated by reference to the exhibit of the same number from the Company’s registration statement of Form S-1 (File No. 333-140714) initially filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on February 14, 2007, as amended.

** Incorporated by reference to the exhibit of the same number fromthe Company’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2007 as filed with the SEC
on November 15, 2007.

+  Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement

+  NovaBay Pharmaceuticals, Inc. has been granted confidential treatment with respect to certain portions of this exhibit (indicated by asterisks), which have been separately
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report on Form 10-K to be signed on its behalf
by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Date: March 14, 2008 NOVABAY PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
By: /S RAMIN NAJAFI

Ramin (“Ron”) Najafi
Chief Executive Officer and President

POWER OF ATTORNEY

We, the undersigned officers and directors of NovaBay Pharmaceuticals, Inc., do hereby constitute and appoint Ramin (“Ron”) Najafi and Thomas J. Paulson, and each of
them, our true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, each with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for himand in his name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to
sign any and all amendments to this report, and to file the same, with exhibits thereto, and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission,
granting unto said attomeys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and performeach and every act and thing requisite or necessary to be done in and
about the premises, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby, ratifying and confirming all that each of said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or his
substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report on Form 10-K has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant in
the capacities and on the dates indicated:

Signature Title Date
/S RAMIN NAJAFI Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and President March 14, 2008
Ramin (“Ron”) Najafi (principal executive officer)
/S THOMAS PAULSON Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer (principal financial and March 14, 2008
Thomas J. Paulson accounting officer)
/S JACK O’REILLY Director and Senior Vice President, Corporate and Business March 14, 2008
John (“Jack”) O’Reilly Development
/S CHARLESJ. CASHION Director March 14, 2008
Charles J. Cashion
/S ANTHONY DAILLEY Director March 14, 2008
Anthony Dailley, DDS
/S PAUL FREIMAN Director March 14, 2008
Paul E. Freiman
/S ALEX MCPHERSON Director March 14, 2008
Alex McPherson, MD, Ph.D.
/S ROBERT R. TUFTS Director March 14, 2008
Robert R. Tufts
/S TONY WICKS Director March 14, 2008
Tony Wicks
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INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2006 and 2007

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007 and for the cumulative period from July 1, 2002 (date of development stage

inception) to December 31, 2007

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity as of December 31, 2002, 2003, 2004, 2005, 2006 and 2007

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31. 2005. 2006 and 2007 and for the cumulative period from July 1, 2002 (date of development stage

inception) to December 31, 2007

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGIS TERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and the Stockholders of
NovaBay Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of NovaBay Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (a development stage company) as at December 31, 2007 and 2006 and
the related consolidated statements of operations, cash flows and stockholders’ equity for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 and for the period from July 1, 2002
(date of development stage inception) to December 31, 2007. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and
performthe audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as at December 31, 2007
and 2006 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 and for the period from July 1, 2002 (date of development stage
inception) to December 31, 2007 in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America.

/s/ Davidson & Company LLP

Chartered Accountants

Vancouver, Canada
February 8, 2008

F-2
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ASSETS

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents

Short-term investments

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Total current assets

Property and equipment, net

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Liabilities:

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable

Accrued liabilities

Capital lease obligation

Equipment loan

Deferred revenue

Total current liabilities

Capital lease obligation—non-current

Equipment loan—non-current

Deferred revenue—non-current

Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies (note 8)

Stockholders’ Equity:

Preferred stock, $0.01 par value; 0 and 5,000 shares authorized at December 31, 2006 and 2007, respectively; no shares issued or outstanding at all periods

Convertible preferred stock

Series A, $0.01 par value; 4,000 and 0 shares authorized at December 31, 2006 and 2007, respectively; 3,215 and 0 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2006 and 2007,

NOVABAY PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
(a development stage company)

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thous ands, except per share data)

respectively; liquidation value of $1,286 and $0 at December 31, 2006 and 2007, respectively

_December31,

2006

$ 4,903

6,183

226

11,312

554

$§ 11,866

521

2,500

—_—

3,386

6,667

10,053

2007

$ 10,941

11,412

419

22,772

1,150

$ 23922

1,141

37

219

3,039

—_7

4,578

49

497

4,478

—_T0

9,602



32 =

Series B, $0.01 par value; 7,000 and O shares authorized at December 31, 2006 and 2007, respectively; 6,865 and 0 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2006 and 2007,
respectively; liquidation value of $3,226 and $0 at December 31, 2006 and 2007, respectively

69 —
Series C, $0.01 par value; 8,000 and 0 shares authorized at December 31, 2006 and 2007, respectively; 6,666 and 0 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2006 and 2007,
respectively; liquidation value of $5,667 and $0 at December 31, 2006 and 2007, respectively
67 —
Series D, $0.01 par value; 20,000 and 0 shares authorized at December 31, 2006 and 2007, respectively; 2,481 and 0 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2006 and 2007,
respectively; liquidation value of $3,722 and $0 at December 31, 2006 and 2007, respectively
24 —
Total convertible preferred stock
192 —
Common stock, $0.01 par value; 64,000 and 65,000 shares authorized at December 31, 2006 and 2007, respectively; 6,311 and 21,269 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2006 and
2007, respectively
63 212
Additional paid-in capital
14,620 32,585
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
12 3)

Accumulated deficit during development stage

13,074) (18,474)

Total stockholders’ equity
1,813 14,320

o i

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
$ 11,866 $ 23922

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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License and collaboration revenue

Total revenue

EXPENSES

Operating Expenses:

Research and development

General and administrative

Total operating expenses

Other income, net

Net loss before income taxes

Provision for income taxes

Net loss

Net loss per share:

Basic and diluted

Shares used in per share calculations:

Basic and diluted

NOVABAY PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
(a development stage company)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thous ands, except per share data)

Year Ended December 31, Cumulative

Period from

July 1, 2002

(date of

development
stage inception)
to December 31,

2005 2006 2007 2007

§ — $ 1,533 $ 5913 $ 7,446
— 1,533 5913 7,446
1,952 4,087 7421 15,412
1,617 2,972 4,368 11,328
3,569 7,059 11,789 26,740
106 240 488 832
(3,463) (5,286) (5,38%) (18,462)
— — 12 12
$(3,463) $(5,286) $ (5,400) $  (18474)

$ (0.71) $ (0.92) $ (0.60)

4,852 5,715 8,974

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NOVABAY PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

(a development stage company)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Balance at July 1, 2002

Comprehensive loss:

Net loss

Total comprehensive loss

Issuance of Series A preferred stock and common stock for acquisition of LLC

Stock-based compensation expense related to non-employee stock options

Sale of stock warrants

Balance at December 31, 2002

Comprehensive loss:

Net loss

Total comprehensive loss

Issuance of Series A preferred stock

Issuance of Series B preferred stock net of issuance costs of $86

Issuance of stock

Issuance of stock for option exercises

Issuance of stock for warrant exercises

Stock-based compensation expense related to non-employee stock options

Balance at December 31, 2003

Comprehensive loss:

Net loss

Total comprehensive loss

Issuance of Series B preferred stock net ofissuance costs of $127

Issuance of Series B preferred stock upon conversion of notes

Issuance of Series C preferred stock net of issuance costs of $123

Issuance of stock for option exercises

(in thous ands)
Preferred Stock C Stock Accumulated
Accumulated Deficit
Additional Stock Other During Total
Paid-In Subscription Comprehensive Develop Stockholders’
Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Receivable Income (Loss) Stage Equity
i s — — $ — $ — $ = $ = $ =
— — — — — — — (544) (544
(544)
2,723 27 3,902 39 462 — — — 528
— — - — 15 — — — 15
P P — e — 10 — — — 10
2,723 27 3,902 39 487 — — (544) 9
_ _ _ _ _ — — 977) 977
©77)
492 5 — — 192 — — — 197
3,258 33 — — 1,413 — — — 1,446
— — 25 7 — — — 7
— — 40 1 7 — — — 8
— — 137 1 109 — — — 110
- - — — 2 — — — 2
6,473 65 4,104 41 2,217 — — (1,521) 802
_ _ — — — — — (2,804) (2,804)
(2,804)
2,694 27 — — 1,112 — — — 1,139
913 9 — — 420 — — — 429
6,311 63 — — 5,178 (873) — — 4,368



Issuance of stock for warrant exercises

Issuance of stock for Series B offring costs

Issuance of stock for services

Stock-based compensation expense related to non-employee stock options

Balance at December 31, 2004

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NOVABAY PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
(a development stage company)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY—(Continued)

Comprehensive loss:

Net loss

Change in unrealized gains (losses) on investments

Total comprehensive loss

Issuance of Series C prefrred stock net ofissuance costs of $140

Issuance of Series D preferred stock net of issuance costs of $36

Issuance of stock for option exercises

Issuance of stock for warrant exercises

Issuance of stock and options for Series C offering costs

Issuance of stock for services

Stock-based compensation expense related to non-employee stock options

Proceeds from stock subscription receivable

Balance at December 31, 2005

Comprehensive loss:

Net loss

Change in unrealized gains (losses) on investments

Total comprehensive loss

Issuance of Series D preferred stock net of issuance costs of $114

Issuance of stock for option exercises

Issuance of stock for warrant exercises

Issuance of stock and options for Series D offering costs

Issuance of stock for services

Initial public offering costs

Stock-based compensation expense related to employee and director stock options

Stock-based compensation expense related to non-employee stock options

Balance at December 31, 2006

(in thous ands)
Preferred Stock C Stock Accumulated
Accumulated Deficit
Additional Stock During Total

Paid-In Subscription ive lop Stockholders’

Shares  Amount  Shares  Amount Capital Receivable Income (Loss) Stage Equity
— — — — — — — (3,463) (3,463)
_ — — — — — @) N C)
(3,467)
355 4 — — 158 — — — 162
742 7 — — 1,070 — — — 1,077
— — 50 — 12 — — = 12
— — 292 3 324 — — — 327
— — 164 2 101 — — — 103
— — 20 — 17 — — — 17
— — — — 55 — — — 55
- — — 873 — — 873
17,488  __ 175 5,049 50 10,819 — ) (7,788) 3,252
_ — — — — — — (5,286) (5,286)
_ — — — — — 16 — 16
(5,270)
1,739 17 — — 2,477 — — — 2,494
— — 80 1 22 — — — 23
— — 1,148 12 964 — — — 976
— — 31 — 64 — — — 64
i — 3 — 5 — — — 5
— — — — ©3) — — — ©3)
_ - — — 313 — — — 313
— — — — 49 — — — 49




Comprehensive loss:

Net loss

Change in unrealized gains (losses) on investments

Total comprehensive loss

Conversion of preferred stock to common stock in connection with IPO

(19,227) (192)

Issuance of stock and warrants in connection with IPO, net of offering costs

Issuance of stock for option exercises

Issuance of stock for services

Issuance of stock for director compensation

Stock-based compensation expense related to employee and director stock options

Stock-based compensation expense related to non-employee stock options

Balance at December 31, 2007

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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96 96 — — _

50 17,120 — — 17,170

3 111 — — 114
_ 92 — — 92
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_ 118 = — 118
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASHFLOWS

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net loss

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash
provided by (used in) operating activities:

Depreciation

Accretion of discount on short-term investments

Net realized loss on sales of short-term investments

Loss on disposal of property and equipment

Stock-based compensation expense for options and stock issued to employees and directors

Stock-based compensation expense for options and stock issued to non-employees

Taxes paid by LLC

Net change in assets and liabilities:

(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses and other assets

Increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities

Increase (decrease) in deferred revenue

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities:

Purchases of property and equipment

Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment

Purchases of short-term investments

Proceeds from maturities and sales of short-term investments

Cash acquired in purchase of LLC

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities:

Proceeds from preferred stock issuances, net of offering costs

(in thous ands)
Year Ended December 31, Cumulative
Period from
July 1, 2002
(date of
development
stage inception)
to December 31,
2005 2006 2007 2007
$(3,463) $ (5,286) $ (5,400) $ (18,474)
48 74 183 400
— (32) (246) 278)
12 20 — 32
— 1 — 121
— 313 428 741
71 54 210 363
— — — 1
38 (143) (193) (414)
64 576 397 1,308
— 9,167 (1,650) 7,517
(3,230) 4,744 (6,271) (8,683)
(123) (362) (663) (1,550)
1 1 1 44
(1,957) (11,293) (49,197) (62,447)
936 6,141 44,199 51,276
= — — 516
(1,143) (5,513) (5,660) (12,161)
1,342 2,558 — 11,160



Proceeds from sales of common stock and warrants

— — — 17
Proceeds from exercise of options and warrants
339 999 114 1,608
Proceeds ffom initial public ofring, net of offering costs
— 93) 17,170 17,077
Proceeds from stock subscription receivable
873 — — 873
Proceeds flom issuance of notes
— — — 405
Principal payments on capital lease obligation
(20) — 31 (71)
Proceeds fiom borrowings under equipment loan
— — 794 794
Principal payments on equipment loan
— — (78) (78)
Net cash provided by financing activities
2,534 3,464 17,969 31,785
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
(1,839) 2,695 6,038 10,941
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period
4,047 2,208 4,903 —
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period
$2,208 4,903 $10,941 10,941
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Interest paid
$ 1 2 $ 34 44
Income taxes paid
= — $ — —
Non-cash activities:
Conversion ofnotes and accrued interest to preferred stock
$ — — s — 429
Issuance of'stock for subscription receivable
$ — — $ — 873
Issuance of stock, options and warrants for stock oféring costs
$ 103 64 $ 524 801
Current assets and property and equipment acquired in acquisition of LLC
$ — — A — 11
Property and equipment acquired under capital lease obligations
$ — — $ 117 157

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NOVABAY PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
(a development stage company)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE1. ORGANIZATION

NovaBay Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Company”) is a clinical stage biopharmaceutical company focused on developing innovative product candidates for the treatment or
prevention of a wide range of infections in hospital and non-hospital environments. Many of these infections have become increasingly difficult to treat because of the rapid rise in
drug resistance. We have discovered and are developing a class of non-antibiotic anti-infective compounds, which we have named Aganocide compounds. These compounds are
based upon small molecules that are naturally generated by white blood cells when defending the body against invading pathogens. We believe that our Aganocide compounds
could forma platform on which to create a variety of products to address differing needs in the treatment and prevention of bacterial and viral infections. In laboratory testing, our
Aganocide compounds have demonstrated the ability to destroy all bacteria against which they have been tested. Furthermore, because of their mechanism of action, we believe
that bacteria are unlikely to develop resistance to our Aganocide compounds.

We were incorporated under the laws of the State of California on January 19, 2000 as NovaCal Pharmaceuticals, Inc. We had no operations until July 1, 2002, on which date
we acquired all of the operating assets of NovaCal Pharmaceuticals, LLC, a California limited liability company. In February 2007, we changed our name from NovaCal
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. to NovaBay Pharmaceuticals, Inc. In August 2007, we formed two subsidiaries—NovaBay Pharmaceuticals Canada, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary
incorporated under the laws of British Columbia (Canada), which may conduct research and development in Canada, and DermaBay, Inc., a wholly-owned U.S. subsidiary, which
will explore and pursue dermatological opportunities. We currently operate in one business segment.

In October 2007, we completed an initial public offering of our common stock (“IPO”) in which we sold and issued 5,000,000 shares of our common stock at a price to the
public of $4.00 per share. We raised a total of $20.0 million from the IPO, or approximately $17.1 million in net cash proceeds after deducting underwriting discounts and
commissions of $1.4 million and other offering costs of $1.5 million. Upon the closing of the IPO, all shares of convertible preferred stock outstanding automatically converted into
9,613,554 shares of common stock. In connection with the IPO, we also issued warrants to the underwriters to purchase an aggregate of 350,000 shares of common stock at an
exercise price of $4.00 per share. The warrants are exercisable on or after October 31, 2008 and expire on October 31, 2010.

NOTE2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements include our accounts and the accounts of our wholly owned subsidiaries. Intercompany transactions and balances have been
eliminated. The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“U.S.
GAAP”) and are expressed in U.S. dollars. The financial statements have been prepared under the guidelines of Statement of Financial Accounting Standard (“SFAS”) No. 7,
“Accounting and Reporting by Development Stage Enterprises”. A development stage enterprise is one in which planned principal operations have not commenced, or if its
operations have commenced, there have been no significant revenues therefrom. As of December 31, 2007, we had not commenced our planned principal operations.

Certain amounts for prior periods have been reclassified to conformto current period presentation.
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NOVABAY PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
(a development stage company)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries, NovaBay Pharmaceuticals Canada, Inc. and
DermaBay, Inc. All inter-company accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Reverse Stock Split

On August 10, 2007, we filed an amendment to our articles of incorporation to effect a 1-for-2 reverse stock split of our common stock. All share and per share amounts
relating to the common stock, stock options and warrants and the conversion ratios of preferred stock included in the financial statements and footnotes have been restated to
reflect the reverse stock split.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting
period. Actual results could differ fromthose estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents and Short-Term Investments

We consider all highly liquid instruments with a stated maturity of three months or less to be cash and cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents are stated at cost, which
approximate their fair value. As of December 31, 2007, our cash and cash equivalents were held in financial institutions in the United States and include deposits in money market
funds, which were unrestricted as to withdrawal or use.

We classify all highly liquid investments with a stated maturity of greater than three months as short-term investments. Short-terminvestments generally consist of United
States government, municipal and corporate debt securities. We have classified our short-term investments as available-for-sale. We do not intend to hold securities with stated
maturities greater than twelve months until maturity. In response to changes in the availability of and the yield on alternative investments as well as liquidity requirements, we
occasionally sell these securities prior to their stated maturities. These securities are carried at fair value, with the unrealized gains and losses reported as a component of other
comprehensive income (loss) until realized. Realized gains and losses fromthe sale of available-for-sale securities, if any, are determined on a specific identification basis. A decline
in the market value below cost of any available-for-sale security that is determined to be other than temporary results in a revaluation of'its carrying amount to fair value and an
impairment charge to earnings, resulting in a new cost basis for the security. No such impairment charges were recorded for the periods presented. Premiums and discounts are
amortized or accreted over the life of the related security as an adjustment to yield using the straight-line method. The amortization and accretion, interest income and realized gains
and losses are included in other income, net within the consolidated statements of operations. Interest income is recognized when eamed.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments which potentially subject us to significant concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents and short-terminvestments. We
maintain deposits of cash, cash equivalents and short-terminvestments with three highly-rated, major financial institutions in the United States.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

Deposits in these banks may exceed the amount of federal insurance provided on such deposits. We do not believe we are exposed to significant credit risk due to the financial
position of the financial institutions in which these deposits are held. Additionally, we have established guidelines regarding diversification and investment maturities, which are
designed to maintain safety and liquidity.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, accounts payable and accrued liabilities are carried at cost, which management believes approximates fair value
due to the short-termnature of these instruments. The fair value of capital lease obligations and equipment loans approximates its carrying amounts as a market rate of interest is
attached to their repayment.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated
useful lives of the related assets of five to seven years for office and laboratory equipment, three years for software and seven years for furniture and fixtures. Leasehold
improvements are depreciated on the shorter of seven years or the life of the lease term. Depreciation of assets recorded under capital leases is included in depreciation expense.

The costs of normal maintenance, repairs, and minor replacements are charged to operations when incurred.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

We account for long-lived assets in accordance with SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to be
Disposed of”, which requires that companies consider whether events or changes in facts and circumstances, both internally and externally, may indicate that an impairment of
long-lived assets held for use are present. Management periodically evaluates the carrying value of long-lived assets and has determined that there was no impairment as ofall
periods presented. Should there be impairment in the future, we would recognize the amount of the impairment based on the expected future cash flows fromthe impaired assets.
The cash flow estimates would be based on management’s best estimates, using appropriate and customary assumptions and projections at the time.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

Accumulated other comprehensive income consists of unrealized gains and losses on short-terminvestments classified as available-for-sale.

Revenue Recognition

License and collaboration revenue is primarily generated through agreements with strategic partners for the development and commercialization of our product candidates.
The terms of the agreements typically include non-refundable upfront fees, funding of research and development activities, payments based upon achievement of certain
milestones and royalties on net product sales. In accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Issue No. 00-21, “Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables”, we
analyze our multiple element arrangements to determine whether the elements can be separated. We performour analysis at the inception of the arrangement and as each product or
service is delivered. If a product or service is not separable, the combined deliverables are accounted for as a single unit of accounting and recognized over the performance
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

obligation period. We recognize revenue in accordance with SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) No. 101, “Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements”, as amended by SAB
No. 104 (together, “SAB 104”). In accordance with SAB 104, revenue is recognized when the following criteria have been met: persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists;
delivery has occurred and risk of loss has passed; the seller’s price to the buyer is fixed or determinable; and collectibility is reasonably assured.

Assuming the elements meet the EITF No. 00-21 criteria for separation and the SAB 104 requirements for recognition, the revenue recognition methodology prescribed for
each unit of accounting is summarized below:

Upfront Fees—W e defer recognition of non-refundable upfront fees if we have continuing performance obligations without which the technology licensed has no utility to
the licensee. If we have continuing involvement through research and development services that are required because our know-how and expertise related to the technology is
proprietary to us, or can only be performed by us, then such up-front fees are deferred and recognized over the period of continuing involvement.

Funded Research and Development—Revenue fromresearch and development services is recognized during the period in which the services are performed and is based
upon the number of full-time-equivalent personnel working on the specific project at the agreed-upon rate. Reimbursements from collaborative partners for agreed upon direct costs
including direct materials and outsourced, or subcontracted, pre-clinical studies are classified as revenue in accordance with EITF Issue No. 99-19, “Reporting Revenue Gross as a
Principal versus Net as an Agent,” and recognized in the period the reimbursable expenses are incurred. Payments received in advance are recorded as deferred revenue until the
research and development services are performed or costs are incurred.

Milestones—Substantive milestone payments are considered to be performance bonuses that are recognized upon achievement of the milestone only if all of the following
conditions are met: the milestone payments are non-refundable; achievement of the milestone involves a degree of risk and was not reasonably assured at the inception of the
arrangement; substantive effort is involved in achieving the milestone; the amount of the milestone is reasonable in relation to the effort expended or the risk associated with
achievement of the milestone; and a reasonable amount of time passes between the up-front license payment and the first milestone payment as well as between each subsequent
milestone payment. If any of these conditions are not met, the milestone payments are deferred and recognized as revenue over the term of the arrangement as we complete our
performance obligations.

Royalties—W e recognize royalty revenues fromlicensed products upon the sale of the related products.

Advertising Costs

There were no advertising costs incurred for any of the periods presented.

Research and Development Costs

We charge research and development costs to expense as incurred. These costs include salaries and benefits for research and development personnel, costs associated
with clinical trials managed by contract research organizations, and other costs associated with research, development and regulatory activities. We use external service providers
to conduct clinical trials, to manufacture supplies of product candidates and to provide various other research and development-related products and services.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

Patent Costs

We expense patent costs, including legal expenses, in the period in which they are incurred. Patent expenses are included as general and administrative expenses in our
statements of operations.

Stock-Based Compensation

On January 1, 2006, we adopted the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123R, “Share-Based Payment”. SFAS No. 123R replaced SFAS No. 123 and superseded
Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” and related interpretations. Under the fair value recognition provisions of
SFAS No. 123R, stock-based compensation expense is measured at the grant date for all stock-based awards to employees and directors and is recognized as expense over the
requisite service period, which is generally the vesting period. We were required to utilize the prospective application method prescribed by SFAS No. 123R, under which prior
periods are not revised for comparative purposes. Under the prospective application transition method, non-public entities that previously used the minimum value method of
SFAS No. 123 should continue to account for non-vested equity awards outstanding at the date of adoption of SFAS No. 123R in the same manner as they had been accounted for
prior to adoption. SFAS No. 123R specifically prohibits pro forma disclosures for those awards valued using the minimum value method. The valuation and recognition provisions
of SFAS No. 123R apply to new awards and to awards outstanding as of the adoption date that are subsequently modified. The adoption of SFAS No.123R had a material effect on
our financial position and results of operations. See Note 10 for further information regarding stock-based compensation expense and the assumptions used in estimating that
expense.

Prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 123R, we valued our stock-based awards using the minimum value method and provided pro-forma information regarding stock-based
compensation and net income required by SFAS No. 123. We did not recognize stock-based compensation expense in our statements of operations for option grants to our
employees or directors for the periods prior to our adoption of SFAS No. 123R because the exercise price of options granted was generally equal to the fair market value of the
underlying common stock on the date of grant.

We account for stock compensation arrangements with non-employees in accordance with SFAS No. 123R and EITF Issue No. 96-18, “Accounting for Equity Instruments
That Are Issued to Other Than Employees for Acquiring, or in Conjunction with Selling, Goods or Services”, which require that such equity instruments are recorded at their fair
value on the measurement date. The measurement of stock-based compensation is subject to periodic adjustment as the underlying equity instruments vest. Non-employee stock-
based compensation charges are amortized over the vesting period on a straight-line basis. For stock options granted to non-employees, the fair value of the stock options is
estimated using a Black-Scholes-Merton valuation model.

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to
differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective taxbases and operating loss and tax credit carryforwards.
Deferred taxassets and liabilities are measured using enacted taxrates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be
recovered or settled. The effect on deferred taxassets and liabilities of a change in taxrates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date. A valuation
allowance is recognized if it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred taxasset will not be recognized.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
Net Income (Loss) per Share

We compute net income (loss) per share in accordance with SFAS No. 128, “Eamings per Share” which requires presentation of both basic and diluted eamings (loss) per
share (“EPS”).

Basic EPS is computed by dividing net income (loss) available to common shareholders (numerator) by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding
(denominator) during the period. Diluted EPS gives effect to all dilutive potential common shares outstanding during the period including stock options and stock warrants, using
the treasury stock method, and convertible preferred stock, using the if-converted method. In computing diluted EPS, the average stock price for the period is used in determining
the number of shares assumed to be purchased fromthe exercise of stock options or warrants. Potentially dilutive common share equivalents are excluded fromthe diluted EPS
computation in net loss periods as their effect would be anti-dilutive. There is no difference between basic and diluted net loss per share for all periods presented due to the
Company’s net losses.

The following outstanding preferred stock, stock options and stock warrants were excluded fromthe diluted EPS computation as their effect would have been anti-dilutive:

Year Ended December 31,
(in_thousands)
2005 2006 2007

Convertible preferred stock

8,744 9,614 —
Stock options

1,782 2,401 2,896
Stock warrants

1,328 — 350

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements”. SFAS No. 157 establishes a framework for measuring the fair value of assets and liabilities.
This framework is intended to provide increased consistency in how fair value determinations are made under various existing accounting standards which permit, or in some cases
require, estimates of fair market value. SFAS No. 157 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, and interim periods within those fiscal years. Earlier application
is encouraged, provided that the reporting entity has not yet issued financial statements for that fiscal year, including any financial statements for an interim period within that
fiscal year. We are currently assessing the impact of SFAS No. 157 on our consolidated financial position and results of operations.

In February, 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159 “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities”. SFAS No. 159 permits entities to choose to measure
many financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value. Unrealized gains and losses on items for which the fair value option has been elected are reported in earnings. SFAS
No. 159 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. We are currently assessing the impact of SFAS No. 159 on our consolidated financial position and results of
operations.

In June 2007, the FASB issued EITF Issue No. 07-3, “Accounting for Nonrefundable Advance Payments for Goods or Services Received for Use in Future Research and
Development Activities”. EITF No. 07-3 requires that nonrefundable advance payments for goods or services that will be used or rendered for future research and development
activities be deferred and capitalized and recognized as an expense as the goods are delivered or the related services are performed. EITF No. 07-3 is effective, on a prospective
basis, for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2007. We are currently assessing the impact of EITF No. 07-3 on our consolidated financial position and results of operations.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

NOTE 3. SHORT-TERM INVES TMENTS
Short-term investments at December 31, 2006 and 2007 consisted of the following:

(in_thousands)

Corporate bonds

U.S. Agencies

Municipal bonds

Total

(in_thousands)

Corporate bonds

U.S. Agencies

Municipal bonds

Total

Contractual maturities of short-term investments as of December 31, 2007 were as follows:

(in_thousands)

Due in one year or less

Due after ten years

Total

INC.

December 31, 2006

Gross Gross
Unrealizd Unrealized
Amortizd Cost Gains Losses Market Value
$ 3,778 $ 8 § — $ 3,786
2,193 4 — 2,197
200 — — 200
$ 6,171 $ 12 $ — $ 6,183
December 31, 2007
Gross Gross
Unrealizd Unrealizd

Amortized Cost Gains Losses Market Value
$ 5302 $ — $ @ $ 5358
5,553 1 — 5,554
500 — — 500
$ 11415 $ 1 $ @ $ 11412

December 31, 2007

Amortized Cost

9,915

1,500

11,415

Market Value
$ 9912

1,500
$ 11412

During the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006, we recognized a net realized loss of $12,000 and $20,000, respectively. We did not recognize any realized gains or losses
for the year ended December 31, 2007. For the cumulative period from July 1, 2002 (date of development stage inception) to December 31, 2007, we recognized a net realized loss of

$32,000.

NOTE4. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment consisted of the following:

(in_thousands)

Office and laboratory equipment

Furniture and fixtures

Software

Leasehold improvements

December 31,

2006

$ 550

88

31

2007

$1,243

96

72

73



705 1,484

Total property and equipment, cost
(151) (334)

Less: accumulated depreciation
$1,150

w»
A
s

Total property and equipment, net
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

Depreciation expense was $48,000, $74,000 and $183,000 for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007, respectively and $400,000 for the cumulative period from
July 1, 2002 (date of development stage inception) to December 31, 2007.

NOTES. ACCRUED LIABILITIES

Accrued liabilities consisted of the following:

December 31,

(in_thousands)
2006 2007

Research and development
$ 225 $ 178

Employee payroll and benefits

119 688
Professional fees
143 197
Other
34 78
Total accrued liabilities

$520 § 1141

NOTE 6. CAPITAL LEASE OBLIGATION

During the first quarter of 2007, we commenced a lease for a portion of our laboratory equipment. This arrangement is being accounted for as a capital lease. Assets under
capital leases that are included in property and equipment are as follows:

(in_thousands) December 31,
2007

Office and laboratory equipment

$ 166

Less: accumulated depreciation
19

Capital lease assets, net

$ 147
Future minimum lease payments under capital leases were as follows at December 31, 2007:
(in_thousands) Lease

Commitment
Year ending December 31:
2008

$ 45
2009

45
2010
7
Total minimum lease payments
97
Less: amount representing interest
an

Present value of minimum lease payments

$ 86

NOTE7. EQUIPMENT LOAN

During April 2007, we entered into a master security agreement to establish a $1.0 million equipment loan facility with a financial institution. The purpose of this loan is to
finance equipment purchases, principally in the build-out of our laboratory facilities. Borrowings under the loan are secured by eligible equipment purchased
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

from January 2006 through April 2008 and will be repaid over 40 months at an interest rate equal to the greater of 5.94% over the three year Treasury rate in effect at the time of
funding or 10.45%. There are no loan covenants specified in the agreement.

As of December 31, 2007, we had an outstanding equipment loan balance of $716,000 carrying a weighted-average interest rate of 10.57%. At December 31, 2007, there was
$206,000 available for borrowing under this equipment loan facility.

Future minimum loan payments under equipment loans were as follows at December 31, 2007:

(in_thousands) Loan
Commitment
Year ending December 31:
2008
$ 284
2009
281
2010
237
2011
35

Total minimum loan payments

837
Less: amount representing interest
(121)
Present value of minimum loan payments
$ 716

NOTES8. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Operating Leases

We lease laboratory facilities and office space under operating leases which expire at various dates through 2013. Rent expense was $270,000, $317,000 and $526,000 for the
years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007, respectively, and $1,321,000 for the cumulative period fromJuly 1, 2002 (date of development stage inception) to December 31, 2007.

The future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases were as follows as of December 31, 2007:

(in_thousands) Lease
Commitment
Year ending December 31:
2008
$ 779
2009
824
2010
510
2011
531
2012
333
2013
144

Total lease commitment
$ 3121

Legal Matters

Fromtime to time, we may be involved in various legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business. There are no matters at December 31, 2007 that, in the opinion
of management, would have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.



F-16



Table of Contents

NOVABAY PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
(a development stage company)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

NOTEY. STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Preferred Stock

In 2002 and 2003, we issued 3.2 million shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock for net proceeds of $647,000. In 2003 and 2004, we issued 6.9 million shares of Series B
Convertible Preferred Stock for net proceeds of $3.0 million. In 2004 and 2005, we issued 6.7 million shares of Series C Convertible Preferred Stock for net proceeds of $5.4 million. In
2005 and 2006, we issued 2.5 million shares of Series D Convertible Preferred Stock for net proceeds of $3.6 million. All outstanding shares of convertible preferred stock
automatically converted into 9.6 million shares of common stock upon the closing of our IPO in October 2007.

In connection with the IPO, the Company amended its articles of incorporation to provide for the issuance of up to 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock in such series and
with such rights and preferences as may be approved by the board of directors. As of December 31, 2007, there were no shares of preferred stock outstanding.

Common Stock

Under our amended articles of incorporation and bylaws, we are authorized to issue 65,000,000 shares of $0.01 par value common stock. Each holder of common stock has
the right to one vote but does not have cumulative voting rights. Shares of common stock are not subject to any redemption or sinking fund provisions, nor do they have any
preemptive, subscription or conversion rights. Holders of common stock are entitled to receive dividends whenever funds are legally available and when declared by the board of
directors, subject to the prior rights of holders of all classes of stock outstanding having priority rights as to dividends. No dividends have been declared or paid as of
December 31, 2007.

In August 2007, we filed an amendment to our articles of incorporation to effect a 1-for-2 reverse stock split of our common stock. All share and per share amounts relating
to the common stock, stock options and warrants and the conversion ratios of preferred stock included in the financial statements and footnotes have been restated to reflect the
reverse stock split.

In October 2007, we conmpleted an initial public offering of our common stock in which we sold and issued 5,000,000 shares of our common stock at a price to the public of
$4.00 per share. We raised a total of $20.0 million from the IPO, or approximately $17.1 million in net cash proceeds after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions of $1.4
million and other offering costs of $1.5 million.

Stock Warrants
Stock warrants to acquire shares of common stock were issued in connection with the sales of the Series A and Series B Convertible Preferred Stock and the convertible
notes. Additionally, in October 2007, warrants were issued to the underwriters in connection with the IPO. The significant terms of the Series A, Series B, Note, and Underwriter
warrants were as follows:
Series A Warrants—The warrants issued with the sale of Series A were issued on the basis 0f 0.20 of a warrant for every share of Series A purchased. The exercise
price of these warrants was $1.20. We extended a limited-time offer to holders of the warrants to exercise themat a price of $0.80. The warrants expired on July 1, 2005,
except for later purchases for which the expiration date was extended to July 1, 2006.
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Series B Warrants—The warrants issued with the sale of Series B were issued on the basis of 0.175 of a warrant for every share of Series B purchased. The exercise
price of these warrants was $0.80. The warrants expired on June 30, 2006.

Note Warrants—Stock warrants were granted in connection with promissory notes issued to certain of our shareholders in 2002 and 2003. The warrants issued to
these shareholders had an exercise price of $1.20. The warrants expired on June 30, 2006.

Underwriter Warrants—In connection with the IPO, we issued warrants to the underwriters to purchase an aggregate of 350,000 shares of common stock at an
exercise price of $4.00 per share. The warrants are exercisable on or after October 31, 2008 and expire on October 31, 2010. The warrants were valued at approximately
$524,000 using the Black-Scholes-Merton option-pricing model based upon the following assumptions: (1) expected price volatility of 50.0%, (2) a risk-free interest
rate of 3.94% and (3) a contractual life of 3 years. We accounted for the fair value of the Underwriter Warrants as an expense of the IPO resulting in a charge to
stockholders’ equity.

At December 31, 2007, there were 350,000 warrants outstanding at a weighted-average exercise price of $4.00 per share. None of the warrants were exercisable at
December 31, 2007.

NOTE10. EQUITY-BASED COMPENSATION
Equity Compensation Plans

Prior to the IPO, we had two equity plans in place: the 2002 Stock Option Plan and the 2005 Stock Option Plan. Upon the closing of the IPO in October 2007, we adopted the
2007 Ommibus Incentive Plan (the “2007 Plan”) to provide for the granting of stock awards, such as stock options, unrestricted and restricted common stock, stock units, dividend
equivalent rights, and stock appreciation rights to employees, directors and outside consultants as determined by the Board of Directors. In conjunction with the adoption of the
2007 Plan, no further option awards may be granted fromthe 2002 or 2005 Stock Option Plans and any option cancellations or expirations fromthe 2002 or 2005 Stock Option Plans
may not be reissued. At the inception of the 2007 Plan, 2,000,000 shares were reserved for issuance under the Plan. As of December 31, 2007, there were 1,399,000 shares available
for future grants under the 2007 Plan.

Under the terms of the 2007 Plan, the exercise price of incentive stock options may not be less than 100% of the fair market value of the common stock on the date of grant
and the exercise price of non-statutory stock options may be not less than 85% of the fair market value on the date of grant. Stock options granted under the 2007 Plan expire no
later than ten years fromthe date of grant. Stock options granted to employees generally vest over four years while options granted to directors and consultants typically vest over
a shorter period, subject to continued service. All of the options granted prior to October 2007 include early exercise provisions that allow for full exercise of the option prior to the
option vesting, subject to certain repurchase provisions. We issue new shares to satisfy option exercises under the plans.
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Stock Option Summary

The following table summarizes information about our stock options outstanding at December 31, 2007 and activity during the year then ended:

(in_th ds, except per share data)

Outstanding at December 31, 2006

Options granted

Options exercised

Options forfeited/cancelled

Outstanding at December 31, 2007

Vested and expected to vest at December 31, 2007

Vested at December 31, 2007

Exercisable at December 31, 2007

‘Weighted
‘Weighted Average
Average Remaining Aggregate
Exercise Contractual Intrinsic
Options Price Life (yrs) Value
2,401 $ 083
814 $ 331
(298) $ 038
(03] $ 152
2,896 $ 157 7.31 $ 6,386
2,753 $§ 151 7.21 $ 6,246
1,926 $ 0.9 6.27 $ 5528
2,320 $ 104 6.66 $ 6,305

The aggregate intrinsic value is calculated as the difference between the exercise price of the underlying stock option awards and the closing market price of our common
stock as quoted on the American Stock Exchange as of December 31, 2007. We received cash payments in the amount of $12,000, $23,000 and $114,000 for the exercise of stock
options during the years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007, respectively. The aggregate intrinsic value of stock option awards exercised was $16,000, $126,000 and $571,000
for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007, respectively, as determined at the date of option exercise.

The options outstanding and vested by exercise price at December 31, 2007 were as follows (number of options in thousands):

Range of
Exercise Prices

$0.20

$0.30

$0.56

$0.94 - $1.20

$1.70 - $1.87

$2.00- $2.28

$3.56 - $4.00

Options Outstandi

Options Vested

Weighted
Average Weighted Weighted
Remaining Average Average
Number Contractual Exercise Number Exercise
Outstanding Life (yrs) Price Vested Price
544 4.15 $ 020 544 $ 020
337 5.92 $ 030 337 $ 030
211 6.45 $ 056 204 $§ 056
305 6.79 $ 115 199 § 113
652 8.15 $ 170 550 $ 1.70
257 9.00 $ 224 78 $ 223
590 9.91 $ 370 14 $ 400
2,896 7.31 $ 157 1,926 § 089
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Stock Option Awards to Employees and Directors

We grant options to purchase common stock to some of our employees and directors at prices equal to or greater than the market value of the stock on the dates the options
are granted. We have estimated the value of certain stock option awards as of the date of the grant by applying the Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing valuation model using the
single-option valuation approach. The application of this valuation model involves assumptions that are judgmental and subjective in nature. See Note 2 for a description of the
accounting policies that we applied to value our stock-based awards.

The weighted average assumptions used in determining the value of options granted and a summary of the methodology applied to develop each assumption are as follows:

Year Ended December 31

Assumption
2005 2006 2007
Expected price volatility
0.0% 74.0% 68.9%
Expected term (in years)
10.0 57 6.0
Risk-free interest rate
4.2% 4.8% 4.1%
Dividend yield
0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Weighted-average fair value of options granted during the period
$ 022 $ 106 $ 217

Expected Price Volatility—This is a measure of the amount by which the stock price has fluctuated or is expected to fluctuate. Prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 123R, we
assumed 0% price volatility in accordance with the minimum value method requirements of SFAS No. 123. Under SFAS No. 123R, which we adopted on January 1, 2006, the
computation of expected volatility was based on the historical volatility of comparable companies froma representative peer group selected based on industry and market
capitalization data. An increase in the expected price volatility will increase the value of the option granted and the related compensation expense.

Expected Term—This is the period of time over which the options granted are expected to remain outstanding. Because there is insufficient historical information available
to estimate the expected termof'the stock-based awards, we adopted the simplified method for estimating the expected term pursuant to SAB No. 107. On this basis, we estimated
the expected term of options granted by taking the average of the vesting termand the contractual term of the option. An increase in the expected life will increase the value of the
option granted and the related compensation expense.

Risk-Free Interest Rate—This is the U.S. Treasury rate for the week of the grant having a term approximating the expected life of the option. An increase in the risk-free
interest rate will increase the value of the option granted and the related compensation expense.

Dividend Yield—We have not made any dividend payments nor do we have plans to pay dividends in the foreseeable future. An increase in the dividend yield will decrease
the value of the option granted and the related compensation expense.

Under SFAS No. 123R, forfeitures are estimated at the time of grant and reduce compensation expense ratably over the vesting period. This estimate is adjusted periodically
based on the extent to which actual forfeitures differ, or are expected to differ, fromthe previous estimate. For the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2007, we applied an estimated
forfeiture rate of 5% to employee grants and 0% to director grants. For the year ended December 31, 2005, we accounted for forfeitures as they occurred.
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For the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2007, we recognized stock-based compensation expense of $313,000 and $399,000, respectively, for option awards to employees
and directors. As of December 31, 2007, total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested stock options granted or modified on or after January 1, 2006 was $1.5 million.
This amount is expected to be recognized as stock-based compensation expense in our statements of operations over the remaining weighted average vesting period of 3.28 years.

Common Stock Awards to Directors

In connection with the close of the IPO in October 2007, we adopted a new plan to compensate the independent members of the Board of Directors for their services. Under
the terms of the Director Compensation Plan, each independent member is entitled to a combination of cash and unrestricted common stock for each board and committee meeting
attended, up to specified annual maximums. In accordance with these provisions, we issued 7,831 shares of common stock to independent directors during the year ended
December 31, 2007. These shares were issued out of the 2007 Plan. The fair market value of the stock issued to directors was recorded as an operating expense in the period in
which the meeting occurred, resulting in total compensation expense of $29,000 for common stock awards to directors during the year ended December 31, 2007.

Summary of Stock-Based Compensation Expense Under SFAS No. 123R

Upon the adoption of SFAS No. 123R on January 1, 2006, we began recognizing stock-based compensation expense in the statements of operations for all employee and
director equity awards granted or modified on or after the adoption date. Stock-based compensation expense is classified in the statements of operations in the same expense line
items as cash compensation. Since we continue to operate at a net loss, we do not expect to realize any current tax benefits related to stock options.

A summary of the stock-based compensation expense included in results of operations for the option and stock awards to employees and directors discussed above is as
follows:

Year Ended December 31,
(in_thousands)
2006 2007

Research and development

$ 227 $ 206
General and administrative

86 222

Total stock-based compensation expense

$ 313 $ 428

Stock-Based Awards to Non-Employees

During the years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007, we granted options to purchase an aggregate of 175,000, 58,000 and 69,000 shares of common stock, respectively,
to non-employees in exchange for advisory and consulting services. The stock options are recorded at their fair value on the measurement date and recognized over the respective
service or vesting period. The fair value of the stock options granted was calculated using the Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing model based upon the following assumptions:

Year Ended December 31,
Assumption
2005 2006 2007

Expected price volatility

0.0% 74.0% 71.0%
Expected term (in years)

10.0 53 53

Risk-free interest rate

4.2% 4.4% 4.7%
Dividend yield

0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
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Stock-based compensation expense recognized for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007 related to non-employee option grants was $55,000, $49,000 and
$118,000, respectively.

We also granted 20,000, 3,000 and 38,289 shares of unrestricted common stock to non-employees during the years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007, respectively.
The fair market value of the stock issued to non-employees was recorded as an expense, resulting in total compensation expense of $16,000, $5,000 and $92,000 for common stock
awards to non-employees during the years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007, respectively.

NOTE 11. COLLABORATION AND LICENSE AGREEMENTS
Alcon Manufacturing, Ltd.

In August 2006, we entered into a collaboration and license agreement with Alcon Manufacturing, Ltd. (“Alcon”) to license to Alcon the exclusive rights to develop,
manufacture and commercialize products incorporating the Aganocide compounds for application in connection with the eye, ear and sinus and for use in contact lens solution.
Under the terms of the agreement, Alcon agreed to pay an up-front, non-refundable, non-creditable technology access fee of $10.0 million upon the effective date of the agreement.
This up-front fee was recorded as deferred revenue and is being amortized into revenue on a straight-line basis over the four-year funding term of the agreement, through August
2010. Additionally, we will receive semi-annual payments to support on-going research and development activities over the four year funding term of the agreement. The research
and development support payments include amounts to fund a specified number of personnel engaged in collaboration activities and to reimburse for qualified equipment, materials
and contract study costs. Our obligation to performresearch and development activities under the agreement expires at the end of the four year funding term. As product
candidates are developed and proceed through clinical trials and approval, we will receive milestone payments. If the products are commercialized, we will also receive royalties on
any sales of products containing the Aganocide compound. Alcon has the right to terminate the agreement in its entirety upon nine months’ notice, or terminate portions of the
agreement upon 135 days’ notice, subject to certain provisions. Both parties have the right to terminate the agreement for breach upon 60 days’ notice.

For the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2007, we recognized revenue of $0.8 million and $2.5 million, respectively, for amortization of the upfront technology access fee.
We also recognized $0.7 million and $2.7 million, respectively, for the on-going research and development activities performed during the 2006 and 2007 periods. During the year
ended December 31, 2007, we recognized $0.6 million for materials, equipment and contract study costs which have been or will be reimbursed by Alcon. In total, we recognized
revenue of $1.5 million and $5.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2007, respectively, in connection with the Alcon collaboration and license agreement. At
December 31, 2007, we had a deferred revenue balance of $7.4 million related to the Alcon agreement which was comprised of $6.7 million for the upfront technology access fee and
$0.7 million for other prepaid reimbursements. As of December 31, 2007, we had not earned or received any milestone or royalty payments under the Alcon agreement.

KCI International VOF GP

In June 2007, we entered into a license agreement with an affiliate of Kinetic Concepts, Inc. (“KCI”’), under which we granted KCI the exclusive rights to develop,
manufacture and commercialize NVC-101, or NeutroPhase, as well as other products containing hypochlorous acid as the principal active ingredient, worldwide for use in wound
care in humans, other than products or uses intended for the eye, ear or nose. Under the terms of the agreement, KCI paid to us a non-refundable technology access fee of
$200,000. The up-front
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technology access fee was recorded as deferred revenue and is being amortized into revenue on a straight-line basis over the 18-month performance obligation period, through
December 2008. Under the agreement, we are also entitled to receive reimbursements for qualified consulting, materials and contract study costs. In addition, we are entitled to
receive payments of up to $1.25 million if certain milestones are met. If products covered by the license are commercially launched, we will also receive royalty payments based on
net revenues fromsales by KCI of such products. KCI has the right to terminate the agreement without penalty upon 60 days’ notice. We have the right to terminate the agreement
if KCI has not commercially launched a product incorporating NVC-101, or any other product containing hypochlorous acid, within 18 months ofthe date of the agreement. Both
parties have the right to terminate the agreement for breach upon 60 days’ notice.

For the year ended December 31, 2007, we recognized revenue of $72,000 for amortization of the upfront technology access fee and $29,000 for consulting and materials
costs which have been or will be reimbursed by KCI. In total, we recognized revenue of $101,000 for the year ended December 31, 2007, in connection with the KCI agreement. At
December 31, 2007, $9,000 of reimbursable expenses were recorded as a receivable and included in prepaid expenses and other current assets on our balance sheet. We had a
deferred revenue balance of $128,000 at December 31, 2007 related to the KCI agreement, which consisted of the remaining amount to be amortized for the upfront technology
access fee. As of December 31, 2007, we had not earned or received any milestone or royalty payments under the KCI agreement.

NOTE12. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLAN
We have a 401(k) plan covering all eligible employees. We are not required to contribute to the plan and have made no contributions through December 31, 2007.

NOTE13. INCOME TAXES

The provision for income tax expense consists of the following.

Year Ended December 31,

(in_thousands)
2005 2006 2007

Current:

Federal

State

Total current

Deferred:

Federal

State

Total deferred

Provision for income taxes

&
|
&L
|
&+

12

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of (a) temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
amounts used for income tax purposes, and (b) operating losses and tax credit carryforwards.
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The effective taxrate of our provision for income taxes differs fromthe federal statutory rate as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
(in_thousands)
2005 2006 2007
Federal tax at statutory rate
$ (1,177) $ (1,743) $ (1,832)
State taxes net of federal benefit
(201) 297) 274)
ISO-related expense for GAAP
— 81
Change in valuation allowance
1,347 2,111 1,997
Other
31 (71) 40
Actual provision for income taxes
$ — $ $ 12

The tax effects of the deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

December 31,

(in_thousands)
2006
Deferred tax assets:
Net operating losses
$ 2,550
Deferred revenue
2,655
Accruals
22
Stock options
Other
12
Total deferred tax assets
5,239
Deferred tax liabilities :
Depreciation
(30
Total deferred tax liabilities
(30)
Valuation allowance
(5,209
Net deferred taxes
$

2007

$ 4,040

2,655

264

310

25

7,294

)

)

(7,206)

$

SFAS No. 109 requires that the tax benefit of net operating losses, temporary differences and credit carryforwards be recorded as an asset to the extent that management
assesses that realization is “more likely than not”. Realization of the future tax benefits is dependent on our ability to generate sufficient taxable income within the carryforward
period. Because of our recent history of operating losses, we believe that sufficient uncertainty exists regarding the future realization of deferred tax assets. Accordingly, the net

deferred taxassets have been fully offset by a valuation allowance. The valuation allowance increased by $1.3 million, $2.1 million and $2.0 million during the years ended

December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007, respectively.

As of December 31, 2007 we had net operating loss carryforwards for both federal and state income tax purposes of $10.1 million. If not utilized, the federal and state net
operating loss carryforwards will begin expiring at various dates between 2014 and 2027. Current federal and California tax laws include substantial restrictions on the utilization of



net operating loss carryforwards in the event of an ownership change of a corporation. Accordingly, our ability to utilize net operating loss carryforwards may be limited as a result
of'such ownership changes. Such a limitation could result in the expiration of carryforwards before they are utilized.

We track the portion of our federal and state net operating loss carryforwards attributable to stock option benefits in a separate memo account pursuant to SFAS No. 123R.
Therefore, these amounts are not included in
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gross or net deferred taxassets. Pursuant to SFAS No. 123R, the benefit of these net operating loss carryforwards will only be recorded to equity when they reduce cash taxes
payable. We elected to use the “with-and-without” approach for utilizing the taxbenefits of stock option exercises under SFAS No. 123R. These benefits would result in a credit to
additional paid-in-capital when they reduce income taxes payable.

Uncertain Income Tax Positions

In July 2006, the FASB released Interpretation No. 48 “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes” (“FIN 48”). FIN 48 prescribes the minimumrecognition threshold a tax
position is required to meet before being recognized in the financial statements. FIN 48 also requires additional disclosure of the beginning and ending unrecognized tax benefits
and details regarding the uncertainties that may cause the unrecognized benefits to increase or decrease within a twelve month period.

We adopted the provisions of FIN 48 on January 1, 2007. There was no impact on our consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows as a result of
adoption. We have no unrecognized tax benefit as of December 31, 2007, including no accrued amounts for interest and penalties. Our policy will be to recognize interest and
penalties related to income taxes as a component of income tax expense. We are subject to income tax examinations for U.S. incomes taxes and state income taxes from 2002 forward.
We do not anticipate that total unrecognized tax benefits will significantly change prior to December 31, 2008.

NOTE 14. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Equipment Financing

In January 2008, we borrowed $203,000 under our equipment loan facility. This amount will be repaid over 40 months through May 2011 at an interest rate of 10.45%. Upon
the close of this funding, there was $3,000 available for borrowing under the equipment loan facility.

Amendment to Financial Advisory and Investor Relations Consulting Agreement

In March 2008, we amended the Financial Advisory and Investor Relations Consulting Agreement dated February 13, 2007 with PM Holdings Ltd. Under the terms of the
original agreement, we agreed to pay PM Holdings $28,000 per month through February 2010 for financial and investor relations advisory services. The amendment to this
agreement eliminates the monthly cash payment obligation and instead provides for a one-time, upfront cash payment of $264,000 and the issuance of warrants to purchase 300,000
common shares at an exercise price of $4.00 per share. Under the amended agreement, no further cash or equity amounts are payable during the duration of the agreement through
February 2010. We expect to pay the upfront cash amount and issue the warrants during April 2008.
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Exhibit 10.18
EXECUTIVE EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

THIS EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is made and entered into as of January 9, 2008 by and between NovaBay Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“Company”) and
Thomas J. Paulson (“Executive”).

RECITAL
The Company and Executive desire to formalize and reflect Executive’s employment under the terms and conditions of this Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing recital, the mutual covenants herein contained and for other good and valuable consideration, the parties hereto
hereby agree as follows:

L EMPLOYMENT.

A. Position and Responsibilities. The Company hereby employs the Executive as its Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”). Executive shall do and performall such services and
acts as necessary or advisable to fulfill the duties and obligations of said position and/or such other and/or additional responsibilities as reasonably delegated to Executive by
Executive’s superior and/or the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) typically performed by a CFO consistent with the Company’s Bylaws.

B. Term Executive’s employment with the Company is at-will and shall be governed by the terms of this Agreement, commencing on January 9, 2008 and continuing to and
including December 31, 2011, unless this Agreement is terminated at some earlier time in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

C. Devotion. Except as heretofore or hereafter excepted by the Company in writing, during the term of this Agreement, Executive (i) shall devote full time and attention to the
foregoing responsibilities, (i) shall not engage in any other business or other activity which may materially interfere with Executive’s performance of said responsibilities, and
(iii) except as to any investment made in a publicly traded entity not amounting to more than 1% of its outstanding equity, shall not, directly or indirectly, as an employee,
consultant, partner, principal, director or in any other capacity, engage or participate in any business that is in competition with the Company.

D. Services’ Uniqueness. It is agreed that Executive’s services to be performed under this Agreement are special, unique and extraordinary and give rise to peculiar value,
the
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loss of which may not be reasonably or adequately compensated by a damages award, in any legal action. Accordingly, in addition to any other rights or remedies available to the
Company, the Company shall be entitled to injunctive and other equitable relief to prevent or remedy a breach of the terms of this Agreement by Executive.

1L PROPRIETARY RIGHTS, CONFIDENTIAL INFORMA TION, NONSOLICITATION, ETC.

Executive has executed an agreement relating to the treatment of (and Executive’s obligations as to) proprietary rights, confidential information, and certain non-solicitation
and other matters. It is further understood and agreed that said agreement is deemed to continue in full force and effect, binding and not affected, in any manner, by the terms in
this Agreement.

.  COMPENSATION AND BENEFITS.

Executive’s compensation and bonus rights are as follow:

A. Salary. Executive shall be entitled to an annual salary of $250,000(subject to such deductions, withholding and other charges as required by law), payable in accordance
with the Company’s standard payroll schedule. Executive’s salary shall be subject to at least an annual review by the Company and may be adjusted by action of the Board, based
on your performance, the financial performance of the Company and the compensation paid to a CFO (in comparable positions). Such adjustment shall not reduce your then current
annual base salary unless you provide written consent.

B. Bonus. The Executive shall be eligible for any bonus plan that is deemed appropriate by the Board of Directors of the Company.

1. Annual Bonus. Executive shall be entitled to such amount of bonus payment, if any, as considered and approved by the Board annually (for each year of services)
during the term of this Agreement, which bonus amount shall be determined by all factors deemed relevant for that purpose by Board and shall include (i) the fulfillment,
during the relevant year, of specific milestones and tasks delegated, for such year, to Executive as set by Executive and the Company’s President and/or the Board, before
the end of the first calendar Quarter (ii) the evaluation of Executive by the Company’s President and/or the Board, (iii) the Company’s financial, product and expected
progress and (iv) other pertinent matters relating to the Company’s business and valuation. The amount of any annual bonus determined with respect to performance during
a calendar year or the Company’s fiscal year, as the case may be, will be paid in full on or before the date that is 2 /2 months following the end of the year for which the
bonus was earned.
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C. Stock Options. The Company will recommend to the Board of Directors to issue to Executive options to purchase 200,000 of the Company’s Common shares (the
“Options”). The Company will make the recommendation to grant these options at the next regularly scheduled meeting of the Board of Directors at an exercise price equivalent to
the Fair Market value on the date of the grant. The Fair Market Value of a Share as of a given date shall be the closing price of one share as reported on the American Stock
Exchange (AMEX) on such date or, if the American Stock Exchange is not open for trading on such date, on the most recent preceding date when it is open for trading.

Twenty-five percent (25%) of the Options or 50,000 will vest on the January 2, 2009 and 6.25% of the Options or 12,500 will vest quarterly thereafter for 12 quarters
commencing on April 2, 2009. The Options are valid for 10 years for so long as the Executive remains an employee of the Company. Executive shall be required to sign
an Option Agreement between Executive and Company and the vesting and exercise of the Options shall be subject to the terms of the Option Agreement and the
applicable Company stock option plan. Notwithstanding the above, the option rights shall become fully exercisable in the event that Company is acquired by an
independent entity by a merger, sale of assets or similar transaction (or series of related transactions), as more fully set forth in the definition of “change of control”
herein other than by the issuance and sale of its stock by Company for capital raising purposes,

D. Other Benefits. Executive shall be entitled to five (5) weeks of said vacation for each calendar year to be taken pursuant to the Company’s vacation benefits policy.
Executive is also entitled to other benefits as (i) are generally available to the Company’s other similar, high level, executives, consisting of such medical, retirement and similar
benefits as are so available and (ii) are deemed special to Executive and approved by the Board.

IV.  TERMINATION.

A. At-Will Employment. It is understood and agreed by the Company and Executive that this Agreement does not contain any promise or representation concerning the
duration of Executive’s employment with the Company. Executive specifically acknowledges that his employment with the Company is at-will and may be altered or terminated by
either Executive or the Company at any time, with or without cause and with or without notice. In addition, that the rate of salary, any bonuses, paid time off, other compensation,
or vesting schedules are stated in units of years or months or weeks does not alter the at-will nature of the employment, and does not mean and should not be interpreted to mean
that Executive is guaranteed employment to the end of any period of time or for any period of time. In the event of conflict between this disclaimer and any other statement, oral or
written, present or future, concerning terms and conditions of employment, the at-will relationship confirmed by this disclaimer shall control. This at-will status cannot be altered
except in a writing signed by Executive and approved by the Board.
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B. Termination of Employment. Although Executive’s employment hereunder shall be deemed “at will,” any termination shall be subject to the following terms:

1. For Cause. In the event that Executive is terminated for cause (as hereinafter defined) after at least 12 months of employment with the Company , Executive shall be
entitled an amount equal to $15,000 which will be paid in a lump sumwithin 60 days of such termination for cause. This amount is in addition to Executive’s eamed wages
through the date his employment with the Company is terminated, his accrued but unused vacation, reimbursements of his outstanding expenses incurred and submitted in
compliance with Company policies and any other portion of his compensation eamned through the termination date.

2. Without Cause. If the Executive had been employed for at least four (4) years and Executive is terminated without cause, as hereinafter defined, Executive shall be
entitled to an amount equal to one (1) year of the rate of salary then being paid to Executive as of the date of such termination plus the amount of the bonus (if any) paid or
payable to Executive relative to services performed by Executive during the previous calendar year. In the event that Executive has less than four years of service with the
Company, Executive shall be entitled to the following:

three (3) months of base salary and bonus for each one full year of employment, plus

[o I

for any partial years, one of the following: (i) one month of base salary and bonus if Executive was employed up to three (3) months of the partial year or
(i) two (2) months of base salary and bonus if Executive was employed for 4 to 11 months of the partial year.

Amounts payable under this Section IV.B.2 shall be paid as follows:

i. If the Executive has accrued twelve months of separation pay, the Executive will be paid in seven installments, the first of which shall be paid on the

183" day after the date of termination and the second to seventh installment shall be paid monthly thereafter. The first installment shall be equivalent to one-
halfto the amount due the Executive and the remaining half shall be paid in six equal monthly installments thereafter.

ii. If the Executive has accrued nine months of separation pay, the Executive will be paid in four installments, the first of which shall be paid on the
183 day after the date of termination.and the second to fourth installments shall
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be paid monthly thereafter. The first installment shall be equivalent to sixmonths or 6/9 of the entire separation pay and the remaining 3/9 shall be paid in
three equal monthly installments thereafter.

iii. If the Executive has accrued eight months of separation pay, the Executive will be paid in three installments, the first of which shall be paid on the
1831 day after the date of termination.and the second to third installments shall be paid monthly thereafter. The first installment shall be equivalent to six
months or 6/8 of the entire separation pay and the remaining 2/8 shall be paid in equal monthly installments thereafter.

iv. If the Executive has accrued seven months of separation pay, the Executive will be paid in two installments as the case maybe, the first of which
shall be paid on the 183" day after the date of termination.and the second installment shall be paid a month thereafter. The first installments shall be
equivalent to sixmonths or 6/7 of the entire separation pay and the remaining 1/7 shall be paid a month thereafter.

v. If the Executive has accrued sixmonths or less of separation pay, the separation pay will be paid in full on the 183/ day after the termination date.

Notwithstanding any provisions to the contrary, if Executive is Terminated Without Cause by the Company and Ron Najafi is no longer the Chief Executive Officer of the Company
at the time of such termination, Executive shall be entitled to an amount equal to one year of the rate of salary then being paid to Executive as of the date of such termination and
bonus.

C. Related Provisions. The following terms, conditions and definitions shall apply to the termination of Executive:

1. “Termination Without Cause.” For purposes of Section IV.B above, a termination without cause shall be deemed to constitute any termination of Executive’s
employment hereunder by the Company, or by Executive, other than a termination for cause as defined below. Notwithstanding any contrary provision herein, it is
understood that a termination without cause also shall include a termination which either:

(a) occurs due to the death of Executive or to any physical or mental Long-Term Disability that would prevent the performance of Executive’s duties under
this Agreement. For the purposes of this Agreement, a “Long-Term Disability” shall mean a long-term disability that after consideration and implementation of
reasonable accommodations (provided that no accommodation that imposes undue hardship on the Company will be
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required), renders or will render Executive unable to performhis essential job functions for a period longer than four consecutive months. The determination of
Executive’s Long-Term Disability shall be made by Executive’s attending physician unless the Board disagrees with such determination, in which case Executive’s
Long-Term Disability shall be determined by a majority of three physicians qualified to practice medicine in the State of the Executive’s residence, one to be selected
by each of the Executive (or his authorized representative) and the Board and the third to be selected by such two designated physicians;

(b) occurs without cause by the Company or for Constructive Termination by Executive, within ninety (90) days prior to a Change of Control or one (1) year
following a Change of Control; or

(c) is a Constructive Termination (as defined below) initiated by Executive.

A “Change in Control” means the occurrence of any of the following events: (i) any sale or exchange of the capital stock by the shareholders of the Company in one
transaction or series of related transactions where more than 50% of the outstanding voting power of the Company is acquired by a person or entity or group of
related persons or entities; or (ii) any reorganization, consolidation or merger of the Company where the outstanding voting securities of the Company immediately
before the transaction represent or are converted into less than fifty percent 50% of the outstanding voting power of the surviving entity (or its parent corporation)
immediately after the transaction; or (iii) the consummation of any transaction or series of related transactions that results in the sale of all or substantially all of the
assets of the Company; or (iv) reverse merger; or (v) any “person” or “group” (as defined in the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”))
becoming the “beneficial owner” (as defined in Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act) directly or indirectly of securities representing more than fifty percent (50%) of
the voting power of the Company then outstanding; or (vi) less than a majority of the current Board of Directors are persons who were either nominated for election
by the current Board of Directors or were elected by the current Board of Directors.

“Constructive Termination” shall mean (i) the assignment or partial assignment of any duties or responsibilities inconsistent in any respect with those customarily
associated with the position or those actually provided this agreement (including status, offices, titles and reporting requirements) to be held by you during your
employment period, or any other action by the Company that results in a diminution or other reduction or any adverse change
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in your position, title, authority, duties or responsibilities; (i) any failure by the Company to comply with any provision of this agreement; (iii) a relocation of your
principal place of employment more than thirty-five (35) miles fromits current location; (iv) any reduction in your base salary or bonus opportunity; (v) a reduction in
the kind or level of your benefits to which you were entitled immediately prior to such reduction; (vi) a material reduction of the facilities and perquisites (including
office space and location) or secretarial and administrative support available to you immediately prior to such reduction; (vii) the assignment of duties that are
substantially inconsistent with your training, education, professional experience and the job for which you were initially hired hereunder; or (viii) the failure of any
successor-in-interest to assume all of the obligations of the Company under this agreement.

2. “Termination For Cause.” Subject to the notice requirement as provided in paragraph E below, for purposes of Section IV.B.2 (and Section IV.C.1) above, a
termination for cause shall be a termination of Executive’s employment hereunder made:

(a) by the Company, if Executive:
(i) materially breaches any material terms of this Agreement which has caused demonstrable injury to the Company
(il) commits willful gross acts of dishonesty, fraud, misrepresentation, or other acts of moral turpitude taken by Executive in connection with
Executive responsibilities as an employee and intended to result in substantial personal enrichment; or

(iii) is convicted of any felony or any crime involving moral turpitude resulting in either case in significant and demonstrable economic harmto the
Company, provided that no act or failure to act shall be considered “willful” under this definition unless you acted, or failed to act, with an absence of good
faith and without a reasonable belief that your action, or failure to act, was in the best interest of the Company;

(b) by Executive, unless such termination by Executive is for Constructive Termination.

D. Company Actions. All relevant determinations to be made by the Company under paragraph C.2(a) above shall be made in the reasonable discretion of the Board (or, if so
delegated by said Board, by a committee of the Board), acting in good faith, and, except as otherwise specified herein, shall be conclusive and binding, but shall be subject to
arbitration in accordance with Section Vbelow. This Agreement is intended to comply with the
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requirements of Internal Revenue Code Section 409A (“Section 409A”") and the Board and the Board committee will interpret its provisions accordingly. Executive understands and
agrees that the Company makes no assurances with respect to the tax consequences arising as a result of this Agreement and the payment of any tax liabilities or related penalties
arising out of this Agreement is solely and exclusively the responsibility of Executive, without any expectation or understanding that the Company will pay or reimburse Executive
for such taxes or other items. Concerning any Section 409A taxes or related penalties the Company will use its best efforts in good faith to reduce or eliminate such tax liabilities or
penalties including but not limited to a delay of such payments the minimum time necessary to avoid tax liabilities or penalties. If any payment is delayed pursuant to this paragraph
on the date of payment the Company shall pay in a lump sumall payments that otherwise would have been paid during the period of the delayed payments.

E. Notice and Remedy. In the event that any reason for termination by the Company under paragraph C.2(a) above, or by Executive under paragraph C.2(b) above, may be
cured by Executive, or the Company, as the case may be, then the Company, or Executive, shall first give a written notice to the other (by mail, or by email, or by fax, to the last
known address of the recipient; said notice being deemed given, if by mail, as of the earlier of four days after mailing or as of the date when actually received, or, if by email or fax,
when sent), specifying the reason for termination and providing a period of 30 days to cure the fault or reason specified. Lacking such cure within said 30 days, or if the notified
party earlier refuses to effect the cure, the termination shall then be deemed effective. If such cure is so made, the termination shall not then be deemed effective, but any later
conduct of a similar nature constituting a reason for termination shall allow the Company, or Executive, as the case may be, the right to cause the termination effectiveness without
need for any further period of time to cure. All communications shall be sent to the address as set forth on the signature page hereof, or to such other address as a party may
designate by ten days’ advance written notice to the other party hereto.

V. ARBITRATION.

A. Arbitration. Any controversy or claimarising out of or relating to this Agreement, or the breach thereof, or any of the rights, benefits or obligations resulting fromits
terms, shall be settled by arbitration in San Francisco, California. . Except for the right of the Company and Executive to seek injunctive relief in court, any controversy, claimor
dispute of any type arising out of or relating to Executive’s employment or the provisions of this Agreement shall be resolved in accordance with this Section V of the Agreement,
regarding resolution of disputes, which will be the sole and exclusive procedure for the resolution of any such disputes. This Agreement shall be enforced in accordance with the
Federal Arbitration Act, the enforcement provisions of which are incorporated by this reference. Matters subject to these provisions include, without limitation, claims or disputes
based on statute, contract, common law and tort and will include, for example, matters pertaining to termination, discrimination, harassment, compensation and benefits. Matters to
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be resolved under these procedures also include claims and disputes arising out of statutes such as the Fair Labor Standards Act, Title VII of the Civil Rights Act, the Age
Discrimination in Employment Act, the California labor code, and the California Fair Employment and Housing Act. Nothing in this provision is intended to restrict Executive from
submitting any matter to an administrative agency with jurisdiction over such matter.

The Executive and the Company agree that any disputes related to or arising out of the Executive’s employment with the Company will be determined by arbitration in
accordance with the then-current JAMS employment arbitration rules and procedures, except as modified herein. The arbitration will be conducted by a sole neutral arbitrator who
has had both training and experience as an arbitrator of general employment and commercial matters and who is, and for at least ten (10) years has been, a partner, a shareholder, or
a member in a law firm. If the Company and Executive cannot agree on an arbitrator, then the arbitrator will be selected by JAMS in accordance with Rule 12 of the JAMS
employment arbitration rules and procedures. Reasonable discovery will be permitted by both parties and the arbitrator may decide any issue as to discovery. The arbitrator may
decide any issue as to whether or as to the extent to which any dispute is subject to arbitration in this Section Vand the arbitrator may award any relief permitted by law. The
arbitrator nust render the award in writing, including an explanation of the reasons for the award. Judgment upon the award may be entered by any court having jurisdiction of the
matter, and the decision of the arbitrator will be final and binding. The parties hereto hereby waive to the fullest extent permitted by law any rights to appeal or to review of such
award by any court. The statute of limitations applicable to the commencement of a lawsuit will apply to the commencement of an arbitration under Section V of this Agreement. At
the request of any party, the arbitrator, attorneys, parties to the arbitration, witnesses, experts, court reporters or other persons present at the arbitration shall agree in writing to
maintain the strict confidentiality of the arbitration proceedings. The arbitrator’s fees and cost of the Arbitration will be paid in full by the Company, unless Executive agrees in
writing to pay some or all of such fees.

B. Fees. Unless otherwise agreed, the prevailing party (if a prevailing party is determined to exist by the arbitrator or judge) will be entitled to its costs and attorneys’ fees,
expert fees incurred in any arbitration or other proceeding relating to the interpretation or enforcement of this Agreement, but not including the arbitrator’s fees and JAMS cost
paid by the Company under Paragraph A.

C. Acknowledgement. EXECUTIVE HAS READ AND UNDERSTANDS THIS SECTION V, WHICH DISCUSSES ARBITRATION. EXECUTIVE UNDERSTANDS THAT BY
SIGNING THIS AGREEMENT, EXECUTIVE AGREES TO SUBMIT ANY CLAIMS ARISING OUT OF, RELATING TO, OR IN CONNECTION WITH THIS AGREEMENT, OR THE
INTERPRETATION, VALIDITY, CONSTRUCTION, PERFORMANCE, BREACH OR TERMINATION THEREOF TO ARBITRATION, AND THAT THE PROVISIONS SET FORTH
IN THIS SECTION V CONSTITUTE A WAIVER OF EXECUTIVE’S RIGHT TO A JURY TRIAL.
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D. No Duty to Mitigate. Executive is under no contractual or legal obligation to mitigate Executive’s damages in order to receive the severance benefits provided in this
Agreement.

VI.  LEGAL ADVICE.

Executive acknowledges that an opportunity has been afforded to Executive to consult with legal counsel with respect to this Agreement and that no individual representing
the Company has given legal advice with respect to this Agreement.

VII.  MISCELLANEOUS AND CONSTRUCTION.

Except as otherwise specifically provided herein, this Agreement:

A. and any benefits or obligations herein may not be assigned or delegated by
Executive (but may be so assigned or delegated by the Company);

B. contains the entire understandings of'the parties as to its subject matter, and replaces and supersedes any existing employment agreement and any and all contrary prior
understandings or agreements;

C. may be amended or modified only by a written amendment or modification signed by the Company and Executive;
D. is made in, and shall be construed under the laws of, the State of California;

E. inures to the benefit of, and is binding upon, the permitted successors, assigns, distributees, personal representatives, heirs and other successors-in-interest to and of the
parties hereto;

F. shall not be interpreted by reference to any of the captions or headings of the paragraphs herein, which captions or headings have been inserted for convenience
purposes only;

G. shall be fully effectuated in accordance with its tenor, effect and purposes by each of the parties hereto by executing such further documents or taking such other actions
as may be reasonably requested by the other party hereto; and

H. shall be interpreted, as to its remaining provisions, to be fully lawful and operative, to the extent reasonably required to fulfill its principal tenor, effect and purposes, in
the event that any provision either is found by any court of competent jurisdiction to be unlawful or inoperative or violates any statutory or legal requirement, and the balance of
the Agreement shall be interpreted as if such provision were so excluded and shall be enforceable in accordance with its terms.
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1. may be executed in more than one counterpart, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.
[signature page to follow]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company and Executive have executed this Agreement as of the day and year first above written.
COMPANY:

NOVABAY PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

By: /s/ Ron Najafi

Narme: Ron Najafi, Ph.D.

Title: President and CEO

Address: 5980 Horton Street, Suite 550
Emeryville, CA 94608

FaxNo.: (510) 740-3629

E-mail: majafi@novabaypharma.com

EXECUTIVE:

/s/ Thomas J. Paulson

THOMAS J. PAULSON

Address: 557 Creedon Circle
Alameda, CA 94502
Telephone No. (510) 543-5601
E-mail: tpaulson@thepaulsongroup.com
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Exhibit 10.19

AMENDMENT NUMBER 1
(the “Amendment”)

TO

Financial Advisory and Investor Relations Consulting Agreement
Dated 13t day of February, 2007
(the “Agreement”)

Between
NovaBay Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“NovaBay”)
And
PM Holdings Ltd. (“PM”)
This Amendment is entered into between NovaBay and PM as of the latest date indicated on the signature pages hereto.
WHEREAS, NovaBay and PM wish to modify the scope of the Agreement; and
WHEREAS, NovaBay and PM wish to modify the payments due under the Agreement;

NOW, THEREFORE, NovaBay and PM hereby agree to amend the Agreement as follows:

1. In Exhibit A, replace Itema) with “a) Assist NovaBay in its investor relations activities in Canada by identifying potential candidates for NovaBay to employ, on an
as needed basis, for the detailed preparation of investor road shows in Canada and for the management of such road shows;”

2. In Exhibit A, replace Itemb) with “b) Advise NovaBay on obtaining value fromits listing on the Toronto Stock Exchange;”
In Exhibit A, add Item “j) Assist NovaBay in the organization of two investor road shows per year in Europe.”
4. Replace Exhibit B in its entirety with Exhibit B attached hereto.

All other provisions of the Agreement remain in force.



The parties have executed this Amendment to be effective as of the latest date indicated below.

NOVABAY PHARMA CEUTICALS, INC.
A California corporation

By: /s/ Thomas Paulson

Name: Thomas Paulson

Its: Chief Financial Officer

Address: 5980 Horton St., Suite 550
Emeryville, CA 94608

Date:  March 12, 2008

PM HOLDINGS LTD.,
A Turks and Caicos company

By: /s/ Patrick Churchill

Name: Patrick Churchill

Its: Director

Address: 3 Place du Folies
Monaco

Date:  March 12, 2008




EXHIBIT B
COMPENSATION

For Financial Advisory and Investor Relations Services for the period from April 1, 2008 to February 12,2010, PM is entitled to receive the following fees:
a) the sum of $264,000;

b) a warrant agreement issued by NovaBay to PM entitling PM to acquire 150,000 shares of Common Stock of NovaBay exercisable at a price of $4.00 per share expiring
April 1, 2010; and

c) a warrant agreement issued by NovaBay to PM entitling PM to acquire 150,000 shares of Common Stock of NovaBay exercisable at a price of $4.00 per share expiring
April 1,2012.

The warrant agreements referenced above shall be substantially in the formattached hereto as AppendixI and shall be issued on April 1, 2008. In connection therewith, PM
acknowledges and agrees that the representations and warranties of PM contained in Section 10 of the warrant agreements (in the formattached as Appendix[) are true and correct

as of the date hereof and that the obligation of NovaBay to execute and deliver the warrant agreements is contingent upon the truth and accuracy of such representations and
warranties on the date of issuance of the warrant agreements.

No further or other payments shall be due, other than as indicated above, for services to be provided under the Agreement. PM acknowledges that all fees and other
payments due for services provided prior to April 1, 2008 have been received in full.

In the event that PM terminates the Agreement, then PM will immediately repay to NovaBay the amount of $28,000 multiplied by the number of whole months remaining from
the date of termination to February 12, 2010.



APPENDIX I
FORM OF WARRANT
NOVABAY PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

COMMON STOCK PURCHASE WARRANT

THIS WARRANT AND THE SECURITIES ISSUABLE HEREUNDER HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE
“ACT”), AND MAY NOT BE SOLD, OFFERED FOR SALE, PLEDGED, HYPOTHECATED OR OTHERWISE TRANSFERRED IN THE ABSENCE OF (I) AN
EFFECTIVE REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER SUCH ACT AND ANYAPPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS, (I) COMPLIANCE WITH THE PROVISIONS
OF REGULATION S PROMULGATED PURSUANT TO THE ACT OR (11I) THE AVAILABILITY OF AN EXEMPTION FROM REGISTRATION UNDER SUCH ACT AND
ANYAPPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS. IN ADDITION, NO HEDGING TRANSACTIONS INVOLVING THESE SECURITIES MAY BE CONDUCTED UNLESS IN
COMPLIANCE WITH THE ACT. ADDITIONAL RESTRICTIONS ON TRANSFER ARE DESCRIBED BELOW AND IN SECTIONS 3 AND 10 HEREOF.

UNLESS PERMITTED UNDER SECURITIES LEGISLATION, THE HOLDER OF THIS WARRANT OR THE SECURITIES ISSUABLE HEREUNDER SHALL NOT
TRADE SUCH SECURITIES BEFORE AUGUST 2, 2008.

Issuance Date: April 1, 2008

THIS COMMON STOCK PURCHASE WARRANT certifies that, for value received, PM Holdings Ltd. (the “Holder”) is entitled, subject to the prior approval of the issuance
and the listing of the Warrant Shares by the American Stock Exchange (or other U.S. stock exchange on which the Warrant Shares are principally traded), upon the terms and
subject to the limitations on exercise and the conditions hereinafter set forth, at any time on or prior to 5:00 p.m. (Eastern Time) on April 1, [2010/ 2012] (the “Termination Date™) but
not thereafter, to subscribe for and purchase fromNovaBay Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a corporation incorporated in the State of California (the “Company”), up to One Hundred Fifty
Thousand (150,000) shares of the Company’s Common Stock, par value $0.01 per share (the “Common Stock™). The purchase price of one share of Common Stock (the “Exercise
Price”) under this Warrant shall be U.S.$4.00, subject to adjustment hereunder. “Warrant” as used herein shall include this Common Stock Purchase Warrant and any warrants
delivered in substitution or exchange therefor as provided herein. “Warrant Shares” refers to the shares of Common Stock (or other securities or property to which Holder is
entitled pursuant to Section 6 or Section 7 hereof) issuable upon the exercise of the purchase rights represented by this Warrant.

1. Exercise of Warrant.

(a) Except as provided above or in Section 2 herein, the purchase rights represented by this Warrant may be exercised in whole or in part, at any time, or fromtime to
time, on or before the Termination Date by delivering this Warrant and the Notice of Exercise formannexed hereto (including the confirmation of certain representations,
warranties and covenants as set forth on paragraph 3 of such Notice of



Exercise) duly completed and executed to the principal executive office of the Company (or such other office or agency of the Company as it may designate by notice in
writing to the registered Holder at the address of such Holder appearing on the books of the Company) and by payment of the Exercise Price of the Warrant Shares thereby
purchased by wire transfer, cash or check. If eligible, the Warrant Shares shall be delivered by the Company to the Holder via the Depository Trust Company’s (“DTC”)
Deposit Withdrawal Agent Commission (“DWAC”) systemvia the DTC instructions provided to the Company in the Notice of Exercise.

(b) If this Warrant shall have been exercised in part, the Company shall, at the time of delivery of the certificate or certificates representing Warrant Shares, deliver to
the Holder a new Warrant evidencing the rights of the Holder to purchase that number of Warrant Shares in respect of which the Holder has not exercised the rights
evidenced by this Warrant, which new Warrant shall in all other respects be identical with this Warrant.

2. No Fractional Shares. This Warrant may not be exercised for fractional shares; and no fractional share of any class or series of the Company’s capital stock shall be issued
upon exercise of the Warrant.

3. No Transfer of Warrants. This Warrant and the rights hereunder are not transferable, in whole or in part.

4. No Rights as Shareholder until Exercise. This Warrant does not entitle the Holder to any voting rights or other rights as a shareholder of the Company prior to the exercise
hereof. Upon the surrender of this Warrant and the payment of the aggregate Exercise Price, the Warrant Shares so purchased shall be and be deemed to be issued to such Holder
as the record owner of such shares as of the close of business on the later of the date of such surrender or payment.

5. Loss, Theft, Destruction or Mutilation of Warrant. The Company covenants that upon receipt by the Company of evidence reasonably satisfactory to it of the loss, theft,
destruction or nutilation of this Warrant, and upon surrender and cancellation of such Warrant, if mutilated, the Company will make and deliver a new Warrant of like tenor and
dated as of such cancellation, in lieu of such Warrant.

6. Adjustments of Exercise Price and Number of Warrant Shares: Stock Splits. Etc. The number and kind of securities purchasable upon the exercise of this Warrant and the
Exercise Price shall be subject to adjustment fromtime to time upon the happening of any of the following. In case the Company shall (a) pay a dividend in shares of Common Stock
or make a distribution in shares of Common Stock or other securities exchangeable for or convertible into shares of Common Stock for no additional consideration to holders of'its
outstanding Common Stock, (b) split or subdivide its outstanding shares of Common Stock into a greater number of shares, (¢) combine its outstanding shares of Common Stock
into a smaller number of shares of Common Stock, or (d) issue any shares of'its capital stock in a reclassification of the Common Stock (any of such events in subsections (a), (b),
(c) and (d) above, a “Share Reorganization™), then the number (and, in the case of a Share Reorganization in
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(d) above, kind) of Warrant Shares purchasable upon exercise of this Warrant shall be deemed to have been adjusted so that the Holder shall be entitled to receive the number (and,
in the case of a Share Reorganization in (d) above, kind) of Warrant Shares equal to the amount of shares of Common Stock or, in the case of a Share Reorganization in (d) above,
other securities of the Company which the Holder would have owned or have been entitled to receive had such Warrant been exercised prior to the record date or effective date, as
applicable, of such Share Reorganization (which includes, in the case of a Share Reorganization in (a) above involving a distribution of securities exchangeable for or convertible
into shares of Common Stock after the date of issuance of this Warrant, the number of shares of Common Stock that would be outstanding had all such securities been so
exchanged or converted). Upon each such adjustment of the number (and, in the case of a Share Reorganization in (d) above, kind) of Warrant Shares which are purchasable
hereunder, the Holder shall thereafter be entitled to purchase the number of Warrant Shares resulting from such adjustment at an Exercise Price per Warrant Share obtained by
multiplying the Exercise Price in effect immediately prior to the earlier of the record date for or the effective date of such Share Reorganization by the number of Warrant Shares
purchasable pursuant hereto immediately prior to such date and dividing by the number of Warrant Shares resulting fromsuch adjustment.

7. Reorganization, Reclassification, Merger, Consolidation or Disposition of Assets. In case the Company shall reorganize its capital, reclassify its capital stock, consolidate
or merge with or into another entity (where the Company is not the surviving entity or where there is a change in or distribution with respect to the Common Stock), or sell, trans fer
or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all its property, assets or business to another entity (each, a “Reorganization’) and, pursuant to the terms of such Reorganization,
shares of common stock of the successor or acquiring entity, or any cash, shares of stock or other securities or property of any nature whatsoever (including warrants or other
subscription or purchase rights) in addition to or in lieu of common stock of the successor or acquiring entity (“Other Property™), are to be received by or distributed to the holders
of Common Stock, then this Warrant shall thereafter represent the right to receive, upon exercise of this Warrant, the number of shares of common stock and/or Other Property as
would have been issuable upon or as a result of such Reorganization with respect to the securities which were subject to the purchase rights under this Warrant immediately prior
to the record date or, if there is no record date, the effective date of such Reorganization and the Exercise Price therefor shall be adjusted to be the amount determined by
multiplying the Exercise Price in effect immediately prior to the Reorganization by the number of Warrant Shares purchasable pursuant hereto immediately prior to the
Reorganization, and dividing the product thereof by the number of shares of common stock and/or Other Property to which the holder of that number of Warrant Shares
purchasable pursuant hereto would have been entitled to by reason of such Reorganization. In case of any such Reorganization, the successor or acquiring entity (if other than the
Company) shall expressly assume the observance and performance of each and every covenant and condition of this Warrant to be performed and observed by the Company and
all the obligations and liabilities hereunder, subject to such modifications as may be deemed appropriate (as determined in good faith by resolution of the Board of Directors of the
Company) in order to provide for adjustments of Warrant Shares for which this Warrant is exercisable which shall be as nearly equivalent as practicable to the adjustments
provided for in this Section 7. For purposes of'this Section 7, “common stock” of a corporation shall include stock of such corporation of any class which is not preferred as to
dividends or assets over any other class of stock of such corporation and



which is not subject to redemption and shall also include any evidences of indebtedness, shares of stock or other securities which are convertible into or exchangeable for any
such stock, either immediately or upon the arrival of a specified date or the happening of a specified event and any warrants or other rights to subscribe for or purchase any such
stock. The foregoing provisions of this Section 7 shall similarly apply to successive Reorganizations.

8. Notice of Adjustment. Whenever the number of Warrant Shares or number or kind of securities or other property purchasable upon the exercise of this Warrant or the
Exercise Price is adjusted, as herein provided, the Company shall give notice thereofto the Holder, which notice shall state the number of Warrant Shares (and/or other securities or
Other Property) purchasable upon the exercise of this Warrant and the Exercise Price of such Warrant Shares (and/or other securities or Other Property) after such adjustment,
setting forth a brief statement of the facts requiring such adjustment and setting forth the computation by which such adjustment was made.

9. Authorized Shares. The Company covenants that during the period the Warrant is outstanding, it will reserve fromits authorized and unissued Common Stock a sufficient
number of shares to provide for the issuance of the Warrant Shares upon the exercise of any purchase rights under this Warrant.

10. Holder Representations and Warranties. Holder represents, warrants and covenants as follows:

(a) Own Account. This Warrant and the Warrant Shares to be issued upon exercise hereof are being acquired by Holder solely for the Holder’s own account and not
as a nominee for any other party, and for investment, and the Holder will not offer, sell, or otherwise dispose of this Warrant or Warrant Shares to be issued upon exercise
hereof except under circumstances that will not result in a violation of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Act”), or any state securities laws. Upon exercise of this
Warrant, the Holder shall, if reasonably requested by the Company, confirmin writing, in a formreasonably satisfactory to the Company, that the Warrant Shares so
purchased are being acquired for investment, solely for the Holder’s own account and not as a nominee for any other party.

(b) Accredited Investor. Holder acknowledges that it is familiar with the definition of “accredited investor” in Rule 501 of Regulation D promulgated under the Act
and certifies that Holder is an accredited investor as defined in such rule.

(c) Unregistered Securities. Holder understands that neither this Warrant nor the Warrant Shares have been registered under the Act, and neither this Warrant nor
the Warrant Shares may be sold, assigned or transferred unless (i) a registration statement under the Act is in effect with respect thereto or (ii) an exemption from
registration is found to be available to the satisfaction of the Company.

(d) Regulation S.
(i) Holder is: (A) a resident of, or organized under the laws of, a country other than the United States, and (B) located, or with its principal place
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of’business, outside the United States. For purposes of this Warrant, the “United States” means the United States of America, its territories and possessions, any
State of the United States, and the District of Columbia.

(ii) Holder hereby certifies that it is not a “U.S. person,” as such termis defined in Rule 902(k), promulgated pursuant to the Act, and is not acquiring the
Warrant or the Warrant Shares for the account or benefit of any U.S. person.

(iii) Holder is not aware of, and has not engaged in or participated in, by or on behalf of the Company, any “directed selling efforts” (as such termis defined in
Rule 902 of Regulation S promulgated under the Act).

(e) Transfers. Holder will not sell, transfer, pledge or otherwise dispose of or encumber the Warrant or the Warrant Shares unless and until (i) such securities are
subsequently registered under the Act and each applicable state securities law; or (i) (A) an exemption fromsuch registration is available thereunder (including pursuant to
Regulation S under the Act), and (B) Holder has notified the Company of the proposed transfer and has furnished the Company with assurances (which may include an
opinion of counsel), satisfactory to the Company, that such transfer will not require registration of such shares under the Act. Holder further agrees not to engage in
hedging transactions with regard to the Warrant or the Warrant Shares unless in compliance with the Act. Holder understands that the Company is not obligated, and does
not intend, to register any such shares under the Act or any state securities laws.

(f) Stop Orders, Etc. Holder acknowledges and agrees that the Company shall refuse to register any transfer of the Warrant or Warrant Shares not made in
accordance with: (i) the provisions of Regulation S; (ii) pursuant to registration under the Act; or (iii) pursuant to an available exemption under the Act. To the extent that
foreign law prevents the Company fromrefusing to register securities transfers, the Company shall be entitled to adopt other reasonable procedures to prevent any transfer
ofthe Warrant or the Warrant Shares not made in accordance with the above. The Company shall be entitled to issue any and all stop transfer orders, or issue any other
orders that are necessary to enforce the terms of this Warrant.

(g) U.S. Legends. Holder acknowledges and agrees that the Warrant Shares acquired upon the exercise of this Warrant, if not registered, will have restrictions upon
resale imposed by state and federal securities laws and that certificates evidencing the Warrant Shares shall bear a restrictive legend, substantially in the following form (in
addition to such other restrictive legends as are required or deemed advisable under the provisions of this Warrant, any applicable law or regulation or any other agreement
to which Holder is a party):

“THE SECURITIES REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE HA VE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE

“ACT”), AND MAY NOT BE SOLD, OFFERED FOR SALE, PLEDGED, HYPOTHECATED OR OTHERWISE
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TRANSFERRED UNLESS (A) THERE IS AN EFFECTIVE REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER THE ACT COVERING SUCH SECURITIES OR (B) SUCH
TRANSFER MAY OTHERWISE BE MADE IN COMPLIANCE WITH THE PROVISIONS OF REGULATION S PROMULGATED PURSUANT TO THE ACT AND, IF
REQUESTED BY THE COMPANY, SUCH COMPLIANCE IS CONFIRMED BY AN OPINION OF COUNSEL OR OTHER ASSURANCES, IN FORM AND
SUBSTANCE SATISFACTORY TO THE COMPANY, OR (C) THE COMPANY RECEIVES AN OPINION OF COUNSEL OR OTHER ASSURANCES,
SATISFACTORY IN FORM AND CONTENT TO THE COMPANY OR ITS COUNSEL, INDICATING THAT SUCH SALE OR TRANSFER IS EXEMPT FROM THE
REGISTRATION AND PROSPECTUS DELIVERY REQUIREMENTS OF THE ACT. IN ADDITION, NO HEDGING TRANSACTIONS INVOLVING THESE
SECURITIES MAY BE CONDUCTED UNLESS IN COMPLIANCE WITH THE ACT.”

(h) Canadian Legends. Any certificate representing shares of Common Stock issued upon the exercise of the Warrants prior to the date which is four months and one
day after the date hereof will bear the following legends:

“UNLESS PERMITTED UNDER SECURITIES LEGISLATION, THE HOLDER OF THE SECURITIES SHALL NOT TRADE THE SECURITIES BEFORE AUGUST 2,
2008.”

“THE SECURITIES REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE ARE LISTED ON THE TORONTO STOCK EXCHANGE (“TSX”); HOWEVER, THE SAID SECURITIES
CANNOT BE TRADED THROUGH THE FACILITIES OF THE TSX SINCE THEY ARE NOT FREELY TRADEABLE AND CONSEQUENTLY ANY CERTIFICATE
REPRESENTING SUCH SECURITIES IS NOT “GOOD DELIVERY” IN SETTLEMENT OF TRANSACTIONS ON THE TSX.”

provided that at any time subsequent to the date which is four months and one day after the date hereof any certificate representing such shares of Common Stock may be
exchanged for a certificate bearing no such legends.

11. Expiration Date. This Warrant shall expire and all rights to purchase Warrant Shares hereunder shall cease and become null and void at 5:00 p.m. (Eastern Time) on
April 1,[2010/ 2012].

12. Miscellaneous.

(a) Governing Law. This Warrant shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the state of California as applied to contracts among California
residents made and to be performed entirely within the state of California, without regard to its conflict of law principles or rules.
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(b) Transfer Taxes. The issuance of the Warrant Shares upon the exercise of this Warrant, and the delivery of certificates or other instruments representing such
Warrant Shares, shall be made without charge to the Holder for any transfer tax or other charge in respect of such issuance.

(c) Notices. Except as otherwise provided herein, any notice or request required or permitted to be given or delivered pursuant to this Warrant shall be given in
writing and shall be deemed effectively given (i) upon personal delivery, (ii) when sent by electronic mail or confirmed facsimile if sent during normal business hours of the
recipient, and if not sent during normal business hours, then on the next business dayi, (iii) five (5) days after having been sent by registered or certified mail, return receipt
requested, postage prepaid, or (iv) one (1) day after deposit with a nationally recognized overnight courier, specifying next day delivery, with written verification of receipt.
All'such notices or requests shall be sent (A) if to the Company, to the attention of the Company’s President at the Company’s principal executive offices and (B) if to the
Holder, to: ATTN: [address], Facsimile No. , e-mail

(d) Successors. Subject to applicable securities laws, this Warrant and the rights and obligations evidenced hereby shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon
the successors of the Company and the successors of Holder.

(e) Amendment. This Warrant may be modified or amended or the provisions hereof waived with the written consent of the Company and the Holder.

(f) Severability. Wherever possible, each provision of this Warrant shall be interpreted in such manner as to be effective and valid under applicable law, but if any
provision of this Warrant shall be prohibited by or invalid under applicable law, such provision shall be ineffective to the extent of such prohibition or invalidity, without
invalidating the remainder of such provisions or the remaining provisions of this Warrant.

(g) Counterparts. This Warrant may be executed in two or more counterparts and via facsimile, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together
shall constitute one and the same instrument.

(h) Headings. The headings used in this Warrant are for the convenience of reference only and shall not, for any purpose, be deemed a part of this Warrant.
[remainder of page intentionally left blank]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused this Warrant to be executed, effective as of the Issuance Date set forth above, by its officer thereunto duly authorized.
NOVABAY PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

By:

Ramin (“Ron”) Najafi, Ph.D.
Chief Executive Officer and President

ACKNOWLEDGED AND AGREED:
PMHOLDINGS LTD.

By:

Name:
Title:




NOTICE OF EXFRCISE

To:  NovaBay Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

(1) The undersigned hereby elects to purchase shares of the Common Stock of NovaBay Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Warrant Shares”) pursuant to the terms of the
Common Stock Purchase Warrant dated April 1, 2008 (which is attached hereto), and tenders herewith payment of the exercise price in full.

(2) Please issue a certificate or certificates representing said Warrant Shares in the name of the undersigned as specified below:

Special Instructions (if any):

Address:

Federal TaxID / Social Security No.:

and deliver the Warrant Shares as follows (check one):
O by certified mail to the above address
O electronically (provide DWAC Instructions: )
O other (specify); )

(3) The representations and warranties of the undersigned contained in Section 10 of the Warrant are true and accurate as of the date hereof, and the undersigned will
comply with all obligations set forth therein.

(4) If the number of Warrant Shares specified above are not all the Warrant Shares purchasable upon exercise of the Warrant, please issue a new Warrant for the balance of
the Warrant Shares purchasable upon exercise of this Warrant registered in the name of the undersigned Holder and delivered to the address indicated above.

Dated:

(Print Name of Holder)

By:

Name:

Title:




Exhibit 10.20

FIFTH AMENDMENT
to
LEASE BETWEEN

EMERY STATION OFFICEII, LLC (LANDLORD)
And
NOVACAL PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. (TENANT)

EMERYSTATION NORTH PROJECT
Emeryville, California

That certain lease dated June 3, 2004, by and between Emery Station Office II, LLC, a California Limited Liability Company, as Landlord (“Landlord”), and NovaBay Pharmaceuticals,
Inc. (formerly Novacal Pharmaceuticals, Inc.), a California Corporation, as Tenant (“Tenant”), a such lease was amended by First Amendment dated June 22, 2004, by Second
Amendment dated July 22, 2004, by Third Amendment dated March 25, 2005, and by Fourth Amendment dated September 30, 2006 (collectively, the “Lease”), is hereby further
amended as outlined below. The effective date of this Fifth Amendment shall be November 20, 2007 (the “Fifth Amendment Effective Date”). Fromand after the Fifth Amendment
Effective Date the Lease and this Fifth Amendment thereto shall be referred to as the “Lease” for all purposes.

L

I

PREMISES:

Tenant has requested to lease from Landlord and Landlord has agreed to lease to Tenant (under the terms enumerated herein) the following additional spaces in the
EmeryStation North building:

Suite 360, presently committed to another tenant, which measures 3,052 rentable square feet. Suite 360 can be used as office space.
Suite 370, presently vacant, which measures 3,701 rentable square feet. Suite 370 can be used as office space.

The above spaces are more specifically described on Exhibit A attached hereto.

COMMENCEMENT DATES:
The lease termand rent applicable to each suite will commence as more fully described below:
Suite 370: The lease termapplicable to Suite 370 will commence December 15, 2007. That date shall be referred to as the “Suite 370 Commencement Date”.

Suite 360: Suite 360 is presently committed to EmeryStation North tenant Amyris Biotechnologies through a date that is no later than 30 days after their new space in
EmeryStation East is completed and ready for occupancy. At present it is estimated that Amyris will have vacated Suite 360 on or before May 31, 2008. Landlord will provide
Tenant with at least fifteen (15) days advance written notice of Amyris” planned vacation date, and the lease term for Tenant on Suite 360 shall commence upon the earlier
of: a) fifteen (15) days after Amyris’ departure, and b) Tenant’s occupancy of Suite 360 (the “Suite 360 Commencement Date™). As detailed in Section 2.3 of the Lease,
Landlord shall not be liable for any delay in being able to deliver the Suite 360 space for any reason including but not limited to Amyris” unauthorized holdover in the space.
Landlord agrees to use commercially-reasonable efforts to cause Amyris to vacate Suite 360 per the terms of its occupancy.
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Failure of Landlord to be able to deliver Suite 360 shall not impact Tenant’s obligation to the lease Suite 370 pursuant to the terms hereof.

EXPIRY DATE:

Tenant shall lease Suites 360 and 370 fromtheir respective Commencement Dates through a date which is five (5) years following the Suite 360 Commencement Date (the
“Suite 360 & 370 Expiry Date”). Landlord and Tenant acknowledge that the Suite 360 & 370 Expiry Date extends beyond the expiry dates for other portions of Tenant’s
Premises.

RENT AND EXPENSES:

Beginning on the respective Commencements Dates for each suite, Tenant shall pay Monthly Base Rent as follows:

Suite 360: $6,165.04 per month, increasing on the first anniversary of the Suite 360 Commencement Date and annually thereafter by three percent (3%).

Suite 370: $7,476.02 per month, increasing on the first anniversary of the Suite 370 Commencement Date and annually thereafter by three percent (3%).

In the event any of the respective Commencement Dates occurs on other than the first day of a calendar month, the Monthly Base Rents shall be pro-rated accordingly.
The first two (2) months of'the lease terms of both Suite 360 and 370 shall be free of any Monthly Base Rent (but not free of Operating Expenses nor Taxes).

The Monthly Base Rent amounts shown above are intended to be fully triple-net of all Operating Expenses and Taxes. As such, there is no Base Year applicable to either
Suite 360 nor to Suite 370 as there is with Tenant’s premises existing in advance of the Fourth Amendment. In addition to Base Monthly Rent for Suites 360 and 370, Tenant
is also obligated to pay Rent Adjustments and Rent Adjustment Deposits beginning on the respective suites’ Commencement Dates per the terms of the Lease, with the
exception that all references to the “Base Year” that appear in the definitions of Rent Adjustment Deposits, Operating Expenses, Taxes and in Lease Sections 1.1(13) and 4.1
do not apply.

PREMISES CONDITION / TENANT IMPROVEMENTS:

Tenant agrees to accept Suites 360 and 370 upon their respective Commencement Dates in their then as-is condition. Landlord will supply Tenant with a Tenant
Improvement Allowance of $86,000 to reimburse Tenant for the demonstrable, third-party costs incurred by Tenant for any fixed improvements Tenant makes to Suites 360
and/or 370. Landlord and Tenant acknowledge that Suite 370 currently has existing FF&E inside of it. Landlord makes no representations regarding the condition, quality nor
efficacy of said FF&E. Tenant may use such FF&E during the termof its lease of Suite 360 at its own risk, free of charge by the Landlord, and nust return said FF&E to
Landlord at the end of the termin good repair, normal wear and tear excepted, upon the Suite 360 & 370 Expiry Date.

PARKING:

Upon the Suite 360 Commencement Date, Tenant shall be entitled to use up to nine (9) additional unreserved parking stalls in the Terraces Garage at Landlord’s quoted
rates. Upon the Suite 370 Commencement Date, Tenant shall be entitled to use up to eleven (11) additional unreserved parking spaces in the Terraces Garage at Landlord’s
quoted rates.
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IX.

SECURITY DEPOSIT:

Upon the Suite 360 Commencement Date, the Security Deposit will be increased by $12,330.08. Upon the Suite 370 Commencement Date, the Security Deposit will be
increased by $14,952.04.

RIGHT OF FIRST OFFER TO LEASE OF SUITE 525 AND TERMINATE SUITES 360 AND 370

In the event the existing occupant of the 6,420 rentable square foot Suite 525 (as such Suite is more particularly described in Exhibit B hereto) has not renewed its lease on or
before May 31, 2008 (or has advised Landlord in advance of that date that it does not intend to do so), Landlord shall grant Tenant a Right of First Offer on Suite 525 per the
terms outlined below:

a) Landlord will give Tenant prompt written notice in the event the existing Tenant of Suite 525 extends its lease thereof on or before May 31, 2008. Suite 525 shall become
“Available Premises” for purposes of this section as soon as either of the following occur: 1) Landlord is formally advised by the existing tenant of Suite 525 that it will not
extend its lease, or 2) it becomes May 31, 2008 and the existing tenant has not extended its lease. Landlord shall provide Tenant with a prompt notice in the event that Suite
525 has become “Available Premises”.

b) For a period of fifteen (15) business days after receipt of Landlord’s notice that Suite 525 is Available Premises (the “Offer Period”), Landlord and Tenant shall negotiate
in good faith concerning the leasing of such Available Premises but neither party shall be obligated to enter into a lease of such space unless the parties mutually agree on
the terms and conditions of such lease. Such lease shall be upon market terms, taking into account, among other criteria: 1) a commencement date for Tenant’s lease of Suite
525 that is no later than 30 days after the expiry of the existing tenant’s lease thereof and the existing tenant’s departure fromsaid suite, 2) the termof Tenant’s lease of Suite
525 shall be five (5) years, 3) Tenant shall accept Suite 525 in its then as-is condition other than being entitled to apply to Suite 525 any then-unused portion of the Tenant
Improvement Allowance provided for Suites 360 and/or 370 in Section V above, 4) the then creditworthiness of Tenant, and 5) the fact that Tenant shall be entitled to
terminate its lease of Suites 360 and 370 concurrently with the commencement of its lease of Suite 525.

¢) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained, herein, all rights of Tenant pursuant to this Section shall automatically terminate without notice and shall be ofno
further force and effect with respect to the then Available Premises, whether or not Tenant has timely exercised the option granted herein, if a Default (as hereinafter defined)
exists at the time of exercise of the option or at the time of commencement of the term for the Available Premises.

d) If Tenant is entitled to and properly exercises its Right of First Offer, Landlord shall prepare an amendment to reflect changes in the Base Rent, Term, Tenant Improvement
Allowance and other appropriate terms. Tenant shall execute and return the amendment to Landlord within ten (10) days after Tenant’s receipt of same.

Tenant represents and warrants that it has represented itself in the above transactions and that no brokerage commission will be due and payable by Landlord as a result
hereof.

Except for those terms outlined above, all other terms and conditions of the Lease shall apply.

Except as modified hereby, the Lease is ratified and confirmed in its entirety.



In witness hereof, the parties have executed this Fourth Amendment as of the date noted below.

TENANT:
NovaBay Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
A California Corporation

By: /s/ Jack O’Reilly

Print Name: Jack O’Reilly

Its: CFO

Dated: 12/4/07

LANDLORD:
Emery Station Office II, LLC
A California Limited Liability Company

By: /s/ lllegible

Print Name:  Illegible

Its: Tllegible

Dated: 12/5/07




EXHIBIT 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the previously filed Registration Statement (File No. 333-147334) on Form S-8 of NovaBay Pharmaceuticals, Inc. of our
report dated February 8, 2008 relating to our audit of the consolidated financial statements, which appear in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of NovaBay Pharmaceuticals, Inc. for
the year ended December 31, 2007.

/s/ Davidson & Company LLP
Chartered Accountants

Vancouver, Canada
March 14, 2008



EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO EXCHANGE ACT
RULE 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a), AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THESARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Ramin (“Ron”) Najafi, certify that:
1. Thave reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of NovaBay Pharmaceuticals, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light
ofthe circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows ofthe registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

(b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(c) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors
and the audit committee of the registrant’s Board of Directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.

Date: March 14, 2008

/s/ Ramin Najafi

Ramin (“Ron”) Najafi

Chief Executive Officer and President
(principal executive officer)




EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO EXCHANGE ACT
RULE 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a), AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THESARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Thomas J. Paulson, certify that:
1. Thave reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of NovaBay Pharmaceuticals, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light
ofthe circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows ofthe registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

(b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(c) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors
and the audit committee of the registrant’s Board of Directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.

Date: March 14, 2008

/s/ Thomas J. Paulson

Thomas J. Paulson

Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
(principal financial and accounting officer)




EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 US.C. §1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THESARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the annual report of NovaBay Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Company’’) on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report™), I, Ramin (“Ron”) Najafi, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 0f2002, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: March 14, 2008

/s/ Ramin Najafi

Ramin (“Ron”) Najafi
Chief Executive Officer and President



EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 US.C. §1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THESARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the annual report of NovaBay Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Company’’) on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report™), I, Thomas J. Paulson, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 0f2002, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: March 14, 2008

/s/ Thomas J. Paulson
Thomas J. Paulson
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer




